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Independent Auditor’s Report

The Shareholders

Emirates NBD Bank (P.).S.C.)
Dubai

United Arab Emirates

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Emirates NBD Bank (P.J.S.C.) (the ‘Bank’) and its subsidiaries (together
the ‘Group’), which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31December 2024, and the consolidated
statement ofincome, consolidated statement of comprehensiveincome, consolidated statement of cash flows and consolidated
statement of changesin equity forthe yearthenended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including material
accounting policyinformation.

Inouropinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, inallmaterial respects, the consolidated financial
position of the Group, asat 31December2024, andits consolidated financial performance and consolidated cash flows for the year
thenendedinaccordance withIFRS Accounting Standards asissued by the International Accounting Standards Board (‘IASB’).

Basis for Opinion

We conducted ourauditinaccordance withInternational Standards on Auditing ('ISAs’). Ourresponsibilitiesunderthose standards
are furtherdescribedin the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of ourreport.
We areindependent of the Groupinaccordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics
forProfessional Accountants (including International Independence Standards) (IESBA Code’) togetherwith the otherethical
requirementsthat arerelevant to ouraudit of the consolidated financial statementsin the United Arab Emirates, and we have fulfilled
ourotherethicalresponsibilitiesinaccordance with theserequirements and the [IESBA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we
have obtainedis sufficientand appropriate to provide abasis for our opinion.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professionaljudgment, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statementsasawhole, andinforming ouropinionthereon,andwe do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
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To the Shareholders of Emirates NBD Bank (P.J.S.C.)

Key Audit Matters continued

Key audit matter

How our auditaddressedthe key audit matter

Loanlossimpairments - Estimationuncertainty withrespect to expected creditlosses forloan and advances to customers

The assessment of the Group’s determination of impairment
allowances forloans and advances to customersrequire
management to make judgements over the staging of financial
assetsand measurement of the Expected Credit Loss (‘ECL).
The audit was focused onthis matter due to the quantitative
significance of theloans and advancesto customers
(representing 50% of total assets) and the complexity of the
judgements, assumptions and estimatesusedin the ECL models.
RefertoNote 6 to the consolidated financial statements for
the materialaccounting policy and Note 45 for the credit risk
disclosure.

The material portion of the non-retail portfolio of loans and
advancesto customersisassessed individually forasignificant
increaseincreditrisk('SICR’) orcreditimpairment and therelated
measurement of ECL. Thisrequires management to capture

all qualitative and quantitative reasonable and supportable
forward-lookinginformationwhile assessing SICR, orwhile
assessing credit-impaired criteria for the exposure. Management
judgementmay also beinvolvedin manual staging movements
inaccordance withthe Group’s policies and the requirements of
IFRS 9 FinancialInstruments ('IFRS 9°).

The measurement of ECLamounts forretailand non-retail
exposures classified as Stage 1and Stage 2 are carried out by
the models with limited manualintervention. Itisimportant
thatmodelsandtheirparameters (Probability of Default (‘PD’),
Loss GivenDefault ('LGD’), Exposure At Default (‘EAD’) and
macroeconomic adjustments) are valid throughout the reporting
periodandare subjectto avalidation/monitoring process by
anindependentreviewer. The Group performedindependent
validation/monitoring of the PD and LGD modelsincluding the
macro-economic modelduring thereporting period, aswell
as anexternalvalidationforsome of the newly implemented
models.

We performed the following audit procedures onthe
computationandreasonableness/appropriateness of the ECL
includedinthe consolidated financial statementsforthe year
ended 31December2024:

We gained anunderstanding of theloan origination process,
creditriskmanagement process and the estimation process of
determiningimpairment allowances forloans and advancesto
customersandtested the operating effectiveness of relevant
controls withinthese processes.

Onasample basis, we selectedindividualloans and performeda
detailed creditreview and challengedthe Group’sidentification
of SICR(Stage 2), the assessment of credit-impaired
classification(Stage 3) and whetherrelevantimpairment
eventshadbeenidentifiedinatimely manner. We challenged
the assumptionsunderlying theimpairment allowance
calculation, such as creditrisk mitigation through estimated
future discounted cash flowsincluding collateraland estimates
of recovery. We evaluated controls overapproval, accuracy

and completeness of impairment allowances and governance
controls,including assessing key management and committee
meetings that form part of the approval process forloan
impairment allowances.

We evaluated key assumptions such as criteriaused to determine
SICRand forward-lookingmacroeconomic scenariosincluding
therelated weighting.

Onasamplebasis, we assessed the group application of the
staging criteria, including the basis formovement between
stages.

Forloans tested collectively, we evaluated controls over

the modelling process, including modelinputs, monitoring,
validationand approval. We challenged key assumptions,
reviewed the calculationmethodology andtraced asample back
to source data.

We tested thelT applicationusedinthe creditimpairment
process and verified the integrity of datausedasinputtothe
modelsincluding the transfer of databetween source systems
andtheimpairment models. We evaluated system-based and
manual controls overtherecognitionand measurement of
impairment allowances.
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Key Audit Matters continued

Keyauditmatter

How ourauditaddressedthe key audit matter

Loanlossimpairments - Estimation uncertainty withrespect to expected creditlosses forloanand advances to customers (continued)

We evaluated post modeladjustments and management
overlaysinorderto assessthereasonableness of these
adjustments. We furtherassessed the forward-looking
informationincorporatedinto the impairment calculations by
involving our specialists to challenge the multiple economic
scenarios chosenandweightingappliedto capture non-linear
losses.

We consideredthe process of theindependent and external
validations of the modelsanditsimpact ontheresults of the
impairment estimate.

We updated ourassessment of the methodology and framework
designed andimplemented by the Group asto whetherthe
impairmentmodels’ outcomes and stage allocations appear
reasonable andreflective of the forecasts used by the Group to
determine future economic conditions at thereporting date.

We assessedthedisclosuresinthe consolidated financial
statementsrelating to this matteragainst therequirements of
IFRS Accounting Standards.

IT systems and controls over financial reporting

We identified IT systems and controls over financialreporting
asanareaof focus due to the extensive volume and variety of
transactions which are processed daily by the Group andrely on
the effective operation of automated and IT dependent manual
controls. Thereis arisk that automated accounting procedures
andrelatedinternal controls are not accurately designed and
operating effectively. Inparticular, theincorporatedrelevant
controls are essential to address the potential risk for fraud and
erroras aresult of change to applications orunderlying data.

We obtained anunderstanding of the applicationsrelevant
tofinancialreportingandtheinfrastructure supporting these
applications.

We testedIT general controlsrelevant to the identified
automated controls andInformation Produced by the Entity
(‘'IPEs’)covering access security, program changes, data center
andnetwork operations.

We examined certainIPEsusedinthe financialreporting from
relevant applications and key controls overtheirreportlogicsas
wellas preparationand maintenance.

We performed testing onthe key automated controls on
significantIT systemsrelevantto business processes.

We tested theinterfacesbetweentheidentified systemsinorder
todetermineifinformationisbeingtransmittedinanaccurate
and complete manner.

Concentration of related party balances

Related party assetsasat 31December 2024 are disclosedin
Note 38 to these consolidated financial statements with the
description of the materialaccounting policy disclosedin Note 6.

We focused onthis area as significant management judgement
isrequired to determine the disclosuresrequiredunder|FRS7
Financiallnstruments: Disclosures ('IFRS7’)and IAS 24 Related
Party Disclosures (‘'IAS 24’) withregards to significant creditrisk
concentrationsandrelated party disclosures.

We obtained from those charged with governance and
managementinformationidentifying allknownrelated parties.

We evaluated andtested key controls over the identificationand
monitoring of related party transactions.

We evaluated and tested key controls over the initial recognition
and monitoring of loans.
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To the Shareholders of Emirates NBD Bank (P.J.S.C.) continued

Key Audit Matters continued

Key auditmatter

How our auditaddressed the key audit matter

Concentration of related party balances (continued)

IFRS 7requires that specificinformation be disclosed foreach
type ofrisk arising fromfinancialinstruments. Theseinclude
qualitative disclosures around how exposures arise and how they
are measured and managed, summary quantitative data about
anentity’s exposure to eachtype of risk, and information about
anentity’s creditrisk exposure, including significant credit risk
concentrations. Inaddition, forgovernment-controlled entities
suchas EmiratesNBD Bank (P.J.S.C.), disclosureisrequired under
IAS 24 of a qualitative or quantitative indication of the extent of
transactions with the government orrelated entities.

We reviewed minutes of board meetings and management
meetingsto determineif there were any related party
transactions of which we were previously unaware.

We obtaineda confirmation forthe balance inwriting from the
relevantrelated party.

Wevouchedindividualrelated party transactionsonasample
basisto supportingdocumentation.

Finally, we evaluated the adequacy of the disclosures by
assessingwhetherareasonable userof the consolidated
financial statements could understand the exposure of the Group
to concentrationand relatedrisks, and by considering the ability
of suchausertoreasonably estimate the extent of transactions
with the majority shareholder of the parent, including theincome
arising fromthe balance due fromthem, based onthe disclosures
provided.

Accuracy of the hyperinflation accounting for the results of DenizBank A.S.

AsdisclosedinNote 8 to the consolidated financial statements,
the economy of the Republic of Tirkiye wasdeemed a
hyperinflationary economyinaccordance with the requirements
of IAS 29 Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies
('IAS29").

The Group performed the hyperinflation calculations which
included utilising the consumerpriceindices asakeyinputinto
the calculations. The consolidated financial results of DenizBank
A.S.(‘DenizBank’) are translated to the Group’sreporting
currency, AED, using the official exchange rate published by the
Central Bank of the Republic of Tirkiye as at 31December2024.

Thelossonthe monetary positionis calculated as the difference
resulting fromtherestatement of netnon-monetary assets,
equity anditemsinthe statement of profit orloss and other
comprehensiveincome (‘OCI’), and adjustment of index linked
assetsandliabilities. The application of IAS 21 The Effects of
Changesin Foreign Exchange Rates (‘IAS 21°)in conjunction with
the application of IAS 29resultedinanetmonetaryloss of AED 3.1
billionbeingrecognisedin profitorloss forthe year. Overall, the
hyperinflation adjustmentresultsinanet othercomprehensive
income of AED 1.8 billion.

The application of the requirements of IFRS Accounting
Standardsrelative to hyperinflation and the assessment of the
applicable exchangerate were areas that required significant
auditorattention. Given the significance of the quantitative
impact, the complexities associated withhyperinflationary
accounting and the extent of audit effortrequired, the
application of hyperinflation accounting forthe Group’s
operationslocatedinthe Republic of Turkiye and therelated
disclosures were deemedto be aKey Audit Matter.

We obtained anunderstanding of the processimplemented
by the Group to determine the hyperinflation adjustments and
disclosures.

We assessedthe controls overthis areato determineif they had
beendesignedandimplemented appropriately.

We utilised ourinternal IFRS Accounting Standards specialists to
conclude onthe appropriate application of IAS21and IAS 29.

We assessedtheinputsinto the hyperinflation calculations
with specificemphasis onthe consumer price indices used by
agreeingthemtoindependent sources.

Wereperformedthe mathematical accuracy of the hyperinflation
adjustments.

Wereperformedthe mathematicalaccuracy of the calculations
to determine the disclosure of sensitivities.

We determined if the exchangeratesusedto translate the
hyperinflated consolidated statement of financial position,
consolidated statement ofincome, consolidated statement of
cash flows, and consolidated statement of changesin equity of
DenizBank were determinedinaccordance with therequirements
of IFRS Accounting Standards.

We assessedthe disclosureinthe consolidated financial
statementsrelating to thisareaagainst the requirements of IFRS
Accounting Standards.

Emirates NBD Bank (P.J.S.C.) Financial Statements 2024 5



Deloitte

Independent Auditor’s Report
To the Shareholders of Emirates NBD Bank (P.J.S.C.) continued

Otherinformation
The Board of Directorsisresponsible for the otherinformation. The otherinformation comprises the annualreport of the Group but
doesnotinclude the consolidated financial statements and ourauditor’sreport thereon.

Ouropiniononthe consolidated financial statements does not cover the otherinformation and we do not express any form of
assurance orconclusionthereon.

Inconnectionwith ouraudit of the consolidated financial statements, ourresponsibility is to read the otherinformationand, indoing
so, considerwhetherthe otherinformationis materiallyinconsistent with the consolidated financial statements, or our knowledge
obtainedinthe audit, orotherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based onthe work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this otherinformation, we are required
toreportthatfact. We have nothingtoreportinthisregard.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated Financial Statements
Managementisresponsible forthe preparationand fair presentation of the consolidated financial statementsinaccordance with
IFRS Accounting Standards asissued by the IASB and their preparationin compliance with applicable provisions of UAE Federal Law
No.(32) of 2021, and forsuchinternal controlas management determinesis necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free frommaterial misstatements, whetherdue to fraud orerror.

Inpreparing the consolidated financial statements, managementisresponsible forassessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
goingconcern, disclosing, asapplicable, mattersrelated to going concernandusing the going concern basis of accounting unless
management eitherintends toliquidate the Group orto cease operations, orhasnorealistic alternative but to do so.

Those chargedwith governance areresponsible foroverseeing the Group’s financialreporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Ourobjectivesareto obtainreasonable assurance about whetherthe consolidated financial statements as awhole are free from
material misstatements, whetherdue to fraud orerror, and toissue an auditor’'sreport thatincludes our opinion. Reasonable
assuranceisahighlevel of assurance butisnotaguarantee thatanaudit conductedinaccordance withISAs will always detect
amaterialmisstatementwhenit exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud orerrorand are considered material if, individually or
inthe aggregate, they couldreasonably be expected toinfluence the economic decisions of users taken onthe basis of these
consolidatedfinancial statements.

Aspartofanauditinaccordance withISAs, we exercise professionaljudgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the

audit. We also:

« Identify and assesstherisks of materialmisstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud orerror,
designand perform audit proceduresresponsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence thatis sufficientand appropriate
to provide abasis forouropinion. Therisk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraudis higherthan the one
resulting fromerror, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omission, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
controls.

« Obtainanunderstanding of internal controlsrelevant to the auditin orderto design audit procedures that are appropriate inthe
circumstances, but not forthe purpose of expressing an opinion onthe effectiveness of theinternal controls.

« Evaluatethe appropriateness of accounting policiesused andthereasonableness of accounting estimates andrelated
disclosures made by management.

« Concludeontheappropriateness of management’s use of the going concernbasis of accounting and based on the audit
evidence obtained, whetheramaterialuncertainty existsrelated to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as agoing concern. If we conclude that amaterialuncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention
inourauditor’sreportto therelateddisclosuresinthe consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures areinadequate,
tomodify ouropinion. Ourconclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of ourauditor’sreport. However,
future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as agoing concern.

« Evaluatethe overallpresentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whetherthe consolidated financial statementsrepresent the underlying transactions and eventsinamanner that achieves fair
presentation.

« Planandperformthe Group auditto obtain sufficientappropriate audit evidenceregarding the financialinformation of the
entities orbusiness units withinthe Group as a basis for forming an opinion onthe consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible forthe direction, supervisionandreview of the audit work performed for purposes of the Group audit. We remain
solelyresponsible forouraudit opinion.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements continued
We communicate withthose charged with governanceregarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit
and significantaudit findings, including any significant deficienciesininternal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with astatement that we have complied withrelevant ethical requirements
regardingindependence, and tocommunicate withthem allrelationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought tobear
onourindependence,andwhere applicable, related safeguards.

Fromthe matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that were of most significancein
the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these
mattersinourauditor’sreportunlesslaw andregulations preclude public disclosure about the matter orwhen, inextremelyrare
circumstances, we determine thatamatter should notbe communicatedinourreportbecause the adverse consequences of doing
sowouldreasonably be expectedto outweigh the publicinterest benefits of suchcommunication.

Reporton Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

Asrequired by the UAEFederal Law No. (32) of 2021, wereport that forthe yearended 31 December 2024:

« Wehaveobtainedalltheinformationwe considerednecessary forthe purposes of our audit;

« Theconsolidatedfinancial statements have been preparedand comply, inallmaterialrespects, with the applicable provisions of
the UAE FederalLaw No. (32) of 2021;

« TheBankhasmaintained properbooks of account;

« Thefinancialinformationincludedinthe Directors’ reportis consistent with the books of account and records of the Bank;

« Notelltothe consolidated financial statements discloses the Bank’s purchases orinvestmentsin shares during the yearended
31December2024;

« Note38totheconsolidatedfinancial statements discloses materialrelated party transactions and the termsunderwhich they
were conducted and principles of managing conflict of interest;

« Basedontheinformationthathasbeenmade available to us nothinghas come to ourattentionwhich causesusto believe that the
Bankhas contravened during the yearended 31December2024 any of the applicable provisions of the UAE Federal Law No. (32)
of 2021 or of its Articles of Association which would materially affectits activities orits financial position asat 31December2024;
and

« Note47totheconsolidatedfinancial statements discloses social contributions made during the yearended 31December2024.

Further,asrequired by UAE FederalLaw No. (14) of 2018, we report that we have obtained all the information and explanations we
considered necessary forthe purpose of our audit.

Deloitte & Touche (M.E.)

Musa Ramahi
Registration No. 872
28 January 2025
Dubai

United Arab Emirates
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Group Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
As at 31 December 2024

2024 2023
Notes AED million AED million
Assets
Cash anddeposits with Central Banks 9 104,665 96,031
Due frombanks 10 132,766 92,302
Investment securities 1 199,223 173,246
Loansandreceivables 12 501,627 445,105
Positive fairvalue of derivatives 34 12,468 15,284
Customeracceptances 9,478 8,468
Propertyand equipment 7,941 5,264
Goodwillandintangibles 14 5,626 5,683
Otherassets 15 22,788 21,390
Total assets 996,582 862,773
Liabilities
Duetobanks 16 55,487 40,321
Customerdeposits 17 666,777 584,561
Debtissuedandotherborrowedfunds 18 72,476 66,116
Sukuks payable 19 7,427 4,673
Negative fairvalue of derivatives 34 15,897 17,389
Customeracceptances 9,478 8,468
Otherliabilities 20 42,826 31,273
Total liabilities 870,368 752,801
Equity
Issued capital 21 6,317 6,317
Treasury shares (46) (46)
Tierlcapitalnotes 22 9,129 9129
Share premiumreserve 21 17,954 17,954
Legalandstatutoryreserve 23 3,158 3,158
Otherreserves 23 2,945 2,945
Fairvaluereserve 23 (1,132) (1,570)
Currency translationreserve 23 (6,071) (7,461)
Retained earnings 93,736 79,373
Total equity attributable to equity and note holders of the Group 125,990 109,799
Non-controllinginterest 224 173
Total equity 126,214 109,972
Total liabilities and equity 996,582 862,773

The attachednotes1to 48 form anintegral part of these Group consolidated financial statements.
Theindependent auditor’'sreport onthe Group consolidated financial statementsis setoutonpages2to7.

H.H. Sheikh Ahmad Bin Saeed

AlMaktoum Vice Chairman

Chairman 28 JAN 2025
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Mr. Hesham Abdulla Al Qassim

Shayne Nelson
Chief Executive Officer

Group Consolidated Statement of Income
Forthe yearended 31 December 2024

Financial Statements

2024 2023

Notes AED million AED million
Interestand similarincome 69,129 50,031
Interestand similarexpense (42,760) (25,239)
Netinterestincome 24 26,369 24,792
Income fromlslamic financing andinvestment products 25 9,003 7,288
Distributiononlslamic deposits and profit paid to Sukuk holders 26 (2,976) (2,000)
Netincome fromIslamic financing and investment products 6,027 5,288
Netinterestincome and netincome fromIslamic financing and investment products 32,396 30,080
Feeand commissionincome 13,347 8,959
Fee and commission expense (6,554) (4,086)
Net fee and commissionincome 27 6,793 4,873
Net gainontrading securities 838 480
Otheroperatingincome 28 4,107 7,595
Total operatingincome 44134 43,028
Generaland administrative expenses 29 (13,751) (M,696)
Operating profit before impairment 30,383 31,332
Netimpairmentloss 30 (106) (3,448)
Operating profitbefore taxation and others 30,277 27,884
Hyperinflation adjustment onnet monetary position 8 (3,136) (4,229)
Profit for the year before taxation 27,141 23,655
Taxationcharge 32 (4,133) (2,134)
Profit forthe year 23,008 21,521
Attributable to:
Equity holders of the Group 22,973 21,480
Non-controllinginterest 35 4]
Profit forthe year 23,008 21,521
Earnings per share (AED) 33 3.56 3.32
The attachednotes1to 48 form anintegral part of these Group consolidated financial statements.
Theindependent auditor’sreport onthe Group consolidated financial statementsis setoutonpages2to?.
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Group Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
Forthe yearended 31 December 2024

2024 2023
AED million AED million
Profitfortheyear 23,008 21,521
Other comprehensiveincome
Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to the income statement:
Actuarialgains/(losses)onretirement benefit obligations (157) (104)
Movementinfairvaluereserve (equity instruments):
-Netchangeinfairvalue 34 142
-Netamount transferredtoretained earnings 329 -
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to theincome statement:
Costof hedging forforward element of aforward and currency basis spread excluded fromhedge
effectivenesstesting:
Netchangesinthe cost of hedging (58) 105
Cashflowhedges:
- Effective portion of changesin fairvalue 316 393
-Netamounttransferredto the statement ofincome 9 (77)
- Related deferredtax (23) -
Fairvaluereserve (debtinstruments):
-Netchangeinfairvalue 171 (818)
-Netamount transferredto the statement ofincome (448) (380)
-Related deferred tax 108 355
Currency translationreserve (3,478) (4,964)
Hedge of anetinvestmentinforeign operations 9 (42)
Hyperinflation adjustment (note 8) 4,859 4,853
Othercomprehensiveincome/(loss) forthe year 1,677 (531)
Total comprehensiveincome for the year 24,685 20,990
Attributable to:
Equity holders of the Group 24,650 20,949
Non-controllinginterest 35 4]
Total comprehensiveincome for the year 24,685 20,990

The attachednotes1to 48 formanintegral part of these Group consolidated financial statements.

Theindependentauditor’sreport onthe Group consolidated financial statementsis setoutonpages2to?.
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Group Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
Forthe yearended 31 December 2024

Financial Statements

2024 2023
AED million AED million
Operating activities
Profitforthe yearbefore taxation 27,141 23,655
Adjustmentfornon-cashitems (referNote 41) 1,188 8,214
Operating profit before changesin operating assets and liabilities 28,329 31,869
(Increase)/decreaseininterest free statutory deposits (15,057) (20,759)
(Increase)/decreaseincertificate of deposits with Central Banks maturing after three months (27) 1,000
(Increase)/decreaseinamounts due from banks maturing after three months (6,797) (21,869)
Increase /(decrease)inamounts due to banks maturing after three months 22,468 (12,534)
(Increase)/decreaseinotherassets (770) (7,007)
Increase/(decrease)inotherliabilities 3,272 1,950
(Increase)/decreaseinpositive fairvalue of derivatives 3,083 2,307
Increase /(decrease)innegative fairvalue of derivatives (1,492) (2,817)
Increase /(decrease)incustomerdeposits 82,216 81,608
(Increase)/decreaseinloansandreceivables (56,118) (32,967)
Net cash flows generated from / (usedin) operations 59,107 20,781
Taxes paid (1,665) (1,454)
Net cash flows generated from / (usedin) operating activities 57,442 19,327
Investing activities
(Increase)/decreaseininvestment securities (22,850) (45,787)
(Increase)/decrease of property and equipment (2,903) (1,447)
Dividendsincomereceived 12 7
Net cash flows generated from / (usedin) investing activities (25,741) (47,227)
Financing activities
Issuance of debtissued and otherborrowed funds 27,689 22,386
Issuance of Sukuks 2,754 1,000
Repayment of debtissued and otherborrowed funds (19,471) (8,050)
InterestonTierlcapitalnotes (511) (511)
Dividends paid (7,573) (3,786)
Net cash flows generated from / (used in) financing activities 2,888 11,039
Increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (refer Note 41) 34,589 (16,861)

The attachednotes1to 48 formanintegral part of these Group consolidated financial statements.

Theindependent auditor’sreport onthe Group consolidated financial statementsis setoutonpages2to?.
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Group Consolidated Statement of Changes In Equity
Forthe yearended 31 December 2024

Attributable to equity and note holders of the Group

Tierl Share Lea?'ladl Fair  Currency
Issued capital premium statutory Other value translation Non-
capital Treasury notes reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve Retained controlling Group
(a) shares (b) (a) (c) (c) (c) (c) earnings Total interest Total
AED AED AED AED AED AED AED AED AED AED AED AED
million million million million million million million million million million million million
Balance as at
1January 2024 6,317 (46) 9,129 17,954 3,158 2,945 (1,570) (7,461) 79,373 109,799 173 109,972
Profit forthe year - - - - - - - - 22,973 22,973 35 23,008
Other
comprehensive
income forthe
year - - - - - - 438 1,390 (151) 1,677 - 1,677
InterestonTier]
capitalnotes - - - - - - - - (511) (511) - (511)
Gain/(loss)
onsale of
FVOCIlequity
instruments - - - - - - - - (329) (329) - (329)
Increasein
non-controlling
interest - - - - - - - - - - 16 16
Dividends paid* = = = = = = = - (7,573) (7,573) - (7,573)
Directors’ fees
(referNote 31) - - - - - - - - (31) (31) - (31)
Zakat - - - - - - - - (15) (15) - (15)
Balance as at
31December
2024 6,317 (46) 9,129 17,954 3,158 2,945 (1,132) (6,071) 93,736 125,990 224 126,214
Attributable to equity and note holders of the Group
Tierl Share Legaland Fair Currency
Issued capital premium statutory Other value translation Non-
capital Treasury notes reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve Retained controlling Group
(a) shares (b) (a) (c) (c) (c) (c) earnings Total interest Total
AED AED AED AED AED AED AED AED AED AED AED AED
million million million million million million million million million million million million
Balance as at
1January 2023 6,317 (46) 9129 17,954 3,158 2,945 (1,296) (7,308) 62,346 93,199 106 93,305
Profitfortheyear - - - - - - - - 21,480 21,480 41 21,521
Other
comprehensive
income forthe
year - - - - - - (274) (153) (104) (537) - (537)
InterestonTier]
capitalnotes - - - - - - - - (51) (51) - (511)
Increasein
non-controlling
interest - - - - - - - - - - 26 26
Dividends paid” - - - - - - - - (3,786) (3,786) - (3,786)
Directors’ fees
(referNote 31) - - - - - - - - (37) (37) - (37)
Zakat - - - - - - - - 2n (21 - 2n
Balance as at
31December
2023 6,317 (46) 9129 17,954 3,158 2,945 (1,570) (7,461) 79,373 109,799 173 109,972

* Dividendspaidarenetof theamountattributable to treasury shares.

The attachednotes1to 48 formanintegral part of these Group consolidated financial statements.
Theindependentauditor’sreport onthe Group consolidated financial statementsis setoutonpages2to7.
Notes:

(a) ForfurtherdetailsrefertoNote 21

(b) ForfurtherdetailsrefertoNote 22
(c) ForfurtherdetailsrefertoNote 23
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Notes to the Group Consolidated Financial Statements
Forthe yearended 31 December 2024

1 CORPORATEINFORMATION

EmiratesNBD Bank (P.J.S.C.)(the ‘Bank’)wasincorporatedinthe United Arab Emirateson 16 July 2007 consequent to the merger
between Emirates BankInternational (P.J.S.C.)and National Bank of Dubai(P.J.S.C.),underthe Commercial Companies Law (Federal
LawNumber 8 of 1984 asamended) as a Public Joint Stock Company.

The Group consolidated financial statements forthe yearended 31December 2024 comprise the financial statements of the Bank
andits subsidiaries (togetherreferredto asthe ‘Group’).

The Bankislisted onthe DubaiFinancial Market (TICKER: ‘EMIRATESNBD’). The Group’s principal business activities are corporate
andinstitutional banking, retailbanking, treasury and Islamic banking. The Bank’s website is www.emiratesnbd.com. For details of
activities of subsidiaries, refertoNote 36.

Theregistered address of the Bankis P. O.Box 777, Dubai, United Arab Emirates (‘UAE’).
The parentcompany of the GroupisInvestment Corporation of Dubai, whichis wholly owned by the Government of Dubai.

2 BASIS OF ACCOUNTING

Statement of compliance

The Group consolidated financial statements have beenpreparedinaccordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
(IFRS Accounting Standards)issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and applicable requirements of the laws
of the UAE.

Federal Decree-Law No.(32) of 2021on Commercial Companies has comeinto effectfrom2 January 2022, replacing the existing
FederalLawNo.2of 2015.

The materialaccounting policiesinformation adoptedin the preparation of the Group consolidated financial statements are set out
below. These policieshave been consistently applied to allyears presented, unless otherwise stated.

3 FUNCTIONAL AND PRESENTATION CURRENCY

The presentation currency of the Group consolidated financial statementsis the United Arab Emirates Dirham (AED). The functional
currency forasignificant proportion of the Group’s assets, liabilities,income and expensesis also AED. However, certain subsidiaries
and brancheshave functional currencies otherthan AED and AEDis their presentation currency.

4 BASIS OF MEASUREMENT

The Group consolidated financial statements have beenprepared under the historical cost basis except for the following:
« derivativefinancialinstruments are measured at fairvalue;

« financialinstruments classified as trading and at fairvalue through profit orloss (FVTPL) are measured at fairvalue;

« financialassetsatfairvalue through othercomprehensiveincome are measured at fairvalue; and

e recognisedassetsandliabilitiesthatare hedged are measured atfairvalueinrespect of therisk thatis hedged.

The preparation of the Group consolidated financial statementsin conformity with IFRS Accounting Standards requires the use

of certain criticalaccounting estimates. It alsorequires Management to exercise judgmentin the process of applying the Group’s
accounting policies. The areasinvolving a higherdegree of judgment or complexity, orareas where assumptions and estimates are
significantto the Group consolidated financial statements are disclosed inNote 5.

5 USEOFJUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group consolidated financial statements requires Management to make certain estimates and assumptions
thataffectthereported amount of financial assets and liabilities and the resultant allowances forimpairment and fair values.
Considerablejudgment by Managementisrequiredinthe estimation of the amount and timing of future cash flows when
determining the level of allowancesrequired forimpairedloans andreceivables as well as allowances forimpairment provision for
unquotedinvestment securities. Estimates andjudgments are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and
otherfactorsincluding expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

Significantitems where the use of estimates and judgments are required are outlined below:

(i) Financialinstruments

Judgments madeinapplyingaccounting policies that have most significant effects onthe amountsrecognisedinthe Group

consolidated financial statements forthe yearended 31December2024 pertain to:

« Classificationof financialassets: assessment of business model withinwhich the assets are held and assessment of whether the
contractualterms of the financial assets are solely payment of principal and interest of the principalamount outstanding.

o Calculationof expectedcreditiosses(ECL): Assumptions and estimationuncertainties that have a significantimpacton ECL for
theyearended 31December2024. Theimpactis mainly driven by inputs, assumptions and techniques used for ECL calculation
under|FRS 9 methodology.
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Notes to the Group Consolidated Financial Statements continued
Forthe yearended 31 December 2024

5 USEOF JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES continued

Inputs, assumptions and techniques used for ECL calculation

Key concepts that have the most significantimpactandrequire ahighlevel of judgment, as considered by the Group while
determining the ECL, are:

Assessment of Significant Increase in Credit Risk (‘SICR’)

The assessment of SICRis done onarelative basis. To assess whether the creditrisk onafinancial asset hasincreased significantly
since origination, the Group compares therisk of default occurring over the expectedlife of the financial asset at thereporting date
tothe correspondingrisk of default at origination, using early warning and otherindicators that are used in the Group’s existing risk
management processes.

The Group’s assessment of significantincreasesin creditriskis performed atleast quarterly foreachindividual exposure based on

various factors. If any of the factorsindicates that asignificantincreasein creditriskhas occurred, theinstrument willbe moved from

Stage 1to Stage 2. Thesefactorsinclude but are notlimited to:

1. The Group has established thresholds forsignificantincrease in creditriskbased onmovementin Probability of Default relative to
initialrecognition.

2. Additional qualitative reviews have been performedto assess the stagingresults and make adjustments, asnecessary, to better
reflect the positions which have significantly increasedinrisk.

3. IFRS 9 contains arebuttable presumption thatinstruments which are 30 days past due have experienced a significantincreasein
creditrisk.

Movements between Stage 2 and Stage 3 are based onwhetherfinancial assets are creditimpaired as at thereporting date. The
determination of credit-impairmentis based onindividual assessment of financial assets for objective evidence of impairment.

The Groupreviewsitsloansandreceivables portfolio andlslamic financingreceivablesto assessimpairment onaregularbasis.
Indetermining whetheranimpairmentloss should berecordedinthe Group consolidated statement ofincome, the Group makes
judgmentsastowhetherthereisanyobservable dataindicating that thereis ameasurable decreaseinthe contractual future

cash flowsfromaloanorhomogenous group of loansandreceivables orlslamic financingreceivables. The methodology and
assumptionsused forestimating both the amountand timing of future cash flows are reviewedregularly toreduce any differences
betweenloss estimatesandactualloss.

Macroeconomic Factors, Forward Looking Information and Multiple Scenarios
The measurement of ECL foreach stage and the assessment of significantincreasesin creditrisk considersinformation about past
events and current conditions aswellasreasonable and supportable forecasts of future events and economic conditions.

The estimationand application of forward-lookinginformationrequiresjudgment based onthe macroeconomic variables (or
changesinmacroeconomic variables)suchas occupancy rates, oil prices, housing priceindexand GDP (where applicable), that
are closely correlated with creditlossesintherelevant portfolio andrepresent the underlying causal effects of changesinthese
economic conditions. Eachmacroeconomic scenariousedinthe Group’s ECL calculationwillhave projected forecasts of the
relevantmacroeconomic variables.

The Group estimationof ECLin Stage 1and Stage 2is adiscounted probability-weighted estimate that considers a minimum of
three future macroeconomic scenarios. These scenarios are based on macroeconomic forecasts published by external experts. If
conditions warrant, additional downside scenarios may also be considered.

Probability weights attached to these scenarios are updated on a quarterly basis (if required). All scenarios considered are applied
toallportfolios subject to ECL with the same probabilities. Insomeinstances, theinputs and models used for calculating ECL

may notalways capture all characteristics of the market at the date of the Group consolidated financial statements. Toreflect

this, qualitative adjustments or overlays are occasionally made astemporary adjustments when such differences are significantly
material. Such cases are subjected tothe Group’s governance process foroversight.

Sensitivity assessment due to movementin each macroeconomic variable and the respective weightsunder the three scenarios s
periodically assessed by the Group.
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The table below summarises key macroeconomic indicatorsincludedinthe economic scenarios forrespective operatingregions
relevant to theirmarkets during Q42024 and forthe years ending2025t0 2028:

Base Scenario Upside Scenario Downside Scenario
2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028

UAE
OilPrice-USD 81 78 76 75 75 81 84 80 76 76 81 60 60 71 73
GDP - Change % 37 4.0 3.6 3.8 3.9 3.7 5.8 51 3.8 3.9 37 02 -09 4.8 5.6

Imports-AEDInBn 1,919 2,039 2,160 2,268 2,379 1919 2,058 2,216 2,362 2,500 1919 1,865 1,882 1995 2,098

KSA
OilGDP-SARINTmN 117 120 121 122 123 1.17 122 125 126 1.27 117 116 112 115 118
Unemployment-% 747 770 772 773 774 747 745 739 749 7.67 747 897 957 920 8.66

Tirkiye
Real GDP-Growth% 3.0 25 4.0 4.5 - 30 3.0 4.3 4.7 - 2.8 1.9 3.4 4. -
Unemployment - % 9.2 9.6 9.1 8.6 - 9.0 9.3 8.7 8.1 - 9.4 10.3 101 9.6 -

Aswithany economic forecasts, the projections and likelihoods of the occurrence are subject toinherentuncertainty and therefore
the actual outcomes may be different to those projected.

Definition of default

The definition of defaultusedinthe measurement of ECL and the assessment to determine movement between stagesis consistent
with the definition of default used forinternal creditrisk management purposes. IFRS 9 does not define defaultbut containsa
rebuttable presumptionthat defaulthas occurred when anexposureis greaterthan 90 days past due.

ExpectedLife

Whenmeasuring ECL, the Group must consider the maximum contractual period overwhichitis exposedto creditrisk. Allapplicable
contractualterms are considered when determining the expected life,including prepayment extension androllover options. For
certainrevolving credit facilities that do not have a fixed maturity, the expectedlifeis estimated based on the period overwhich the
Groupisexposedto creditriskand where the creditlosses would not be mitigated by Management actions.

Governance

Inaddition to the existing risk management framework, the Group has established aninternal Committee to provide oversight to the
IFRS 9impairment process. The Committeeis comprised of seniorrepresentatives from Finance, Risk Management, Internal Audit
and Businessteams and areresponsible forreviewing and approving key inputs and assumptions usedin the Group ECL estimates. It
also assessesthe appropriateness of the overall allowanceresultsto beincludedinthe Group consolidated financial statements.

(ii) Fairvalue of financialinstruments

Where the fairvalues of financial assets and financial liabilities recordedin the Group consolidated statement of financial
positioncannot be derived from quoted prices, they are determined using a variety of valuation techniques thatinclude the use
of mathematicalmodels. Theinput to these modelsis takenfrom observable market data where possible, but where thisis not
possible, adegree of judgmentisrequiredin establishing fairvalues. The judgmentsinclude consideration of liquidity and model
inputs such as correlation and volatility forlonger dated derivatives.

Fairvalues are subjecttoacontrol framework designedto ensure that they are either determined orvalidated, by a function
independent of therisk taker.

(iii) Impairment of goodwill

Onanannualbasis, the Group determines whethergoodwillisimpaired. Thisrequires an estimation of the recoverable amount using
valueinuse of the cash generating units to which the goodwill is allocated. Estimating the value in use requires the Group to make
anestimate of the expected future cash flows from the cash generating units and also to choose a suitable discountratein orderto
calculate the present value of those cash flows.

(iv) Contingentliability arising from litigations

Duetothenature of its operations, the Group may be involved inlitigations arising in the ordinary course of business. Provision for
contingent liabilities arising fromlitigationsisbased onthe probability (more likely than not) of outflow of economic resources and
reliability of estimating such outflow. Such matters are subjectto many uncertainties and the outcome of individual mattersis not
predictable withassurance.

Estimatesandunderlyingassumptions are reviewed onan ongoing basis. Revisions to estimates are applied prospectively.
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Notes to the Group Consolidated Financial Statements continued
Forthe yearended 31 December 2024

6 MATERIALACCOUNTINGPOLICIES
The Group has consistently applied the following accounting policies to all periods presentedin these Group consolidated financial
statements.

(a) Principles of consolidation
(i) Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities) over which the Group has control.

The Group controls anentity whenthe Groupis exposedto, orhasrights to, variablereturns fromitsinvolvement with the entity and
has the ability to affect those returns throughits power over the entity.

The Groupre-assesseswhetherornotitcontrolsaninvesteeif facts and circumstancesindicate that there are changestooneor
more of the three elements of control. Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date of acquisition, being the date on which the Group
obtains control,and continue to be consolidated until the date such control ceases.

Thelist of the Group’s subsidiary companiesis showninNote 36.

Basis of consolidation

The Group consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Bank and its subsidiaries as at the end of
thereporting period. The financial statements of the subsidiaries usedin the preparation of the Group consolidated financial
statements are preparedforthe samereporting date as the Bank. Consistent accounting policies are applied to all transactions and
eventsinsimilarcircumstances.

Allintra-group balances,income and expenses and unrealised gains and losses resulting fromintra-group transactions are
eliminated at consolidation.

Business combinations are accounted forby applying the acquisitionmethod. The cost of anacquisitionis measured as the
aggregate of the considerationtransferred measured at acquisition date, fairvalue of assets transferred by the Group, liability
incurred, and equity interestissued by the Groupinexchange for control of the acquiree. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities
assumedinabusiness combinationare, withlimited exceptions, measuredinitially at their fairvalues at the acquisition date.
Acquisition-related costs arerecognised as expensesinthe periodsinwhich the costs areincurred and the services arereceived.

Whenthe Group acquires abusiness, itassessesthe financial assets andliabilitiesassumed forappropriate classificationand
designationinaccordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date.
Thisincludesthe separation of embedded derivativesinhost contracts by the acquiree.

Any contingent considerationto be transferred by the acquirer willbe recognised at fair value at the acquisition date.

Subsequent changesto the fairvalue of the contingent consideration whichisdeemedto be an asset orliability willbe recognised
inaccordance with IFRS 9inprofitorloss. If the contingent considerationis classified as equity, itisnotremeasured untilitis finally
settled within equity.

Inbusiness combinations achievedin stages, previously held equity interestsinthe acquiree arerestated to fairvalue at the
acquisitiondate and any corresponding gainorlossisrecognisedin profit orloss.

The Group elects foreachindividualbusiness combination, whethernon-controllinginterestinthe acquiree (if any)isrecognised on
the acquisition date at fairvalue, oratthe non-controllinginterest’s proportionate share of the acquiree’sidentifiable net assets.

Any excess of the sum of the fairvalue of the consideration transferredin the business combination, the amount of non-controlling
interestinthe acquiree (if any), and the fairvalue of the Group’s previously held equity interestin the acquiree (if any), over the net fair
value of the acquiree’sidentifiable assets andliabilitiesisrecorded as goodwill. The accounting policy forgoodwillis set outin Note
6(m)(i). Ininstances where the latteramount exceeds the former, the excess isrecognised as gain on bargain purchase in profit or
lossonthe acquisition date.

Upontheloss of control, the Group derecognises the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary, any non-controlling interests and the
othercomponents of equity related to the subsidiary. Any surplus or deficit arising on theloss of controlisrecognisedin profit or
loss. If the Groupretains any interestinthe previous subsidiary, thensuchinterestis measured at fair value at the date that control
islost. Subsequently,itisaccountedforasanequity-accountedinvestee orinaccordance with the Group’s accounting policy for
financialinstruments depending onthe level of influence retained.
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(ii) Special Purpose Entities

Special Purpose Entities (SPEs) are entities that are created to accomplish awell-defined objective such as the securitisation of
particularassets, orthe execution of aspecific borrowing orlending transaction. SPEis consolidatedif the Groupis exposedto
variablereturns fromitsinvolvementinthe SPE andhas the ability to affect those returns through its power over the SPEbasedonan
evaluation of the substance of its relationship with the Group.

The following circumstances may indicate arelationshipin which, in substance, the Group controls and consequently consolidates
an SPE:

a. the Group haspoweroverthe SPE;

b. the Group has exposure to, orrights, to variable returns fromitsinvolvement with the SPE; and

c. the Group has the ability touseits power overthe SPE to affect the amount of the Group’sreturns.

The assessment of whetherthe Group has controloveran SPEis carried out atinceptionandreassessed at each period end date orif
there are changesinthe structure /terms of additionaltransactions between the Group and the SPE.

Informationabout the Group’s securitisation activitiesis set outin Note 13.

(iii) Fund Management
The Group manages and administers funds on behalf of investors. The financial statements of these funds are not consolidatedin
these Group consolidated financial statements. Information about the Group’s fund management activityis set outin Note 43.

(iv) Fiduciary activities

Assetsheldintrustorinafiduciary capacity are not treated as assets of the Group and, accordingly, are not consolidatedinthese
Group consolidated financial statements. Income earned by the Group fromits fiduciary activitiesisrecognisedinaccordance with
the accounting policiesonfee and commissionincome. Informationabout the Group Fiduciary activitiesis set outin Note 44.

(v) Transactions with non-controllinginterests

Non-controllinginterestrepresents the equityin subsidiaries not attributable, directly orindirectly, to owners of the Group andis
presented separatelyinthe Group consolidated statement of comprehensive income and within equity inthe consolidated balance
sheet, separately fromequity attributable to owners of the Group.

Changesinthe Group’s ownershipinterestinasubsidiary that donotresultinaloss of controlare accounted foras equity
transactions. Insuch circumstances, the carryingamounts of the controlling and non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect
the changesintheirrelativeinterestsinthe subsidiary. Any difference between the amount by which the non-controlling interest
isadjusted andthe fairvalue of the consideration paid orreceivedisrecognised directly in equity and attributed to owners of the
Group.

(b) Foreigncurrencies

Monetaryitemsdenominatedinforeign currencies areretranslated at the rates prevailing at thereporting date. The resulting gain
/lossonmonetaryitemsis takentothe ‘Otheroperatingincome’in the Group consolidated statement ofincome. Non-monetary
items carried at fairvalue that are denominatedinforeign currencies areretranslated at therates prevailing at the date when the fair
value was determined. Non-monetaryitemsthat are measuredinterms of historical costinaforeign currency are notretranslated.

Inthe Group consolidated financial statements, assets andliabilitiesin foreign operations are translatedinto AED at rates of
exchangeruling atthereporting date, and theresulting gains andlosses are takento the currency translationreserve.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign operationand any fair value adjustments to the carryingamounts of assets and
liabilities arisingonthe acquisition are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign operation and translated at the exchange rate at
thereporting date.

Forward exchange contracts are valued at market rates applicable to theirrespective maturities.

Exchange differencesarising fromthe translation of the netinvestmentinforeign operations are taken directly to currency
translationreserve.

Foreigncurrency differencesarising ontranslation are generallyrecognisedin profit orloss. However, foreign currency differences

arising fromthe translation of qualifying cash flow hedges to the extent that the hedgeis effective, arerecognisedin ‘Other
comprehensiveincome’ (OCI).
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Notes to the Group Consolidated Financial Statements continued
Forthe yearended 31 December 2024

6 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued

(c) Interest

Effectiveinterestrate

Interestincome and expense are recognisedin profitorlossusing the ‘effective interest method’. The ‘effective interestrate’is the
rate that exactly discounts estimated future cashreceipts or payments through the expected life of the financialinstrument to:

« thegrosscarryingamount of the financial asset; or

« theamortised cost of the financialliability.

When calculating the effectiveinterestrate for financialinstruments other than credit-impaired assets, the Group estimates future
cash flows considering all contractual terms of the financial instrument, excluding ECL. For credit-impaired financial assets, a credit-
adjusted effectiveinterestrateis calculated using estimated future cash flowsincluding ECL.

Amortised cost

The ‘amortised cost’ of afinancial asset orfinancialliability is the amount at which the financial asset or financial liability is measured
atinitialrecognition minus the principalrepayments, plus orminus the cumulative amortisation of the difference between theinitial
amount andthe maturity amount using the effective interest method and, for financial assets, adjusted foranyloss allowance.

Gross carryingamount
The‘grosscarryingamount of afinancialasset’is the amortised cost of a financial asset before adjusting forany loss allowance.

Calculation of interestincome and expense
Incalculatinginterestincome and expense, the effective interestrateis applied to the gross carryingamount of the asset (when the
assetisnot credit-impaired) or to the amortised cost of the liability.

However, forfinancial assets thathave become credit-impaired subsequent toinitial recognition, interestincomeis calculated by
applyingthe effectiveinterestrate to the amortised cost (as explained above) of the financial asset. If the financial assetisnolonger
credit-impaired, thenthe calculation of interestincomereverts to the gross carryingamount (as explained above).

Forthefinancial assets that were credit-impaired oninitialrecognition, interestincomeis calculated by applying the credit-adjusted
effectiveinterestrate tothe amortised cost (as explained above) of the financial asset. The calculation of interestincome does not
reverttoagrosscarryingamount(as explained above), evenif the creditrisk of the assetimproves.

Presentation

Interestincome and expense presentedinthe Group consolidated statement ofincome include:

« interestonfinancial assetsandfinancialliabilities measured atamortised cost calculated on an effective interest basis;

« interestondebtinstruments measured at fairvalue through othercomprehensiveincome (FVOCI) calculated on an effective
interest basis;

« theeffective portionof fairvalue changesinqualifying hedging derivatives designatedin cash flow hedges of variability in
interestcashflows, inthe same period asthe hedged cash flows affectinterestincome/expense; and

« theeffective portion of fairvalue changesin qualifyinghedging derivatives designatedin fairvalue hedges of interest rate risk.

(d) Feesand commission

Feeincome, whichisnotanintegral part of the effective interestrate of afinancialinstrument,is earned from a diverse range of
services provided by the Group toits customers, and are accounted forinaccordance withIFRS 15 ‘Revenue from Contracts with
Customers’. Underthe IFRS 15, feeincomeis measured by the Group based onthe consideration specifiedinacontractwitha
customerand excludes amounts collected on behalf of third parties. The Group recognisesrevenue whenit transfers control overa
productorservicetoacustomer.

Feeincomeisaccountedforasfollows:

« incomeearnedontheexecutionof asignificantactisrecognised asrevenue whenthe actis completed (forexample, fees arising
fromnegotiating, or participatinginthe negotiation of atransaction forathird-party, such asanarrangement forthe acquisition
of shares orothersecurities);

« incomeearnedfromthe provisionof servicesisrecognised asrevenue asthe services are provided (forexample, asset
management, portfolio and othermanagementadvisory and service fees); and

« otherfeesand commissionincome and expense arerecognised astherelated services are performedorreceived.

Feeincomewhichformsanintegral part of the effectiveinterestrate of afinancialinstrumentisrecognised asanadjustmentto the
effective interestrate (forexample, certainloan commitment fees)andrecordedin‘Interestincome’.
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(e) Income taxes and deferred taxation

The currentincome taxchargeis calculated on the basis of the taxlaws enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date
inthe countries where the Bank and its subsidiaries operate and generate taxableincome. Management periodically evaluates
positions takenintaxreturns withrespect to situationsinwhich applicable taxregulationis subject tointerpretation. It establishes
provisionswhere appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be settled with the tax authorities.

Deferredtaxisaccountedforusing the assetand liability method. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised for the full tax
consequences of alltemporary differences between the Group consolidated financial statements carrying amounts of existing
assetsandliabilitiesand theirrespective taxbases. Recognition of deferred tax assets are, however, restricted to the extent thatitis
probable that sufficient taxable profit willbe available against which the deductible temporary differences canbe utilised. Deferred
taxassetsandliabilities are measured using taxrates that are expected to apply to the period inwhich the assetis expectedtobe
realised ortheliability is expectedto be settled.

Deferredtaxassets arereviewed periodically toreduce the carryingamount by the extent to whichitisnolongerprobable that
sufficient taxable profit will be available to utilise the differences.

Deferred taxassets andliabilities are off setwhenthereis alegally enforceableright to set off current tax asset against current tax
liabilitiesandwhentheyrelate toincome taxeslevied by the same taxation authority and the Group intends to settleits current tax
assetsandcurrent taxliabilities onanetbasis.

(f) Financial assets and financialliabilities
(i) Classification of financial assets and financial liabilities
Oninitialrecognition, afinancial assetis classified as measured: atamortised cost, FVOClor FVTPL.

Afinancial assetismeasured atamortised costifitmeetsboth the following conditionsandis not designated asat FVTPL:

« theassetisheldwithinabusinessmodelwhose objectiveistoholdassetsto collect contractual cash flows; and

« thecontractualterms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interestonthe principalamount outstanding.

Adebtinstrumentis measured at FVOClonlyifit meets both of the following conditions andis not designated as at FVTPL:

o theassetisheldwithinabusinessmodelwhose objectiveisachieved by both collecting contractual cashflows andselling
financial assets; and

« thecontractualterms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principaland
interestonthe principalamount outstanding.

Oninitialrecognition of an equity investment thatis notheld fortrading, the Group may irrevocably elect to present subsequent
changesinfairvaluein OCI. Thiselectionis made onaninvestment-by-investment basis.

Allotherfinancial assets are classified as measured at FVTPL.

Inaddition, oninitialrecognition, the Group may irrevocably designate afinancial asset that otherwise meets the requirementsto be
measured atamortised costoratFVOClasFVTPLif doing so eliminates or significantly reduces anaccounting mismatch that would
otherwise arise.

(ii) Recognitionandinitial measurement

The Groupinitiallyrecognisesloans andreceivables, customer deposits, debtissued and otherborrowed funds and Sukuks
payable onthe date onwhich they are originated oracquired. Allother financialinstruments (including regular-way purchases and
sales of financialassets)arerecognised onthe trade date, whichis the date on which the Group becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of theinstrument.

Afinancialasset orfinancialliability is measured initially at fair value plus, foranitemnot at FVTPL, transaction costs that are directly
attributable toits acquisitionorissue.
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Notes to the Group Consolidated Financial Statements continued
Forthe yearended 31 December 2024

6 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued

(f) Financial assets and financialliabilities continued

(ii) Recognitionand initialmeasurementcontinued

Businessmodel assessment:

The Group makes anassessment of the objective of abusiness modelinwhichanassetis held ataportfoliolevel as thisbestreflects

the way the businessis managed andinformationis provided to Management. The information consideredincludes:

« thestatedpoliciesandobjectivesforthe portfolioandthe operation of those policiesinpractice. Inparticular, whether
Management’s strategy focuses onearning contractualinterestrevenue, maintaining a particularinterestrate profile, matching
the duration of the financial assets to the duration of the liabilities that are funding those assets orrealising cash flows through the
sale of the assets;

« howtheperformance of the portfoliois evaluated andreported to the Group’s Management;

« therisksthataffectthe performance of the business model(andthe financial assets held within that business model)and how
thoserisks are managed;

« howmanagers of the business are compensated - e.g. whethercompensationisbased onthe fairvalue of the assetsmanaged or
the contractual cashflows collected; and

« thefrequency,volumeandtiming of salesin prior periods, thereasons forsuch sales andits expectations about the future sales
activity. However, information about sales activity isnot consideredinisolation, but as part of an overallassessment of how the
Group’s stated objective formanaging the financial assetsis achieved and how cash flows are realised.

Financial assetsthatare held fortradingormanaged andwhose performanceis evaluated on afairvalue basis are measured at
FVTPLbecause they are neitherheldto collect contractual cash flowsnorheldbothto collect contractual cash flows andto sell
financial assets.

Assessment whether contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal andinterest:

Forthe purposes of thisassessment, ‘principal’ is defined as the fairvalue of the financial asset oninitialrecognition. ‘Interest’is
defined as consideration forthe time value of money and for the creditrisk associated with the principal amount outstanding during
aparticularperiod of time and forotherbasic lendingrisks and costs (e.g. liquidity risk and administrative costs), as well as profit
margin.

Inassessingwhetherthe contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal andinterest, the Group considers the contractual
terms of theinstrument. Thisincludes assessing whether the financial asset contains a contractual termthat could change the timing
oramount of contractual cash flows such that it would not meet this condition. In making the assessment, the Group considers:

« contingenteventsthatwould change the amountandtiming of cash flows;

o leveragefeatures;

« prepaymentandextensionterms;

« termsthatlimitthe Group’s claimto cashflows from specified assets(e.g.non-recourse asset arrangements); and

« featuresthatmodify consideration of the time value of money - e.g. periodicalreset of interestrate.

Seenoteoninvestment securities,loans andreceivables and cash and cash equivalents forfurtherdetails.

The Group classifiesits financialliabilities, other than financial guarantees andloan commitments, as measured atamortised cost or
FVTPL.

The Group classifies financial liabilities as held fortradingwhen they have beenissued primarily for short term profit making through
trading activities orform part of aportfolio of financialinstruments that are managed togetherforwhich thereis evidence of arecent
pattern of short-term profit making. Gains andlosses arising from changesinfairvalues areincludedin the Group consolidated
statementofincomeintheyearinwhichtheyarise.

Reclassifications:
Financial assets are notreclassified subsequent to theirinitialrecognition, exceptin the period after the Group changesits business
modelformanagingfinancial assets.

(iii) Impairment

The Grouprecogniseslossallowances for ECL onthe following financialinstruments that are not measured at FVTPL:
« financialassetsthatare debtinstruments;

« financialguarantee contractsissued;and

e loancommitmentsissued.

Noimpairmentlossisrecognised onequityinvestments.
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The Group measuresloss allowances atanamount equal tolifetime ECL, except forthe financialinstruments onwhich creditrisk has
notincreasedsignificantly since theirinitial recognition.

12-month ECL are the portion of life time ECL that result from default events onafinancialinstrument that are possible within the 12
months afterreporting date.

Measurement of ECL

ECL are probability-weighted estimate of creditlosses. They are measured as follows:

« financialassetsthatarenotcredit-impaired atthe reporting date: as the present value of allcash shortfalls (i.e. the difference
betweenthe cashflows due to the entityinaccordance with the contract and the cash flows that the Group expects toreceive);

« financialassetsthatare credit-impaired atthereporting date: as the difference betweenthe gross carryingamount and the
presentvalue of estimated future cash flows;

« undrawnloancommitments: asthe presentvalue of the difference between the contractual cash flows that are due to the Group
if the commitmentis drawndownandthe cash flows that the Group expectstoreceive;and

« financialguarantee contracts: the expected paymentstoreimburse the holderless any amounts that the Group expects to
recover.

Restructured financial assets

If the terms of afinancial asset are modified oran existing financial assetisreplaced withanew one due to financial difficulties of the

borrower, thenanassessmentismade of whetherthefinancial asset should be derecognisedand ECL are measured as follows:

« iftheexpectedrestructuringwillnotresultin derecognition of the existing asset, then the expected cash flows arising fromthe
modified financial assetareincludedin calculating the cash shortfalls from the existing asset.

« iftheexpectedrestructuringwillresultin derecognition of the existing asset, thenthe expected fairvalue of the new assetis
treated as the final cash flow from the existing financial asset at the time of its derecognition. Thisamountisincludedin calculating
the cash shortfalls from the existing financial asset. The cash shortfalls are discounted from the expected date of derecognition
tothereportingdate using the original effective interestrate of the existingfinancial asset.

Credit-impaired financial assets

Ateachreporting date, the Group assesses whetherfinancial assets carried atamortised cost and debt financial assets carried
atFVOCl are credit-impaired. Afinancial assetis ‘credit-impaired’ when one ormore events that have a detrimentalimpact onthe
estimated future cash flows of the financial assethave occurred.

Evidencethatafinancial assetis credit-impairedincludes the following observable data:

« significant financial difficulty of the borrowerorissuer;

e abreachof contractsuchasadefault orpastdueevent;

« therestructuringofaloanoradvance by the Group onterms that the Group would not consider otherwise;
e itisbecomingprobablethatthe borrowerwillenterbankruptcy orotherfinancial reorganisation; or

« thedisappearance of anactive market forasecurity because of financial difficulties.

Revolving facilities

The Group’s product offeringincludes avariety of corporate andretail overdraft and credit cards facilities, in which the Group
hastherighttocanceland/orreduce the facilities atashortnotice. The Group doesnotlimitits exposure to creditlossesto the
contractualnotice period, but,instead calculates ECL overaperiod thatreflects the Group’s expectations of the customer
behaviour, itslikelihood of defaultand the Group’s future risk mitigation procedures, which couldinclude reducing orcancelling the
facilities.

Based onpast experience and the Group’s expectations, the period over which the Group calculates ECL forthese products, is
estimated basedonthe period overwhichthe Groupis exposedto creditriskand where the creditlosseswould not be mitigated by
Management actions.

Write-off

Loansand debtsecurities are written off (either partially orin full) when thereis noreasonable prospect of recovery. Thisis generally
the case when the Group has exhausted alllegal and remedial efforts torecover fromthe customers. However, financial assets

that are written off could stillbe subject to enforcement activitiesin orderto comply with the Group’s procedures forrecovery of
amounts due.
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Notes to the Group Consolidated Financial Statements continued
Forthe yearended 31 December 2024

6 MATERIALACCOUNTING POLICIES continued

(f) Financial assets and financial liabilities continued

(iv) Financial guarantees andloancommitments

Financial guarantees are contracts thatrequire the Group to make specified payments toreimburse the holders foraloss they
incurbecause a specified debtorfails to make paymentwhendue, inaccordance with the terms of adebtinstrument. The financial
guaranteeliabilityis carried atamortised cost when paymentunderthe contracthasbecome probable.

‘Loans commitments’ are firmirrevocable commitments to provide credit under pre-specified terms and conditions.

Financial guaranteesissuedorirrevocable commitments to provide credit are initially measured at fair value and theirinitial fair value
isamortised overthelife of the guarantee orthe commitment. Subsequently, they are measured at the higher of thisamortised
amountandthe amount of loss allowance.

(v) Foreigncurrencies

Foreigncurrency differences arisingontranslation are generallyrecognisedin profit orloss. However, foreign currency differences
arising fromthe translation of equity investmentsinrespect of which an election hasbeen made to present subsequent changesin
fairvaluein OClarerecognised through OCI.

(vi) Loansandreceivables

‘Loans andreceivables’ captioninthe Group consolidated statement of financial positioninclude:

« Loansandreceivablesmeasuredatamortised cost: they areinitially measured at fairvalue plusincremental direct transaction
costs, and subsequently at theiramortised costusing the effectiveinterest method and are presented net of expected credit
losses; and

« Loansandreceivablesmeasuredat FVTPLordesignatedasat FVTPL: these are measured at fairvalue with changesrecognised
immediatelyinprofitorloss,if applicable.

Whenthe Group purchases afinancial assetand simultaneously entersinto anagreement toresellthe asset (orasubstantially similar
asset)atafixed price onafuture date(reverserepo orstock borrowing), the arrangementisaccounted forasaloanoradvance or
due frombanks, and the underlying assetisnotrecognisedinthe Group’s consolidated financial statements.

Islamic financingreceivables
Islamic financingreceivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quotedinan active
market. These products are carried atamortised costlessimpairment.

(i) Definitions
Thefollowing terms are usedinlIslamic financing:

Murabaha

Anagreementwhereby the Group sellsto acustomeran asset, which the Group has purchased and acquired, based onapromise
received fromthe customerto buy the asset purchased at a deferred selling price comprised of the cost of the assetand anagreed
profitmargin.

Istisna’a

ASalelstisna’aagreement betweenthe Group and a customerwhereby the Group would sell to the customera fully described
property according to the agreed upon specifications. The Group would construct/develop the property eitheronitsownor
through a subcontractorandthenhandit overto the customeronafixed date foradeferred agreed price.

ljara

Anagreement, whereby the Group (lessor)leases anassetto acustomer(lessee), foraspecific period and against certainrent
instalments. ljaraends by transferring the ownership of the asset to thelessee through anindependent sale agreement at the end of
theljaraagreement pursuant to a sale undertaking granted by the Group.

Mudaraba

Anagreementbetweentwo parties; wherein one of them provides the funds andis called Rab-Ul-Mal and the other provides efforts
and expertise andis called the Mudarib and heisresponsible forinvesting such fundsinan enterprise or activity inreturnfor pre-
agreed percentage of the Mudaraba profit. In case of loss not attributable to any misconduct ornegligence by the Mudarib, the
Rab-Ul-Malwould beartheloss of his funds while the Mudarib would bearthe loss of his efforts. However, in case of misconduct,
negligence orviolation of any of the terms and conditions of the Mudaraba agreement by the Mudarib, the Mudarib shallbe
responsible to make good thelosses. The Group acts as Mudarib when accepting Mudaraba funds from depositorsand as Rab-Ul-
Malwheninvesting such funds onaMudarababasis.

22 Emirates NBD Bank (P.J.S.C.) Financial Statements 2024

Financial Statements

Wakala

Anagreementwhereby the Group provides a certain sumof moneytoanagentwhoinvestsitaccordingto specific conditionsin
returnforacertainfee (alump sum of money ora percentage of the amountinvested). The agentis obliged toreturnthe invested
amountin case of misconduct, negligence orviolation of any of the terms and conditions of the Wakala.

(i) Revenue recognition
Revenueisrecognisedonthe abovelslamic products as follows:

Murabaha
The profitis quantifiable and contractually determined at the commencement of the contract. Profitisrecognised onatime
proportion basis overthelife of the contractusing an effective profitmethod onthe balance outstanding.

Istisna’a
Istisna’arevenue and the associated profit margin (difference between the cash price to the customerand the Group totalIstisna’a
cost)areaccountedforonatime proportion basis.

ljara
Income from ljaraisrecognised onanaccrual basis over the period of the contract.

Mudaraba
Income onMudaraba financingisrecognised ondistribution by the Mudarib, whereas the losses are charged to the Group
consolidated statement of income ontheirdeclaration by the Mudarib.

Wakala
Estimatedincome from Wakalaisrecognised onaccountonatime proportion basis overthe period, adjusted by actualincome
whenreceived. Losses are accounted foronthe date of declaration by the agent.

Profitequalisationreserve

Profitequalisationreserves are amounts appropriated out of the common mudaraba pool’'sincome, before allocating the mudarib’s
share of profit,in orderto maintain a certainlevel of return oninvestments forall the investment account holders and otherinvestors
inthe common mudaraba pool. The allocationand distribution to depositorsis approved by the Profit Equalisation Committee,
Internal Shariah Supervision Committee of the Group and the Islamic banking subsidiary respectively.

Depositors’investmentrisk reserve

Depositors’investmentriskreserve represents a portion of the depositors’ share of profit setaside asareserve. Thisreserveis payable tothe
depositorsuponthe approval of the Profit Equalisation Committee and the Internal Shariah Supervision Committee. Zakat on depositors’
investmentriskreserveisincludedunderZakat payable andis deducted fromthe depositors’investmentriskreserve balance.

(vii) Investment securities

The ‘investment securities’ captioninthe Group consolidated statement of financial positionincludes:

« debtinvestmentsecurities measured atamortised cost: these areinitially measured at fairvalue plusincremental direct
transaction costs, and subsequently at theiramortised cost using the effectiveinterest method;

o debtandequityinvestment securitiesmeasuredat FVTPL ordesignatedasat FVTPL: these are at fairvalue with changes
recognisedimmediately in profit orloss;

o debtsecuritiesmeasured at FVOCI; and

e equityinvestmentsecuritiesdesignatedasFVOCI.

Fordebtsecuritiesmeasured at FVOCI, gainsandlosses arerecognisedin OCI, except for the following, which are recognisedin
profitorlossinthe same mannerasforfinancialassets measured atamortised cost.

e interestrevenueusingthe effectiveinterest method;

o ECLchargesandreversals;and

« foreignexchange gainsandlosses.

When adebt security measured at FVOClis derecognised, the cumulative gain orloss previously recognisedin OClisreclassified
from equity to profit orloss.

The Group electsto presentin OClchangesinthe fairvalue of certaininvestmentsin equity instruments that are not held for trading.
The electionis made onaninstrument-by-instrumentbasis oninitialrecognitionandisirrevocable.

Gainsandlosses onsuchequityinstruments are neverreclassified to profitorlossandnoimpairmentisrecognisedin profit orloss.
Dividends from such equityinstruments arerecognisedin profit orloss unless they clearly representarecovery of part of the cost of
theinvestment,inwhich case they arerecognisedin OCI. Cumulative gains andlosses on equity instrumentsrecognisedin OCl are
transferred toretained earnings ondisposal of aninvestment.
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6 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued

(f) Financial assets and financialliabilities continued

(viii) Derecognition

The Group derecognises afinancial asset whenthe contractualrights to the cash flows fromthe financial asset expires, orit transfers
therightstoreceive the contractual cash flowsinatransactioninwhich substantially all of the risks and rewards of the ownership

of the financialassetare transferred orin which the Group neithertransfers norretains substantially all of the risks and rewards of
ownership anditdoesnotretain control of the financial asset.

Onderecognition of afinancial asset, the difference betweenthe carryingamount of the asset (orthe carryingamount allocated to
the portion of the asset derecognised)and the sum of (i) the considerationreceived(including any new asset obtainedless any new
liability assumed)and (ii) any cumulative gain orloss that had beenrecognised in OClisrecognisedin profit orloss.

Any cumulative gain/lossrecognisedin OClinrespect of equity investment securities designated as FVOClisnotrecognisedin
profitorlossaccountonderecognition of such securities.

Anyinterestintransferredfinancial assets that qualify forderecognitionthatis created orretained by the Groupisrecognisedasa
separate assetorliability.

The Group entersinto transactions whereby it transfers assetsrecognised onits Group consolidated statement of financial
positionbutretains eitherall or substantially all of the risks and rewards of the transferred assets ora portion of them. Insuch cases,
the transferred assets are not derecognised. Examples of such transactions are securities lending and sale-and-repurchase
transactions.

Intransactionsinwhichthe Group neitherretains nor transfers substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership of a financial
assetanditretains control over the asset, the Group continues torecognise the asset to the extent of its continuing involvement,
determined by the extenttowhichitis exposedtochangesinthevalue of the transferred asset.

The Group derecognises afinancialliability whenits contractual obligations are discharged or cancelled or expired.

(ix) Modification of financial assets and financial liabilities

If the terms of a financial assetare modified, the Group evaluates whether the cash flows of the modified asset are substantially
different.If the cashflows are substantially different, then the contractualrights to cash flows from the original financial asset are
deemedtohave expired.Inthiscase, the original financial assetis derecognised and anew financial assetisrecognised at fairvalue.

Ifthe cash flows of the modified asset carried atamortised cost are not substantially different, then the modification does not
resultinderecognition of the financialasset. Inthis case, the Group recalculates the gross carryingamount of the financial asset
andrecognises the amount arising from adjusting the gross carryingamount as modification gain orlossinprofit orloss. If such
amodificationis carried out because of financial difficulties of the borrower, thenthe gainorlossis presented togetherwith
impairmentlosses.Inothercases,itis presentedasinterestincome.

The Group derecognises afinancial liability whenits terms are modified and the cash flows of the modified liability are substantially
different.Inthis case, anew financialliability based onthe modified termsisrecognised at fairvalue. The difference between the

carryingamount of the financial liability extinguished and the new financial liability with modified termsisrecognisedin profit orloss.

(x) Offsetting

Financial assets andfinancialliabilities are offset and the net amount presentedinthe Group consolidated statement of financial
positionwhen, and only when, the Group currently haslegally enforceablerights to set offamounts anditintends eitherto settle
themonanetbasisortorealise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Income and expenses are presented on anet basis only whenpermittedunderlFRS, orforgains andlosses arising from a group of
similartransactions such asinthe Group’s trading activities.

(xi) Fairvalue Measurement

Fairvalueisthe price thatwould bereceivedto sellanasset orpaid to transferaliabilityinan orderly transactionin the principal
market atthe measurement date. The fairvalue measurementisbased onthe presumptionthat the transactionto sellthe assetor
transfertheliability takes place either:

¢ Intheprincipalmarket forthe assetorliability; or

« Intheabsenceof principalmarket,inthe mostadvantageous market for the asset andliabilities.
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If anasset oraliability measured at fairvalue has a ‘Bid’ price and an ‘Ask’ price, then the Group measures assets and long positions at
a‘Bid’ price andliabilities and short positionsatan ‘Ask’ price.

The Group recognises transfersbetween levels of the fairvalue hierarchy as of the end of the reporting period during which the
changehasoccurred.

Fairvalueis applicable tobothfinancialand non-financialinstruments.

(xii) Designatedat FVTPL
Atinitialrecognition, the Group has designated certainfinancial assetsasat FVTPL because this designation eliminates or
significantly reduces anaccountingmismatch, whichwould otherwise arise.

The Group has designated certainfinancial liabilitiesas at FVTPL in either of the following circumstances:
(a) Theliabilities are managed, evaluated andreportedinternally on afairvalue basis; or
(b) The designation eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch which would otherwise arise.

Adescription of the basis of each designationis set outinrelevant notes forthe asset orliability class.

(xiii) Sale andrepurchase agreements

Securities sold subjecttorepurchase agreements(‘repos’) are disclosedinthe notes to the Group consolidated financial
statementswhenthe transferee has theright by contract orcustomto sellorre-pledge the collateral; the counterparty liability
isincluded asaseparate deposit. Securities purchased underagreementstoresell(‘reverserepos’) arerecorded asloansand
receivablesto eitherbanks orcustomers, as appropriate. The difference between sale andrepurchase priceis treated asinterest
andaccruedoverthelife of the agreementsusing the effective interest method.

(g) Cashand cashequivalents

‘Cashandcashequivalents’include notes and coins onhand, unrestricted balances held with Central Banks and highly liquid
financial assets with original maturities of three months orless from the date of acquisition that are subject to aninsignificant risk of
changesintheirfairvalue,and are used by the Group in the management of its short-term commitments.

Cashandcashequivalents are carried atamortised costinthe Group consolidated statement of financial position.

(h) Trading assets and liabilities
Trading assets are those assets and liabilities that the Group acquires orincurs principally for the purpose of selling orrepurchasing
inthenearterm, orholdsas part of aportfolio thatismanagedtogetherforshort-term profit or position taking.

Trading assets andliabilities areinitially recognised and subsequently measured at fair value in the Group consolidated statement
of financial position, with transaction costsrecognisedin profit orloss. Allchangesinfairvalue arerecognised as part of net trading
income in profit orloss.

(i) Derivatives held for risk management purposes and hedge accounting

The Group follows ahedge accounting model that aligns hedge accounting more closely with risk management. The model
measures hedge effectiveness through an objectives-based test that focuses onthe economicrelationship between the hedged
itemandthe hedginginstrument, and the effect of creditrisk onthateconomic relationship.

The Group also performsrebalancing of hedgingrelationships, whereby, if ahedgingrelationship ceasesto meet the hedge
effectivenessrequirementrelating to the hedgeratiounder IFRS 9, but the risk management objective for that designated hedging
relationship remains the same, the Group shall adjust the hedgeratio of the hedgingrelationship so thatit meets the qualifying
criteriaagain.

Gainsandlosses arising from changesinthe fairvalue of derivatives that are not the hedginginstrumentin a qualifyinghedge are
recognised asthey ariseinprofitorloss. Gains andlosses arerecordedin‘income from trading activities’ except forgains and
lossesonthose derivatives that are managedtogetherwith financialinstruments designated at fairvalue; these gainsandlosses are
includedin ‘otheroperatingincome’.

Hedginginstrumentsinclude futures, forwards, options and swapsintheinterestrate and foreign exchange markets. The Group

utilises theseinstruments to satisfy the requirements of its customers, for proprietary trading purposes and to hedge its own
exposuretointerestratesand currencyrisk.
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6 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued

(i) Derivatives held forrisk management purposes and hedge accounting continued

Where thereisahedgingrelationship between a derivative instrumentand arelateditem beinghedged, the hedginginstrumentis
measured at fairvalue, with any resultant gains andlossesbeingaccounted as set out below.

The fairvalue of derivative hedginginstrumentsis calculatedinthe same way as the fairvalue of financial instruments.

The method of recognising theresulting fairvalue gain orloss depends onwhetherthe derivative is designated as ahedging

instrument, andif so, the nature of theitem being hedged. The Group designates certain derivatives as either:

o Hedgesoftheexposuretochangesinfairvalue of recognised assets orliabilities or firm commitments (fairvalue hedge);

« Hedgesofhighly probable future cash flows attributable to arecognised asset orliability, oraforecasted transaction (cash flow
hedge); or

» Hedgeof netinvestmentinaforeignoperation.

Anembeddedderivativeisacomponent of ahybrid instrument that alsoincludes anon-derivative host contract with the effect that
some of the cash flows of the combinedinstrumentvaryin away similarto astand-alone derivative. Anembedded derivative causes
some orall of the cash flows that otherwise would be required by the contract to be modified accordingto a specifiedinterestrate,
financialinstrument price, commodity price, foreignexchangerate, index of prices orrates, creditrating or creditindex, or other
variable, provided that, inthe case of anon-financial variable, itis not specific to a party to the contract. Aderivative thatisattached
toafinancialinstrument, butis contractually transferable independently of thatinstrument, orhas a different counterparty fromthat
instrument,isnotanembedded derivative, but aseparate financialinstrument.

Hedge accountingis used for derivatives designatedin this way provided certain criteria are met.

(i) Fairvaluehedge

When aderivativeis designated as the hedginginstrumentin a hedge of the changein fairvalue of arecognised asset orliability or
afirm commitment that could affect profit orloss, changesin the fairvalue of the derivative arerecognised immediately in profit or
losstogetherwith changesin the fairvalue of the hedgeditem that are attributable to the hedgedrisk.

If the hedging derivative expires oris sold, terminated, orexercised, orthe hedge nolonger meets the criteria for fairvalue hedge
accounting, orthe hedge designationisrevoked, thenhedge accountingis discontinued prospectively. Any adjustment up to
that pointto ahedgeditemforwhich the effectiveinterest methodis used, isamortised to profit orloss as part of therecalculated
effectiveinterestrate of theitemoveritsremaininglife.

(ii) Cashflowhedge

When aderivative isdesignated as the hedginginstrumentinahedge of the variability in cash flows attributable to a particularrisk
associated witharecognisedasset orliability orahighly probable forecast transaction that could affect profit orloss, the effective
portion of changesinthefairvalue of derivativeisrecognised in OClwithin ‘Cash flow hedges - fairvalue gains /(losses)’. Any gain or
lossinfairvaluerelatingto anineffective portionisrecognisedimmediately inthe Group consolidated statement ofincome.

The accumulated gainsandlossesrecognisedin OClarereclassified to the Group consolidated statement ofincome in the periods
inwhichthe hedgeditemwill affect profitorloss. However, when the forecast transaction thatishedgedresultsin therecognition
of anon-financialasset oranon-financialliability, the gains and losses previously recognisedin OClare removed from equity and
includedintheinitialmeasurement of the cost of the asset orliability.

When ahedginginstrument expires oris sold, orwhenahedge nolonger meets the criteriaforhedge accounting orthe hedge
designationisrevoked, thenhedge accountingis discontinued prospectively,and any cumulative gain orlossrecognisedin OCI
atthattimeremainsinequity untilthe forecast transactionis eventually recognisedin the Group consolidated statement ofincome.
Whenaforecast transactionisnolongerexpectedto occur, the cumulative gain orloss that wasrecognised in OClisimmediately
reclassifiedtothe Group consolidated statement ofincome.
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(iii) Netinvestmenthedges

When a derivative instrument oranon-derivative financiallliability is designated as the hedginginstrumentinahedge of anet
investmentinaforeignoperation, the effective portion of changesinthe fairvalue of the hedginginstrumentisrecognisedin OCI
andaccumulatedinthe translationreserve. Anyineffective portion of the changesin the fairvalue of the derivativeisrecognised
immediately in Group consolidated statement ofincome. The amountrecognisedin OClisreclassified to the Group consolidated
statementof income asanadjustment ondisposal of the foreign operation.

(iv) Derivatives thatdo not qualify forhedge accounting
Certainderivativeinstruments do not qualify forhedge accounting. Changesinthe fairvalue of any derivative instrument that does
not qualify forhedge accounting arerecognised immediately in the Group consolidated statement ofincome.

(v) Embedded derivatives

Derivativesembeddedinfinancial assets, liabilitiesand non-financialhost contacts, are treated as separate derivatives and
recorded at fairvalue if they meet the definition of a derivative, theireconomic characteristics andrisks are not closely related to
those of the host contract, and the host contractis notitself held fortrading or designated at FVTPL. The embedded derivatives
separated fromthe hostare carried at fairvalueinthe trading portfolio with changes in fairvalue recognisedin the Group
consolidated statement ofincome.

(j) Inventory
Propertiesacquiredinsettlement of debtare held asinventory and are stated atlower of cost ornetrealisable value. Directly
attributable costsincurredinthe acquisition of inventoryisincluded as part of cost of the inventory.

Netrealisable valueis the estimated selling price inthe ordinary course of the business, based onmarket prices at the reporting date.

(k) Property, equipmentand depreciation
Propertyand equipment are stated at costless accumulated depreciation and accumulatedimpairment, if any. Historical cost
includes expenditure thatis directly attributable to the acquisition of the assets.

Subsequentcostsareincludedinthe asset’scarryingamount orarerecognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, onlywhenitis
probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of theitem canbe measured
reliably. All otherrepairs and maintenance are charged to the Group consolidated statement of income during the financial periodin
whichtheyareincurred.

Freeholdland andfixed assets not commissioned are not depreciated. The estimated useful life of fixed assets forthe Groupis as
follows:

Freehold premises 25-60years
Freeholdimprovements 10years
Leaseholdimprovements 7years
Furniture, fixtures and office equipment Syears
Computerhardware and software 4-5years
Core banking software 5-7years
Motorvehicles 3-5years

Assetsare depreciated onastraight-line basis overtheirestimated useful lives as given above.

Fixed assets not commissioned are stated at cost. When commissioned, they are transferred to the appropriate property and
equipment category and depreciatedinaccordance withthe Group’s policies.

Gainsandlossesondisposals are determined by comparing proceeds with the carryingamount. These areincludedinthe Group
consolidated statement ofincome.
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6 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued

() Investment properties

The Group holds certainproperties asinvestments to earnrentalincome, for capital appreciation, orboth. Investment properties
are measured initially at cost, including transaction costs. The carryingamountincludes the cost of replacing part of an existing
investment property atthe time that costisincurred, if the recognition criteria are met, and excludes the costs of day-to-day
servicing of aninvestment property. Subsequent toinitialrecognition, investment properties are stated at costless accumulated
depreciationand accumulatedimpairment (if any).

Investment properties are derecognised when eitherthey have beendisposed of orwhen theinvestment property is permanently
withdrawn fromuse and no future economic benefitis expected fromits disposal. Any gains orlosses on the retirement or disposal
of aninvestment property arerecognisedinthe Group consolidated statement ofincomein ‘other operatingincome’inthe year of
retirementordisposal.

Transferstoandfrominvestment properties are made onlywhenthereisachangeinuse based onthe businessmodel.

(m) Intangible assets
(i) Goodwill
Goodwill arises onthe acquisition of subsidiaries.

Goodwillacquiredinabusiness combinationrepresents the excess of the cost of the business combination overthe Group’s
interestinthe netfairvalue of theidentifiable netassets, includingintangibles, liabilities and contingent liabilities of the acquiree.
Whenthe excessisnegative (bargain purchase),itisrecognisedimmediatelyinthe Group consolidated statement ofincome.

Measurement
Goodwillisinitially measured at cost. Followinginitialrecognition, goodwillis measured at cost less any accumulated impairment
losses.

Forthe purpose of impairment testing, goodwillacquiredinabusiness combinationis, fromthe acquisition date, allocated to each
of the Group’s cash-generating units that are expected to benefit fromthe synergies of the combination, irrespective of whether
otherassetsorliabilities of the acquiree are assigned to those units.

The cash-generating unit to which goodwillhas been allocatedis tested forimpairment annually and wheneverthereis anindication
thatthe cash-generatingunit may be impaired. Impairmentis determined forgoodwill by assessing the recoverable amount of each
cash-generating unit(or group of cash-generating units) to which the goodwillrelates. Where the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unitislessthanthe carryingamount,animpairmentlossisrecognisedinthe Group consolidated statement of income.
Impairmentlossesrecognised forgoodwillare notreversedinsubsequent periods.

Where goodwill forms part of acash-generating unitand part of the operationwithin that unitis disposed of, the goodwill associated
withthe operationdisposedofisincludedinthe carryingamount of the operation when determining the gain orloss of disposal of
the operation. Goodwill disposed of in this circumstance is measured based onthe relative fair values of the operations disposed of
andthe portion of the cash-generating unit retained.

(ii) Capitalised software
Software acquired by the Groupis stated at costlessaccumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Subsequentexpenditure on software assetsis capitalised onlywhenitincreases the future economic benefitsembodiedinthe
specific assettowhichitrelates. Allotherexpenditureis expensedasincurred.

Amortisationisrecognisedinthe Group consolidated statement ofincome on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of
the software, fromthe date thatitis available foruse.
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(iii) Otherintangible assets

Intangibles acquired separately are measured oninitialrecognition at cost. The cost of the intangibles acquiredin abusiness
combinationis at fairvalue as at the date of acquisition. Followinginitialrecognition, intangibles are carried at costless any
accumulated amortisationandany accumulatedimpairmentlosses. The usefullives of intangible assets are assessed to be either
finite orindefinite. Intangibles with finite lives are amortised over theirrespective useful lives and assessed forimpairment whenever
thereisanindicationthat theintangibles may beimpaired. The amortisation period and amortisation method forintangibles with
afinite usefullifeisreviewed atleast ateach financialyearend. Changesinthe expecteduseful life orthe expected pattern of
consumption of future economic benefitsembodiedin the asset are accounted forby changing the amortisation period ormethod,
asappropriate, andtreated as changesinanaccounting estimate prospectively. The amortisation expense onintangibles with
finite livesisrecognisedinthe Group consolidated statement of income in the expense category consistent with the function of the
intangibles.

(n) Impairment of non-financial assets
The carryingamounts of the Group’snon-financial assets arereviewed periodically to determine whetherthereis anyindication of
impairment. If any suchindication exists, then the asset'srecoverable amountis estimated.

Animpairmentlossisrecognisedif the carryingamount of anasset orits cash generating unit exceedsitsrecoverable amount. A
cash generatingunitis the smallestidentifiable asset group that generates cash flows thatlargely areindependent from otherassets
and groups. Impairmentlosses arerecognisedinthe Group consolidated statement ofincome. Impairmentlossesrecognisedin
respect of cash generatingunits are allocated first toreduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the unitsand then to
reduce the carryingamount of otherassetsin the unit(group orunits) onaproratabasis.

Therecoverable amount of anasset orcash generatingunitis the greaterof itsvalueinuse andits fairvalue less costs to sell. In
assessingvalueinuse, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a discountrate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money and therisks specific to the asset.

(o) Customerdeposits, debtsissued and otherborrowed funds and sukuks payables
Customer deposits, debtsissued and otherborrowed funds and sukuks payables are the main sources of funding for the Group.

Customerdeposits, debtsissued and otherborrowed funds and sukuks payables are initially measured at fairvalue minus
incremental direct transaction costs, and subsequently measured at theiramortised cost using the effective interest method.

(p) Provisions

Provisions arerecognised whenthe Group has apresent obligation (legal orconstructive), as aresult of past events, anditis
probable (more likely thannot) that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits willbe required to settle the obligation,
and areliable estimate canbe made of the amount of the obligation.
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6 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued

(q) Employee benefits

(i) Pensionobligations

The Group operatesapensionschemeinrespect of eligible UAE nationalemployeesin compliance with the UAE Federal Law on
Pensionsand Social Security. Arrangements for benefits foroverseas employeesis madeinaccordance withlocalregulations and
customs. Full provisionis made forallaccrued benefits.

The Group also pays contributions to trustee administered funds ona contractual orvoluntary basis. The Group hasno further
payment obligations once the contributions have been paid. The contributions are recognised as employee benefit expense when
they are due. Prepaid contributions arerecognised as anasset to the extent thata cashrefund orareductioninthe future paymentsis
available. The entitlement to these benefitsis usually conditional on the employee remainingin service up toretirementage and the
completion of aminimum service period.

(ii) Termination gratuity benefitscheme

Incompliance with UAE labourlaw, the Group has a termination gratuity benefit scheme covering all of its expatriate salaried
employeeswho have beenemployed with the Group formore thanone year. The provision for gratuity isrecorded through the Group
consolidated statement ofincome.

The presentvalue of the gratuity obligations depends onanumber of factors that are determined on anactuarial basis using a
number of assumptions. The assumptionsusedindetermining the netcost/(income)forgratuitiesinclude the discountrate. Any
changesinthese assumptionswillimpact the carryingamount of gratuity obligations. The value of the gratuity obligationsis based
onthereportsubmitted by anindependent actuarial firm.

(r) Dividendsdistributiononshares

Dividends onordinary shares classified as equity arerecognisedinequity inthe yearinwhich they are declared. Dividends on
ordinary equity shares arerecordedinthe yearinwhichthey are declared and, inrespect of the final dividend, have been approved
by the shareholders. Approvalis alsorequired fromthe Central Bank of the UAE in order to make a dividend payment.

The Board considers anumberof factors such as Group’s profitability, growth ambitions, opportunities for future investment and
desire to maintain healthy capitalratiosin excess of the minimum regulatory requirements.

Retained earnings that are not paid out as dividends are deployed within the business to support future profit growth and drive
sustainable dividend growth.

(s) Sharecapitalandreserves

(i) PerpetualBonds

The Group classifies capitalinstruments as financial liabilities orequity instrumentsinaccordance with the substance of the
contractualterms of theinstruments. The Group’s perpetualbonds are notredeemable by holdersand bearan entitiement to
distributions thatisnon-cumulative and at the discretion of the board of directors. Accordingly, they are presented as acomponent
of issued capital within equity. Distributions thereon are recognisedin equity. Relatedincome taxis accounted forinaccordance
withlAS12 - Income taxes.

(ii) Shareissuecosts
Incremental costs that are directly attributable to theissue of an equity instrument are deducted from the initialmeasurement of the
equityinstruments.

(t) Earnings pershare

The Group presents basic and diluted Earnings Per Share (EPS) data forits ordinary shares. Basic EPSis calculated by dividing the
profitorloss attributable to ordinary shareholders (further adjusted forinterest expense onTier | capital notes) of the Group by the
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year. Diluted EPS is determined by adjusting the profit orloss
attributable to ordinary shareholders and the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding for the effects of all diluted
potential ordinary shares, if any.

(u) Operating segments

Formanagement purposes, the Groupis organisedinto operating segments based ontheirproducts, services and certain
subsidiaries which areindependently managed by therespective segment managersresponsible forthe performance of the
segmentsundertheircharge.

The segmentmanagersreportdirectly to the Management of the Group whoregularly review the segmentresultsin orderto allocate

resourcestothe segmentsandto assess the segment performance. Additional disclosures oneach of these segments are shownin
Note 35.
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(v) Related parties

Apartyisconsideredtoberelatedto the Groupif:

(a) the party, directly orindirectly through one ormore intermediaries:
« controls,iscontrolled by, orisundercommon controlwith, the Group;
e hasaninterestinthe Group that givesit significantinfluence overthe Group; or
« hasjointcontroloverthe Group;

(b)the partyisanassociate;

(c) the partyisajointly controlled entity;

(d)the partyisamember of the key management personnel of the Group;

(e) the partyisaclose member of the family of any individualreferred toin(a) or(d);

(f) the partyisanentity thatis controlled, jointly controlled or significantly influenced by or for which significant voting powerin such
entity resides with, directly orindirectly, any individualreferred toin(d) or(e); or

(g9)the partyisapost-employment benefit plan forthe benefit of the employees of the Group, or of any entity thatis arelated party
of the Group.

(w) Revenuerecognition

Revenueisrecognisedwhenacustomerobtains controlof agood orservice. Acustomerobtains controlwhenit has the ability to
direct the use of and obtain the benefits fromthe good orserviceinanamount thatreflects the consideration to which the entity
expectstobeentitledinexchange forthose goodsorservices.

The Group also operates arewards programme which allows customers to accumulate points when they purchase productsonthe
Group’s credit cards. The points canthenberedeemed forshoppingrewards, cashback orairmiles, subject toaminimumnumber of
pointsbeing obtained.

7 STANDARDS ISSUED BUTNOTYET ADOPTED
Certainnew standards, amendments to standards andinterpretations are notyet effective forthe yearended 31December 2024,
withthe Group notopting forearly adoption.

Effective for

annual periods
Newandrevised IFRSs beginningonorafter

Amendments to IAS 21 The Effects of Changesin Foreign Exchange Rates relating to 1January 2025
Lack of Exchangeability

The amendments contain guidance to specify whenacurrencyis exchangeable and how to determine

the exchangeratewhenitisnot.

Amendments to IFRS 9 and IFRS 7 1January 2026
Theamendments address mattersidentified during the postimplementationreview of the classification
and measurementrequirements of IFRS 9.

IFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosuresin Financial Statements 1January 2027
IFRS18includesrequirements forall entities applying IFRS for the presentation and disclosure of

informationinfinancial statements to help ensure they provide relevantinformation that faithfully

represents an entity’s assets, liabilities, equity,income and expenses.

IFRS 19 Subsidiaries without Public Accountability 1January 2027
IFRS 19 specifies the permitted disclosure requirements foran eligible subsidiary to apply instead
of the disclosure requirementsin other IFRS Accounting Standards.

The Group anticipates that these new standards, interpretations, and amendments willbe adoptedinthe Group’s consolidated
financial statements asandwhenthey are applicable and adoption of these new standards, interpretations and amendments may
have no materialimpact onthe consolidated financial statements of the Groupinthe period of initial application.
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8 HYPERINFLATION 10 DUEFROMBANKS
Turkiye hasbeendetermined a hyperinflationary economy under|AS 29 (Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies) Local (UAE) Forelan Total
withthe previous three-yearaccumulatedinflation exceeding 100 percent. |IAS 29 requires non-monetary assets and liabilities of 31December 2024 AED million AEDmiuicg,n AED million
Dgn}zBankA.S.(‘ngzBank’),the Group’ssub§|d|ary|nTurk|ye,to bg restatedto reflecttheqcurrentpr|ces using the Consumer Time loans 16,147 92,492 108,639
PricingIndex (CPl)inthelocal currency of DenizBank before translation to the Group’s functional currency. Overnight, call and short notice 1.095 23 252 24.347
Asat31December2024,the three-year cumulative inflationrate hasbeen 291% (2023: 268%) based on the Turkish CPIl. The Gross due frombanks 17,242 15,744 132,986
consumer priceindexat the beginning of the reporting period was 1,859 and closed at 2,685 resultingin anincrease of 44% (2023: Less: Expected creditlosses (220)
65%). 132,766
« Netnon-monetary position(excluding equity) hasbeenindexed by applying the difference in CPIfrom 31December2023to Local (UAE) Foreign Total
31December2024resultinginagain of AED 1.6 billion (2023: AED 2.3 billion) in the Group consolidated statement ofincome to the 31December2023 AED million AED million AED million
extentdeterminedtoberecoverable. Timeloans 14,260 62,583 76,843
« Monetary assetsand liabilities are already reported at the current measuring unitand are not adjusted forinflation. However, Overnight, calland short notice 561 15 052 15.613
the CPlindexis appliedto measure theloss of purchasing power and for the net monetary position, ahyperinflation adjustment S duef bank 14,821 77 635 92 456
ismadein Group Consolidated statement ofincome, amountingto AED 5.0 billion (2023: AED 5.6 billion) withan equal ross duefrombanks ’ ’ '
Less: Expectedcreditlosses (154)

corresponding creditto OCI.
. Group consolidated statement of income isindexed using the respective period indexmovement for the year. For the year 92,302
ended 31December2024, theindexationimpact onthe Group consolidated statement ofincomeis as follows:

31December  31December The averageyieldonthe above placements averaged 8.06% p.a.(2023:6.16% p.a.).
2024 2023
Hyperinflation  Hyperinflation
InAED Billion Impact Impact 11 INVESTMENT SECURITIES
Total operatingincome 0.43 1.80 Domestic* Regional** International*** Total
Generaland administrative expenses (0.58) (0.69) 31December2024 AED million AED million AED million AED million
Netimpairmentlossonfinancial assets (0.09) (0.06) TRADING SECURITIES MEASURED ATFVTPL
Taxationcharge (0.04) (0.14) Government Bonds 2,826 979 2,675 6,480
Corporate Bonds 1,190 922 480 2,592
During theyearended 31December 2024, the loss due to hyperinflation accounting for DenizBank was AED 3.1billion (2023: AED 4.2 Equity = = 145 145
billion)andisrecognisedinthe Group consolidated statement ofincome as hyperinflation adjustment onnet monetary position. Others - - 1,009 1,009
Overall, the hyperinflation adjustmentresultsina credit of AED 1.8 billion (2023: AED 0.7 billion)in OCl after netting off loss on net 4,016 1,901 4,309 10,226
monetary positionrecognisedin the Group consolidated statement ofincome. DESIGNATED AS AT FVTPL
Equity - 73 2 75

The positiveimpact of 29 bps, arising from the AED 2.8 billion non-monetary items credit adjustment to equity partially offset by AED

4.9 billionindexationimpact onrisk-weighted assets, has beenexcluded fromthe capitaladequacy computations. Others - = 2 8
- 76 7 83
9 CASHAND DEPOSITS WITH CENTRAL BANKS MEASURED AT AMORTISED COST
2024 2023 Government Bonds 91,317 18,250 39,179 148,746
AED million AED million Corporate Bonds 4,380 3,650 1,423 9,453
Cash 6,402 5,950 95,697 21,900 40,602 158,199
Statutory and other deposits with Central Banks 87,377 72,320 . )
’ Less E t tl 1
Interest-bearing placements with Central Banks 295 487 ess: Expectedcreditiosses (103)
Murabahas andinterest-bearing certificates of deposits with Central Banks 10,602 17,285 158,096
Less:Expected creditlosses (m (n MEASURED AT FVOCI - DEBT INSTRUMENTS
104,665 96,031 Government Bonds 3,001 1,362 13,766 18,129
Corporate Bonds 5,539 3,724 3,267 12,530
Thereserverequirements which are kept with the Central Banks of the countriesinwhich the Group operates are not available foruse 8,540 5,086 17,033 30,659
inthe Group’s day to day operations and cannot be withdrawn without the approval of the relevant Central Bank. The level of reserves Less: Expectedcreditlosses (51)
required changes periodicallyinaccordance with the directives of therespective Central Banks. 30.608
MEASURED ATFVOCI - EQUITY INSTRUMENTS
Equity N4 2 94 210
14 2 94 210
Gross Investment securities 108,367 28,965 62,045 199,377
NetInvestment securities 199,223

As at 31December2024, the fairvalue of investment securities measured at amortised cost amounted to AED 153,362 million
(31December2023: AED 135,468 million).
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11 INVESTMENT SECURITIES continued

Domestic* Regional** International*** Total
31December2023 AED million AED million AED million AED million
TRADING SECURITIES MEASURED AT FVTPL
Government Bonds 3,434 2,495 1,138 7,067
Corporate Bonds 1,051 765 443 2,259
Equity - - 12 12
Others - - 491 491

4,485 3,260 2,184 9,929
DESIGNATED ASATFVTPL
Equity - 74 2 76
Others - 3 5 8
- 77 84
MEASURED AT AMORTISED COST
Government Bonds 75,407 19,809 32,290 127,506
Corporate Bonds 5,124 2,857 3,625 11,606
80,531 22,666 35,915 139,112
Less: Expected creditlosses (71)
139,041
MEASURED ATFVOCI - DEBTINSTRUMENTS
GovernmentBonds - 823 14,719 15,542
Corporate Bonds 4,388 1,589 2,015 7,992
4,388 2,412 16,734 23,534
Less: Expectedcreditlosses (40)
23,494
MEASURED ATFVOCI - EQUITY INSTRUMENTS
Equity 97 60 541 698
97 60 541 698
GrossInvestment securities 89,501 28,475 55,381 173,357
NetlInvestment securities 173,246

* Domestic: Theseare securitiesissued withinthe UAE

** Regional: These are securitiesissued withinthe Middle East excluding the UAE.

*** |nternational: These are securitiesissued outside the Middle Eastregion.
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2024 2023
AED million AED million
(@) ByType

Grossloansandreceivables 529,179 480,885
Less: Expectedcreditlosses (27,552) (35,780)
Netloansandreceivables 501,627 445,105

At Amortised Cost
Overdrafts 21,182 22,926
Timeloans 344,958 326,305
Loansagainsttrustreceipts 9,707 8,216
Bills discounted 9,202 8,001
Creditcardreceivables 26,243 24,472
Grossloans - conventional 411,292 389,920
Murabaha 86,497 63,500
ljara 28,908 24,621
Wakala 1,820 935
Istisna'a 1,749 1,688
Creditcardsreceivable 3,685 2,877
Others 603 537
Less: Deferredincome (5,375) (3,193)
Grosslslamic financingreceivables 117,887 90,965
Grossloansandreceivables 529,179 480,885
Total of creditimpairedloans andreceivables 17,639 22,022

(b) ByBusiness Units
Corporate and Institutional Banking 314,777 303,393
Retailbanking 186,850 141,712
501,627 445,105

ljaraassets amountingto AED 5.2 billion (2023: AED 2.9 billion) were securitised for the purpose of issuance of Sukuks payable (refer
Note13and19).

ExpectedcreditlossesonlLoansandreceivableshave beendisclosedinfurtherdetailin Note 45(l).

13 LOANS SECURITISATION

Securitisation of Islamic Financing Receivables
The Group transferred certainidentifiedljara assets totallingto AED 5.2 billion (the ‘co-owned assets’) of its subsidiary, Emirates
Islamic Bank, to EIB Sukuk Company Limited - (the ‘Issuer’), aspecial purpose vehicle formed for the issuance of these sukuk.

Insubstance, the co-owned assetsremainin control of the Group; accordingly these assets continue to be recognised by the Group.
Incase of any default, the Group has provided an undertaking to make good alllosses to the sukuk holders. The assets areinthe
control of the Group and shall continue to be serviced by the Group.
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14 GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLES

Goodwill Intangibles onAcquisition Total

Banking Customer Core deposit

license relationships intangibles Brands
31December2024 AED million AED million AED million AED million AED million AED million
Cost
Balance asat1January 2024 5,632 85 495 913 71 7,096
Exchange and otheradjustments* (12) (33) - - (12) (57)
Balance asat31December2024 5,520 52 495 9213 59 7,039
Less: Amortisation and impairment
Balanceasat1January 2024 5 - 495 913 - 1,413
Amortisationandimpairment fortheyear - - - - - -
Balance asat31December2024 5 - 495 913 - 1,413
Net Goodwill and Intangibles 5,515 52 - - 59 5,626
31December2023
Cost 5,632 85 495 913 71 7,096
Less: Amortisationandimpairment 5 - 495 913 - 1,413
Net Goodwill and Intangibles 5,627 85 - - 71 5,683

* Exchangeandotheradjustmentsrelate totranslation of acquired Goodwillandintangibles pertaining to Emirates NBD Egyptand DenizBankusing the yearend exchange
rate

The goodwillandintangibles were acquired through business combinations. Goodwilland brands have indefinite life and are
reviewed annually forimpairment.

Impairment testing of goodwill

The goodwillacquired through business combinations with anindefinite life isreviewed annually forimpairment by comparing the
recoverable amount based onvalue-in-use calculations for cash generating units (CGUs) to which goodwill has been allocated with
itscarryingvalue.

The goodwillhas beenallocatedto four cash-generating units:
o CorporateandInstitutional Banking

« RetailbankingandWealthManagement

e GlobalMarketsandTreasury

e« EmiratesNBDEgyptS.A.E.

Key assumptions usedinimpairment testing for goodwill
Therecoverable amount of the cash-generating units hasbeen determined based onavalueinuse calculation, using cash flow
projections covering a five-year period and by applying aterminal growthrate thereafter.

The calculation of valueinuseinthe cash-generating unitsis most sensitive to the following assumptions:
e Interestmargins;

» Discountrates;

« Marketshare during the projectionperiod;

» Projectedgrowthratesusedto extrapolate cash flows beyondthe projection period;

o Currentlocal Gross Domestic Product (‘GDP’); and

e Localinflationrates.

Interest margins
Interest margins are based on prevailing market rates at the start of the budget period. These are changed over the budget period
foranticipated market conditions.

Discountrates

Discountratesreflect Management’s estimate of return on capitalemployed (‘ROCE’) requiredin each business. Thisis the
benchmarkused by Management to assess operating performance and to evaluate futureinvestment proposals. Discountrates are
calculated by using the Weighted Average Cost of Capital (WACC").
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Projected growthrate, GDP and localinflationrates
Assumptions are based onpublishedindustryresearch.

Therecoverable amount of goodwill of CGUs, determined onthe basis of value in use calculation, uses cash flow projections
coveringafive yearperiod, withanappropriate terminal growthrate applied thereafter. The forecast cash flows have been
discounted using the WACC (7.5% for UAE and 37.36% for Egypt) in the jurisdiction where the CGU operates. Aone percentage point
changeinthediscountrate orthe terminal growth rate would reduce the recoverable amount of the CGUs as mentionedinthe table
below:

Goodwill Onepercentage Onepercentage
allocated Recoverable changein changeinterminal
toCGUs amount discountrate growthrate
Cash generating units (CGUs) (AED million) (AED million) (AED million) (AED million)
Corporate and Institutional Banking 3,589 103,175 15,851 12,846
Retailbanking and Wealth Management 1,700 124,491 19,126 15,500
GlobalMarkets and Treasury 206 70,767 11,813 9,787
EmiratesNBD EgyptS.A.E 20 2,102 66 22

Basedonthe currentimpairment assessment, goodwillisnotimpaired as at 31December2024.

Intangibles
Acquiredintangibles arerecognised at their ‘fairvalue’ uponinitial recognition.

The specific criteriawhich needsto be satisfied foranintangible asset to be recognised separately from goodwillinan acquisitionis

thattheintangible asset must be clearly identifiable, in that it either;

« Beseparable, thatis, be capable of being separated ordivided fromthe entity and sold, transferred, licensed, rented or
exchanged, eitherindividually ortogetherwith arelated contract, asset orliability; or

« Arisefromcontractual orotherlegalrights, regardless of whetherthoserights are transferable or separable from the entity or
from otherrights and obligations.

Intangibles excluding bankinglicense and brand are amortised using the straight-line method over the usefullife of the asset,
whichis estimatedtobebetween3andllyears.If anindication ofimpairment arises, therecoverable amountis estimatedand an
impairmentlossisrecognisedif therecoverable amountislowerthanthe carryingamount.

The bankinglicense and brands have indefinite lives and are tested forimpairment annually. Forimpairment testing purposes, the

bankinglicense andbrands are allocated to therelevant cash generating unit. Based onthe currentassessment, bankinglicense and
brandsare notimpairedas at 31December2024.
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18 DEBTISSUED AND OTHER BORROWED FUNDS
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2024 2023

AED million AED million

Mediumtermnote programmes 56,014 51,233
Termloans frombanks 13,884 11,909
Borrowingsraised fromloansecuritisations 2,578 2,974
72,476 66,116

Some of the Debtsissued and otherborrowed funds have been hedged for cash flow and fair value risks and amount to AED 25,696

million (2023: AED 28,180 million). For details of hedginginstruments please referto Note 34.

2024 2023
AED million AED million
Accruedinterestreceivable 8,945 6,358
Islamic profitreceivable 376 320
Prepaymentsand otheradvances 2,763 2,693
Sundry debtors and otherreceivables 3,223 3,322
Inventory 3,807 3,746
Deferredtaxasset 420 493
Investment properties 348 359
Others 2,906 4,099
22,788 21,390
16 DUETO BANKS
2024 2023
AED million AED million
Demandand calldeposits 8,302 3,297
Balances with correspondent banks 2,330 2,702
Repurchase agreements with banks 7,412 7,294
Time and otherdeposits 37,443 27,028
55,487 40,321
Theinterestincurred onthe above averaged 5.40%p.a.(2023:4.29%p.a.).
17 CUSTOMERDEPOSITS
2024 2023
AED million AED million
(@) ByType
Demand, calland short notice 262,856 245,523
Time 273,297 236,085
Savings 76,115 67,181
Others(including escrow) 54,509 35,772
666,777 584,561
(b) ByBusinessUnits
Corporate andInstitutional Banking 301,629 248,649
Retailbanking 365,148 335,912
666,777 584,561

Includedinthe above customerdeposits are Islamic deposits totallingto AED 107,193 million (2023: 84,531 million)

Theinterestincurred and profit distribution to depositors onthe above depositsaveraged 6.07% p.a.(2023:4.10%p.a.).
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2024 2023

AED million AED million

Balance asat1January 66,116 53,487
Newissuances 27,689 22,386
Repayments (19,471) (8,050)
Othermovements* (1,858) (1,707)
Balance asat 31December 72,476 66,116

*Represents exchangerate andfairvalue movementsondebtsissuedinforeigncurrency. The Group hedges the foreign currencyrisk on publicissuances through derivative
financialinstruments.

As at31December2024and 31December2023, the outstanding medium term borrowings are falling due as below:

2024 2023
AED million AED million
2024 - 19,278
2025 21,843 11,063
2026 9,089 7,639
2027 12,424 4,660
2028 6,823 7,010
2029 6,740 576
Beyond 2029 15,557 15,890
72,476 66,116

Theinterestrate paid onthe above averaged5.42%p.a.in 2024 (2023:5.06%p.a.).
19 SUKUKS PAYABLE 2024 2023
AED million AED million
Balance asat1January 4,673 3,673
Newissuances* 2,754 1,000
Balance asat 31December 7,427 4,673

*During the year, the Groupissued Sukuks amountingto AED 2,754 millionundera Shariah compliant Sukuk financing arrangement with the maturity falling due inMay 2029.

As at31December2024 and 31December2023, the outstanding Sukuks are falling due as follows:

2024 2023

AED million AED million

2025 1,836 1,836
2026 2,837 2,837
2029 2,754 -
7,427 4,673

The profitrate paid onthe above averaged 3.38% p.a.in 2024 (2023:2.60%p.a.).
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20 OTHERLIABILITIES 2024 2023 24 NETINTERESTINCOME 2024 2023
AED million AED million AED million AEDmillion
Accruedinterest payable 8,065 6,114 Interest and similarincome
Profit payable toIslamic depositors 678 533 Loansandreceivablesto customers 47,380 35,568
Managers’ cheques 3,298 2,690 Loans andreceivablestobanks 1,661 6,431
Trade and otherpayables 9,783 8,014 Investment securities at FVOCI 3,133 2,990
Staffrelatedliabilities 2,226 1,805 Investment securitiesatamortised cost 4141 3,487
Provisionfortaxation (refer Note 32) 2,734 489 Trading securitiesand designated at FVTPL investment securities 591 209
Others 16,042 11,628 Others 2,223 1,346
42,826 31,273 Totalinterestincome 69,129 50,031
Interest and similar expense
21 ISSUED CAPITALAND SHARE PREMIUM RESERVE Deposits from customers (34,814) (19,265)
Authorised, issued and fully paid: 6,316,598,253 ordinary shares of AED 1each (2023: 6,316,598,253 ordinary shares). Borrowings frombanks and financial institutions (2,088) (1,622)
Debtissuedandotherborrowed funds (5,443) (4,140)
Atthe forthcoming Annual General Meeting, the Groupis proposingacashdividend of AED 1pershare fortheyear(2023: AED1.20 Others (415) (212)
pershare)amounting to AED 6,317 million (2023: AED 7,580 million). Totalinterestexpense (42,760) (25,239)
22 TIER | CAPITAL NOTES Netinterestincome 26,369 24,792
The Group hasissued anumberof regulatory Tier1capital notes with details mentionedin the table below. The notes are perpetual,
subordinated and unsecured. The Group can elect not to pay a coupon at its own discretion. Note holders will not have aright to claim 25 INCOMEFROMISLAMIC FINANCING AND INVESTMENT PRODUCTS
the couponandsucheventwillnotbe considered anevent of default. The notes carry no maturity date and have been classified as 2024 2023
equity. AED million AED million
Issuance Month/Year Issued Amount CouponRate Murabaha 4,153 3,559
May 2021 USD 750 million Fixedinterest rate '(Jjatfers ;’gg‘; 21’358
(AED 2.75 billion) witharesetevery ? ’
sixyears. 9,003 7,288
July 2020 USD 750 million Fixedinterestrate
(AED 2.75billion) witharesetevery 26 DISTRIBUTION ONISLAMIC DEPOSITS AND PROFIT PAID TO SUKUKHOLDERS
sixyears. 2024 2023
March 2019 USD1billion Fixed interestrate AED million AEDmillion
(AED 3.67 billion) witharesetevery Distribution to depositors 2,761 1,885
sixyears. Profit paid to sukuk holders 215 115
2,976 2,000
23 RESERVES
Legalandstatutgryreserves . o ' ' . o Distribution onIslamic deposits represents the share of income between depositors and equity holders. The allocation and
Inaccordance with the Bank’s Articles of Association, and in compliance with Decretal Federal Law No. (14) of 2018, aminimum distributionto depositorsis approved by the Profit Equalization Committee, Internal Shariah Supervision Committee of the Group
of 10% of profit should be transferred to anon-distributable legal and statutory reserve until such time as this reserve equals and the Islamic banking subsidiary respectively.
50% of the Bank’sissued capital. Since thelegal and statutoryreserveis equal to 50% of the Bank’sissued capital, profit was not
appropriatedto thelegaland statutory reserve during the year. Profit paid to sukuk holdersrepresents the distribution of returns received inrespect of leased assets transferred to the EIB Sukuk
Company Limited which was specifically formed for this transaction.
Otherreserve

10% of the profitis also transferable to anon-distributable regularreserve until such time as thisreserve equals 10% of the Bank’s
issued capitalas perthe Bank’s Articles of Association. Since theregularreserveis equalto 10% of the Bank’sissued capital, profit
was notappropriatedtotheregularreserve during the year.

Legaland
statutory Regular Other
reserve reserve reserves Total
AED million AED million AED million AED million
AtlJanuary 2024 3,158 631 2,314 6,103
Transferfromretained earnings - - - -
At31December2024 3,158 631 2,314 6,103

Fairvaluereserve
Fairvaluereserveincludesthe netchangeinfairvalue of FVOCI financial assets and the net effective portion of changesin fairvalue
of cashflowhedges.

Currency translationreserve

Currency translationreserve represents the exchange differences arising fromre-translating the opening netinvestmentinforeign
operations.
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27 NETFEEAND COMMISSIONINCOME

2024 2023
AED million AED million
Feeincome* n,716 7,581
Commissionincome onTrade finance products/services 1,170 1,074
Brokerage fees 76 69
Portfolioand othermanagement fees 385 235
Totalfee and commissionincome 13,347 8,959
Fee and commissionexpense (6,554) (4,086)
6,793 4,873
*Thisalsoincludesfeesrelatedtoassetmanagement, earned by the Group ontrustandfiduciary activitiesinwhich the Group holds orinvests assets onbehalf of its
customers.
28 OTHER OPERATING INCOME 2024 2023
AED million AED million
Dividendincome onequity investment measured at FVOCI 1 -
Dividendincome onequity investments measured at FVTPL n 7
Gainfromsale of debtinvestment securities measured at FVOCI 448 380
Gainfrominvestment securities designated at fair value through profit orloss 6 33
Rentalincome 63 62
Gain/(loss)onsale of investment properties/inventories 6) 389
Foreignexchange and derivative income* 3,481 5,946
Otherincome (net) 103 778
4,107 7,595
*Foreignexchangeincome comprises of trading and translation gain/(loss)and gain/(loss) on dealings with customers.
29 GENERALAND ADMINISTRATIVEEXPENSES 2024 2023
AED million AED million
Staff cost 8,282 6,772
Occupancy cost 346 314
Equipmentand supplies 288 244
Information technology cost 808 627
Communication cost 394 379
Service, legaland professional fees 549 366
Marketingrelated expenses 333 317
Depreciation 1,150 825
Amortisation of intangibles - 28
Others 1,601 1,824
13,751 11,696
30 NETIMPAIRMENTLOSS / (REVERSAL)
The charge tothe Group consolidated statement ofincome forthe netimpairmentloss/(reversal)ismade up as follows:
2024 2023
AED million AED million
Netimpairment of cashand deposits with Central Banks - 9
Netimpairment of due frombanks 70 86
Netimpairment of investment securities 44 42
Netimpairment of loansandreceivables(refernote - 451) (404) 4,466
Netimpairment of unfunded exposures 1,069 922
Bad debtwritten off /(recovery) - net (789) (2,173)
Netimpairmentonfinancial assets (10) 3,352
Netimpairment of non-financial assets 16 96
106 3,448
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Thiscomprises of fees payable to the directors of the Group of AED 31 million (2023: AED 31 million).

32 TAXATION

On9December2022,the UAEMinistry of Financereleased Federal Decree-Law No 47 of 2022 on the Taxation of Corporations
andBusinesses, Corporate TaxLaw (‘CT Law’) to enactanew CTregimeinthe UAE. The new CTregime has become effective for

accounting periods beginningonorafter1June 2023.

Asthe Group’saccountingyearends on 31December, the first tax period willbe 1January 2024 to 31December 2024, with the first

returnto be filed on orbefore 30 September2025.

The taxableincome of the entities that arein scope for UAE CT purposesis subject to 9% CTrate. The Groupisin scope of Pillar Two
(i.e exceeding therevenue threshold of EUR 750 millionand operatingin multiple jurisdictions). The Groupisin process of assessing

its potential exposure to Pillar Two income taxes.

The Group’s UAE operations will be subject to Pillar Two effective 1January 2025. The effective taxrateis expectedtobe 15% on
profitearnedinthe UAE(9%in2024). The estimatedimpactbased on 2024 profit equates to AED 1.4 billion.

The amendmentstolAS12introduce atemporary mandatoryrelief fromaccounting fordeferred tax that arises fromlegislation
implementing Pillar Two. The Group has applied the exception torecognizing and disclosinginformation about deferred taxassets

and liabilities related to Pillar Twoincome taxes.

Thetaxcharge foryearended 31December2024is AED 4,133 million, representing Group effective taxrate of 14% (31 December

2023:8%). UAE effective taxrateis 9% and Tlrkiye effective taxrate is 29%.

A. Amountsrecognisedinthe Statement of Income:

2024 2023
AED million AED million
CurrentIncome tax expense:
Currentincometaxcharge 3,858 1,075
Deferred tax expense:
Origination of temporary differences 275 1,060
Reversal of temporary differences - Q)]
Income tax expense reportedinthe Statement of Income 4133 2,134
B. Reconciliation of effective taxrate 2024 2023
AED million AED million
Profit before tax (before hyperinflation) 30,277 27,884
Domestic tax(9%) 2,097 -
Taxinforeignjurisdictions 1,986 2,028
Increaseintaxrates - 192
Tax effect of:
Income nottaxable (58) (162)
Taxable amountnotincludedin PBT - 1
Non-deductible expenses 160 88
Deductible amount notincludedin PBT (2) m
Others (71) (48)
Currentyearlosses forwhichno deferred taxassetisrecognized 21 36
Totalincome tax expense 4133 2,134
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33 EARNINGS PER SHARE

The Group presents basic and diluted Earnings Per Share (EPS) data forits ordinary shares. Basic EPSis calculated by dividing the
profitorloss attributable to ordinary shareholders (furtheradjusted forinterest expense onTier1capital notes) of the Group by the
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year. Diluted EPS is determined by adjusting the profit orloss
attributable to ordinary shareholders and the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding for the effects of all diluted
potential ordinary shares, if any.

2024 2023

AED million AED million

Profit forthe year attributable to equity holders 22,973 21,480
Deduct:InterestonTier1capitalnotes (511) (511)
Net profit attributable to equity holders 22,462 20,969
Weighted average number of equity sharesinissue (million) 6,311 6,311
Earnings pershare* (AED) 3.56 3.32
Adjusted earnings pershare** (AED) 4.06 3.99

*The diluted andbasic earnings pershare were the same forthe yearended 31December2024 and 31December2023.
**Adjusted EPSfortheyearended 31December2024 and 31December2023represent net profit forthe period attributable to equity holders excluding the non-cashimpact
of hyperinflationadjustment onnetmonetary position divided by weighted average number of equity sharesinissue.

34 DERIVATIVES

Derivatives held for risk management

The table below shows the positive and negative fairvalues of derivative financialinstruments, together with the notionalamounts
analysed by the term to maturity. The notionalamountis the amount of aderivative’s underlying asset, referencerate orindex and
isthe basis uponwhichchangesin the value of derivatives are measured. The notionalamounts indicate the volume of transactions
outstanding atyear-end and are neitherindicative of the marketrisk nor credit risk.

31December 2024 notional amounts by term to maturity

Over Over
Positive Negative Notional Within 3months Overlyear 3years Over
fairvalue fairvalue amount 3months tolyear to3years tob5years S5years

AED million AED million AED million AED million AEDmillion AED million AED million AED million

Derivatives held for trading:

Forward foreign exchange contracts 1,076 (854) 253,542 178,753 53,246 15,671 5,326 546
Foreign exchange options 210 (168) 12,591 7,172 4,659 183 577 -
Interestrate swaps/caps 10,453 (9,712) 718,772 99,729 183,200 225,751 99,997 110,095
Commodity options 70 (58) 5,296 438 979 2,889 990 -

11,809 (10,792) 990,201 286,092 242,084 244,494 106,890 110,641

Derivatives held as cash flow hedges:

Interestrate swaps 419 (675) 38,536 5,529 10,851 20,912 815 429
Derivatives held as fair value hedges:
Interestrate swaps 236 (4,530) 26,367 - 1,344 7,411 5,461 12,151

Derivatives held as hedge of anet
investmentin foreign operations:
Forward foreign exchange contracts 4 - 333 43 290 - - -

Total 12,468 (15,897) 1,055,437 291,664 254,569 272,817 113,166 123,221

Hedginginstruments areissued tohedge againstinterestrate and foreign exchangerisks pertaining to hedgeditems. Hedged
itemsinclude certainLoans andreceivables amounting to AED 29,976 million (note 12), Investment securities amounting to AED 8,966
million (note 11), Customerdepositsamounting to AED 265 million (note 17) and Debtissued and other borrowed funds amounting to
AED 25,696 million(note 18). Allthe hedges were determined to be effective ason 31December2024.

The hedged forecast cashflowswhich are expectedto occuroverthe future years and are expectedto affect profitorlossare
insignificant.
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31December 2023 notional amounts by term to maturity

Over Over
Positive Negative Notional Within 3months Overlyear 3years Over
fairvalue fairvalue amount 3months tolyear to3years tobyears Syears

AEDmillion AEDmillion AEDmillion AEDmillion AEDmillion AEDmillion AEDmillion AED million

Derivatives held for trading:

Forward foreign exchange contracts 1,250 (936) 227,032 158,840 53,202 11,289 3,133 568

Foreignexchange options 40 (24) 6,632 3,466 2,351 210 257 348

Interestrate swaps/caps 13,268 (11,794) 634,063 61,273 143,233 215,396 113,695 100,466

Commodity options 36 (36) 2,454 95 821 1,332 206 -
14,594  (12,790) 870,181 223,674 199,607 228,227 117,291 101,382

Derivatives held as cash flow hedges:

Interestrate swaps 350 (786) 31,815 4152 2,315 24,170 349 829

Derivatives held as fair value hedges:

Interestrate swaps 340 (3,808) 30,170 3,143 40 6,180 7,663 13,144

Derivatives held ashedge of anet
investmentinforeign operations:
Forward foreign exchange contracts - (5) 623 330 293 - - -

Total 15,284 (17,.389) 932,789 231,299 202,255 258,577 125,303 115,355

Hedginginstruments areissuedto hedge againstinterestrate and foreign exchangerisks pertaining to hedgeditems. Hedged
itemsinclude certain Loans andreceivables amounting to AED 24,527 million (note 12), Investment securitiesamounting to AED 9,278
million(note 11), Customer deposits amounting to AED Nil(note 17) and Debtissued and borrowed funds amounting to AED 28,180
million(note 18). Allthe hedges were determinedto be effective as on 31December2023.

Derivative product types
Forwards are contractualagreements to eitherbuy orsella specified currency, commodity or financialinstrument at a specific price
anddateinthefuture. Forwards are customised contracts transactedin the over-the-countermarket.

Swaps are contractualagreements between two parties to exchange interest orforeign currency differentials based on a specific
notionalamount. Forinterestrate swaps, counterparties generally exchange fixed and floatingrate interest paymentsbasedona
notionalvalueinasingle currency. For currency swaps, the underlyingamounts are exchanged in different currencies.

Options are contractualagreements that convey theright, butnot the obligation, to eitherbuy orsella specificamount of a
commodity orfinancialinstrument at a fixed price, eitherat a fixed future date orat any time within a specified period.

Derivative related credit risk

Creditriskinrespect of derivative financialinstruments arises from the potential fora counterparty to default onits contractual
obligations andis limited to the positive fair value of instruments that are favourable to the Group and potential future fluctuations.
The majority of the fairvalue of favourable contracts (and therefore creditrisk) is exposure to financial institutions. All credit exposure
ismanagedunderapproved facilities, andinmany cases are collateralised under Credit Support Annex (CSA). The Group takes

a Credit Value Adjustment (CVA) on outstanding derivative transactions. The methodology for CVA calculationrelies on three
components: the probability of default of the counterparty, the expected positive exposure and therecoveryrate. CVAis computed
onallassetclassesincluding Foreign Exchange, Interest Ratesand Commodities.

Derivatives held orissued for trading purposes
Most of the Group’s derivative trading activitiesrelate to sales and position coverage. Sales activities involve offering products to

customers at competitive pricesin orderto enable themto transfer, modify orreduce current and expectedrisks.

Interestrate derivatives tradingis conducted underBoard approved limits.
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34 DERIVATIVES continued

Derivatives held orissued for hedging purposes

Aspartofitsassetandliability management, the Group uses derivatives forhedging purposesinordertoreduceits exposure to
currency andinterestraterisks. Thisis achieved by hedging specific financialinstruments and forecasted transactions aswell as
strategic hedging against overallbalance sheet exposures.

The Group designatesits derivatives held orissued forhedging purposes as:

« Fairvalue hedges: Hedges of the fairvalue of recognised assets orliabilities or firm commitments;

« Cashflowhedges: Hedges of highly probable future cash flows attributable to arecognised asset orliability, ora highly probable
forecast transaction; and

« Netinvestmenthedges: Hedges of netinvestmentsinforeign operations.

Further,interms of the hedging transactions carried out by the Group, the Group documents:

« Attheinceptionofthetransaction, therelationship betweenhedginginstruments and hedgeditems, theriskbeinghedgedand
the Group’srisk management objective and strategy forundertaking a hedge transaction.

« Themannerinwhicheffectivenesswillbe measured throughout thelife of the hedgerelationship.

« TheGroup’sassessment, bothathedgeinceptionand onanongoingbasis, of whetherthe derivatives thatare usedinhedging
transactions are highly effectivein offsetting changesinfairvalues orcash flows of hedgeditems.

Hedge effectivenessismeasured by the Group on aprospective basis atinception, as well asretrospectively (where applicable)
and prospectively overthe term of the hedgerelationship. Sources of ineffectivenessinhedge accountinginclude theimpact

of derivative related creditrisk onthe valuation of the hedging derivative and hedgeditem. To mitigate this creditrisk, the Group
executes hedging derivatives withhigh quality counterparties and the majority of the Group’s hedging derivatives are collateralised.

Fairvalue hedges:

The Group usesinterestrate swapstohedge against changesinvalue of investment securities due tointerestrate movements. These
are designated by the Group as fairvalue hedges and, therefore the fairvalue hedge accountingis applied to hedge movements
inthevalue of fixedinterestrate assets andliabilities subject tointerest raterisk, as well as assets and liabilities subject to foreign
exchangerisk.

Subsequenttoinitialdesignation, changesinthe fairvalue of derivatives designated as fairvalue hedges are accounted forinthe
‘otheroperatingincome’, alongwithany changesinthe fairvalue of the hedged asset orliability attributable to the hedgedrisk.

Cashflowhedges:

The Group usesinterestrate swaps and forwardrate agreements to hedge against the cash flowrisks arising on certain floating rate
customerdepositsand medium-termborrowings. Interestrate swaps are alsoused to hedge against the cash flowrisks arising on
certainfloatingrateloansandreceivables. These are designated by the Group as cash flow hedges, and, as such, the Group applies
cashflowhedge accounting to hedge the variability in highly probable forecast future cash flows attributable to interest raterisk on
variablerate assets andliabilities, and assets and liabilities subject to foreign exchangerisk.

The effective portion of changesin the fairvalue of derivatives designated as cash flow hedges arerecognisedin the fairvalue
reserve withinequity. Any gainorlossrelating to the ineffective portionisrecognised immediately inthe Group consolidated
statementofincome.

Netinvestmenthedges:
Netinvestment hedginginstruments often consist of derivatives such as forward rate which are accounted forin the same manneras
cashflowhedges.

Any gainorloss onthe hedginginstrumentrelating to the effective portion of the hedgeisrecognisedinthe foreign currency

translationreserve withinequity. The gain orlossrelating to the ineffective portionisrecognisedimmediately in the Group
consolidated statement ofincome.
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35 OPERATING SEGMENTS

The Groupisorganisedinto the followingmainbusinesses:

(a) Corporate and Institutional Banking represents corporate loans, customer deposits (including current and saving accounts),
trade finance (including cash), Islamic products (including Emirates|slamic Bank P.J.S.C.) and structured financing for the Group
excluding DenizBank;

(b)Retailbanking and WealthManagement representsretailloans, customer deposits, private banking and wealthmanagement,
Islamic products (including EmiratesIslamic Bank P.J.S.C.), equity broking services, asset management and consumer financing

forthe Group excluding DenizBank;

(c) GlobalMarkets and Treasury activities comprise of managing the Group’s portfolio of investments, funds management, Islamic
products(including Emirateslislamic Bank P.J.S.C.) and interbank treasury operations for the Group excluding DenizBank;

(d)DenizBankismanaged as aseparate operating segment; and

(e) Otheroperations of the Group include Emirates NBD Global Services LLC (formerly known as Tanfeeth LLC), property
management, operations and support functions.

Transactionsbetween operatingsegmentsisonanarm’s-lengthbasisinamannersimilarto transactions with third parties.

Corporateand Retailbanking Global Markets

Institutional and Wealth and
banking Management Treasury DenizBank Others Total
Audited 31December2024 AED million AED million AED million AED million AED million AED million
Netinterestincome andincome from
Islamic products net of distributionto
depositors 5,528 12,474 2,842 7,125 4,427 32,396
Net fees,commissionandotherincome 2,625 5,293 (111) 3,915 16 1,738
Total operatingincome 8,153 17,767 2,731 1,040 4,443 44,134
Generaland administrative expenses (859) (5,3006) (244) (4,478) (2,864) (13,751)
Netimpairmentloss 2,677 (2,440) (43) (493) 193 (106)
Hyperinflation adjustment onnet
monetary position - - - (3,136) - (3,136)
Profitforthe yearbefore taxation 9,971 10,021 2,444 2,933 1,772 27,141
SegmentAssets 392,847 188,264 239,175 165,339 10,957 996,582
Segment Liabilities and Equity 280,583 338,031 42,866 147,244 187,858 996,582
Corporateand  Retailbanking GlobalMarkets
Institutional and Wealth and
banking Management Treasury DenizBank Others Total
Audited 31December2023 AED million AED million AED million AED million AED million AED million
Netinterestincome andincome from
Islamic products net of distributionto
depositors 5,545 11,512 3,276 5,971 3,776 30,080
Net fees, commissionand otherincome 2,160 4,699 462 5,312 315 12,948
Generaland administrative expenses (754) (4,319) (217) (3,663) (2,743) (M,696)
Total operatingincome 7,705 16,21 3,738 11,283 4,091 43,028
Netimpairmentloss 249 (3,866) (49) 30 188 (3,448)
Hyperinflation adjustment onnetmonetary
position - - - (4,229) - (4,229)
Profit forthe yearbefore taxation 7,200 8,026 3,472 3,421 1,636 23,655
SegmentAssets 346,409 143,513 222,723 147,441 2,687 862,773
Segment Liabilities and Equity 233,050 300,891 32,413 133,902 162,517 862,773
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36 SUBSIDIARIES
The direct subsidiaries of the Group are as follows:
Group
% Share

Subsidiaries: holding Nature of business Countryofincorporation
1 BuzzContact Centre Solutions LLC 100 Callcentre managementservices Dubai, U.A.E.
2 DenizBank Anonim Sirketi 100 Banking Turkiye
3  EmiratesFundsLLC 100 Assetmanagement Dubai, U.A.E.
4 Emirates Funds Managers (Jersey) Limited 100 Assetmanagement Jersey, England
5 Emirateslslamic Bank(P.J.S.C.) 99.9 Islamic banking Dubai, U.A.E.
6 EmiratesMoney ConsumerFinanceLLC 100 Consumerfinance Dubai, U.A.E.
7 EmiratesNBD AssetManagementLimited 100 Assetmanagement Dubai, U.A.E.
8 EmiratesNBD Capital (KSA)LLC 100 Investment services KSA
9 EmiratesNBD Capital P.S.C. 100 Investment services Dubai, U.A.E.
10 EmiratesNBDEgyptS.A.E. 100 Banking Egypt

Medium term borrowingand money

11 Emirates NBD Global Funding Limited 100 market transactions Caymanlslands
12 EmiratesNBD Properties LLC 100 Real estate management Dubai, U.A.E.
13 Emirates NBD Securities LLC 100 Brokerage services Dubai, U.A.E.

Emirates NBD Trust Company (Jersey)
14 Limited 100 Trustadministration services Jersey, England
15 ENBDLondonBranchNominee Company 100 Nominee Company forlnvestment business England

EmiratesNBD Global ServicesLLC
16  (Formerly Tanfeeth LLC) 100 Shared services organization Dubai, U.A.E.
17 Emirates NBD CapitalIndia Private Limited 100 Assetmanagement India

Otherentities consolidated by the Group based onanassessment of controlare as follows:

Names

Nature of business

Emirates NBD Global Markets Limited

SPEforfunding purpose

EIB Sukuk Company Limited

SPEforasset securitisation

ElFunding Limited

SPEforasset securitisation

Duringtheyear2024, Emirates National DubaiReal Estate Company LLC was liquidated.
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37 COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

(a) The Group’scommitments and contingencies are as follows:

2024 2023

AED million AED million

Letters of credit 17,118 16,180
Guarantees 80,028 65,428
Liability onrisk participations 416 379
Irrevocableloancommitments* 95,414 66,018

192,976 148,005

*Irrevocable loancommitmentsrepresentacontractual commitment to permit drawdowns on a facility within a defined period subject to conditions precedent and
termination clauses. Since commitments may expire without beingdrawn down, and as conditions precedent to draw down have to be fulfilled the total contractamountsdo
notnecessarilyrepresentexactfuture cashrequirements.

Asat 31December2024 and 31December2023,ECL onunfunded exposures amountedto:

2024 2023
Lifetime ECL Lifetime Lifetime ECL Lifetime
notcredit- ECL credit- notcredit- ECLcredit-
AED million 12-monthECL impaired impaired  12-monthECL impaired impaired
Exposure 193,362 5,967 3,125 149,333 4,013 3,127
Expected creditlosses (903) a77) (2,561) (972) (572) (997)
192,459 5,790 564 148,361 3,441 2,136

Unfunded exposureincludes guarantees, standby letter of credit, liability onrisk participations, customeracceptances and
irrevocableloancommitments.

(b)Acceptances
Acceptancesarerecognisedonthe Group’s consolidated statement of financial position witha corresponding liability. Accordingly,
thereisno off-balance sheet commitmentforacceptances.

(c) Capital Commitments
The Group has capitalcommitments as at 31 December 2024 for branchrefurbishments and automationprojects of AED 1,802
million (2023: AED 928 million).

38 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Emirates NBD Group is majorly owned by Investment Corporation of Dubai(40.92%), entity whichis wholly owned by the
Government of Dubai.

Deposits fromandloans to Dubaigovernmentrelated entities, other than those that have beenindividually disclosed, amount to
5% (2023:5%)and 7% (2023:10%) respectively, of the total deposits andloans of the Group. These entitiesare independently run
businessentities, and all financial dealings with the Group are onnormal commercial terms.

The Group has also enteredinto transactions with certain otherrelated partieswho are non government related entities. Such
transactions were also made on substantially the same terms, includinginterestrates and collateral, as those prevailing at the same

time forcomparable transactions with third parties and do notinvolve more than anormal amount of risk.

Related party balances andtransactions are carried out onnormalcommercialterms and are as follows:

2024 2023
AED million AED million

Loans andreceivables:
To majority shareholder of the parent 57,333 76,028
To parent 2,262 2,278
Todirectorsandrelated companies 1,949 1,658
61,544 79,964
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38 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS continued 40 FINANCIALASSETS AND LIABILITIES
2024 2023 A. Classification of financial assets and financial liabilities
AED million AED million
Customer and Islamic deposits: Thetable below setsoutthe Group’s classification of each class of financial assets and liabilities, and their carrying values.
From majority shareholder of the parent 8,056 8,297 Trading FVOCI-
From parent 2,278 553 securities at Designated FVOCI-debt equity Amortised Hedging Totalcarrying
FVTPL atFVTPL instruments instruments cost instruments value*
10,334 8,850 31December2024 AED million AED million AED million AED million AED million AED million AED million
Financial assets
AEDm?|(|)ic2>: AEDm%ﬁgi Cash and deposits with Central Banks = = = = 104,665 = 104,665
Duefrombanks - - - - 132,766 - 132,766
Investmentin Government of Dubaibonds 6,370 6,377 Investment securities 10,226 83 30,608 210 158,096 - 199,223
Loansandreceivables - - - - 501,627 - 501,627
AED mﬁﬁgﬁ AEDmZHﬂgi Positive fairvalue of derivatives 11,809 = = = = 659 12,468
Others - - - - 24,928 - 24,928
Payments made to otherrelated parties 17 17
Feesreceivedinrespect of funds managed by the Group 24 23 ZZ e SO 219 peann S Y
Directorssittingand otherfee 28 18 Financial liabilities
Duetobanks - - - - 55,487 - 55,487
Key management compensation: Customerdeposits - - - - 666,777 - 666,777
Shorttermemployment benefits 12 104 Debtissuedandotherborrowed funds - - - - 72,476 - 72,476
Post-employment benefits 2 2 Sukuk payable - - - - 7,427 - 7,427
T4 106 Negative fairvalue of derivatives 10,792 - - - - 5,105 15,897
Others - - - - 52,304 - 52,304
10,792 - - - 854,471 5,105 870,368
Key management personnel are those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the
activities of the Group, directly orindirectly. Trading FVOCI-
securitiesat Designatedat FVOCI -debt ) equity Amortised ) Hedging Totalcarryin%
39 GEOGRAPHICALDISTRIBUTION OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES 31December 2023 AEDmilon  AEDmilion  AEDmilon  AEDmilon  AEDmilon  AEDmilion  AEDMmIllion

The Group’s financial position, before takinginto account any collateral held or other credit enhancement, can be analysed by the

) . Financial assets
followingregions:

Cashanddepositswith Central Banks - - - - 96,031 - 96,031
UAE OtherGCC International Total Due frombanks - - - - 92,302 - 92,302

31December2024 AED million AED million AED million AED million Investment securities 9,929 84 23,494 698 139,041 _ 173,246
ASSETS Loansandreceivables - - - - 445105 - 445,105
Cashand depositswith Central Banks 73,463 2,250 28,952 104,665 Positive fairvalue of derivatives 14,594 - - - - 690 15,284
Due frombanks 17,242 27,802 87,722 132,766 Others = = = = 22,567 = 22,567
Investment securities 108,367 19,987 70,869 199,223 24,523 84 23,494 698 795,046 690 844,535
Loansandreceivables 350,468 35,929 115,230 501,627 ; ST
Positive fairvalue of derivatives 1,451 a8 10,576 12,468 Financialliabilities
Customeracceptances 8,276 685 517 9,478 Due tobanks . - - - - 40,321 - 40,321
Property and equipment 3,284 365 4,292 7,941 Customerdeposits - - - - 584,561 - 584,56
Goodwillandlntangibles 5,494 _ 132 5,626 Debtissuedandotherborrowed funds = = = = 66,116 = 66,116
Other Assets 8,990 640 13,158 22,788 Sukuk payable - - - - 4,673 - 4,673

Negative fairvalue of derivatives 12,790 - - - - 4,599 17,389
TOTALASSETS 577,035 88,099 331,448 996,582 Others _ _ _ _ 39741 _ 39741
LIABILITIES 12,790 - - - 735,412 4,599 752,801
DuetoBank 14,228 8,705 32,554 55,487
Custgmerdeposits 490,616 29,493 146,668 666,777 The carryingvalues of the financial assets and liabilities (that are not stated at fair value) are not significantly different to their fair
Debtissuedand otherborrowed funds - - 72,476 72,476 values, exceptforinvestment securities atamortised cost, disclosedinnote11.
Sukuk Payable 7,427 - - 7,427
Negative fairvalue of derivatives 1,600 700 13,597 15,897 B. Fairvalue of financialinstruments
Customer acceptances LS e Sl e The table below analyses financialinstruments measured at fairvalue onarecurring basis. The differentlevelsin the fairvalue
Other liabilities 25,908 1,703 15,215 42,826 , yse: gbasis.
Total equity 126,214 _ _ 126,214 hierarchy have beenldefmed aslfollowlsz o . . S

e Levell.quotedprices(unadjusted)in principal markets foridentified assets orliabilities.
TOTALLIABILITIES AND EQUITY 674,269 41,286 281,027 996,582 o Level2:valuationusinginputs otherthan quoted pricesincluded within Level1thatare observable for the assets orliabilities,
Geographicaldistribution of letters of credit and guarantees 62,997 8,480 25,669 97,146 eitherdirectly(i.e.,asprices)orindirectly(i.e., derived fromprices).

« Level3:valuationusinginputs forthe assets orliabilitiesthatare notbased on observable market data (unobservable inputs).
31December2023
Geographical distribution of assets 528,319 59,241 275,213 862,773
Geographical distribution of liabilities and equity 572,632 29,187 260,954 862,773
Geographicaldistribution of letters of creditand guarantees 50,886 7,251 23,471 81,608
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40 FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES continued

B. Fairvalue of financial instruments continued

Levell Level 2 Level 3 Total
31December2024 AED million AED million AED million AED million
Investment securities
Trading securitiesat FVTPL
Government Bonds 6,480 - - 6,480
Corporate Bonds 2,592 - - 2,592
Equity 145 - - 145
Others 1,009 - - 1,009

10,226 - - 10,226
FVOCI - debtinstruments
Government Bonds 18,108 21 - 18,129
Corporate Bonds 12,530 - - 12,530
30,638 21 - 30,659
FVOCI - equityinstruments 4 - 206 210
Designatedat FVTPL
Equity 10 - 65 75
Others 8 - - 8
18 - 65 83
Positive fair value of derivatives
Derivatives held fortrading - 11,809 - 11,809
Derivatives held as cash flowhedges:
Interestrate swaps - 419 - 419
Derivatives held as fairvalue hedges:
Interestrate swaps - 236 - 236
Derivativesheld ashedge of anetinvestmentinforeign operations:
Forward foreignexchange contracts - 4 - 4
- 12,468 - 12,468
Negative fairvalue of derivatives
Derivativesheld fortrading - (10,792) - (10,792)
Derivativesheld as cashflow hedges:
Interestrate swaps - (575) - (575)
Derivatives held as fairvalue hedges:
Interestrate swaps - (4,530) - (4,530)
Derivatives held ashedge of anetinvestmentinforeign operations:
Forward foreignexchange contracts = = - -
- (15,897) - (15,897)
40,886 (3,408) 271 37,749

The following table shows areconciliation from the beginning balances to the ending balances for the fairvalue measurementsin

Level 3 of the fairvalue hierarchy.

Trading
securities Designated FVOCI-debt FVOCI-equity
atFVTPL atFVTPL instruments instrument Total
AED million AED million AED million AED million AED million

Balance asat1January 2024 - 66 - 15 181
Totalgains orlosses:

-inprofitorloss - Q) - - (V)

-inothercomprehensiveincome - - - Q) Q)
Purchases - - - 92 92
Issues - - - - -
Settlementsandotheradjustments - - - - -
Transfersinto Level 3 - - - - -
Transfersout of Level 3 - - - - -
Balance asat31December2024 - 65 - 206 271
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Levell Level2 Level3 Total
31December2023 AED million AED million AED million AED million
Investment securities
Trading securitiesat FVTPL
Government Bonds 7,067 - - 7,067
Corporate Bonds 2,259 - - 2,259
Equity 12 - - 112
Others 491 - - 491

9,929 - - 9,929
FVOCI - debtinstruments
Government Bonds 15,521 21 - 15,542
Corporate Bonds 7,992 - - 7,992

23,513 21 - 23,5634
FVOCI - equityinstruments 582 1 15 698
Designatedat FVTPL
Equity 10 - 66 76
Others 8 - - 8
18 - 66 84
Positive fairvalue of derivatives
Derivatives held fortrading - 14,594 - 14,594
Derivativesheld as cashflow hedges:
Interestrate swaps - 350 = 350
Derivatives held as fairvalue hedges:
Interestrate swaps - 340 - 340
Derivatives held ashedge of anetinvestmentinforeign operations:
Forward foreign exchange contracts - - - -
- 15,284 - 15,284
Negative fairvalue of derivatives
Derivatives held fortrading - (12,790) - (12,790)
Derivatives held as cash flow hedges:
Interestrate swaps - (786) - (786)
Derivatives held as fairvalue hedges:
Interestrate swaps - (3,808) - (3,808)
Derivatives held ashedge of anetinvestmentin foreign operations:
Forward foreignexchange contracts - (5) - 5)
- (17,389) - (17,389)
34,042 (2,083) 181 32,140
Trading
securities Designated FVOCI-debt FVOCI-equity
atFVTPL atFVTPL instruments instrument Total
AED million AED million AED million AED million AED million
Balance asat1January2023 - 66 - 102 168
Total gains orlosses:
-inprofitorloss - 7 - - 7
-inothercomprehensiveincome - - - 1 1
Purchases - - - 12 12
Settlements and otheradjustments - (7) - (7)
Transfersout of Level 3 - - - - -
Balance asat 31December2023 - 66 - 115 181
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40 FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES continued

B. Fairvalue of financial instruments continued

Thefairvalue of financialinstruments classified as level 3are, in certain circumstances, measured using valuation techniques that
incorporate assumptions thatare not evidenced by the prices from observable current market transactionsinthe sameinstrument
and arenotbasedonobservable marketdata. The Group employs valuation techniques, depending ontheinstrument type and
available market data. Forexample, inthe absence of active market data, aninvestment’s fairvalue is estimated on the basis of an
analysis of theinvestee’s financial position andresults, risk profile and other factors. Favourable and unfavourable changesinthe

value of financialinstruments are determined onthe basis of changesinthe value of theinstruments as aresult of varying the levels of

theunobservable parameters, quantification of whichisjudgmental.
Therehave beennotransfersbetweenlLevellandLevel2during theyearsended 31December2024 and 31December2023.

41 NOTES TO THE GROUP CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

2024 2023
AED million AED million
(a) Analysisof changesincashandcashequivalentduringthe year
Balance atbeginning of year 19,505 36,366
Net cashinflow /(outflow) 34,589 (16,861)
Balance atend of year 54,094 19,505
(b) Analysis of cashandcashequivalents
Cashanddeposits with Central Banks 104,665 96,031
Due frombanks 132,766 92,302
Duetobanks (55,487) (40,321)
181,944 148,012
Less: depositswith Central Banks forregulatory purposes (87,377) (72,320)
Less: certificates of deposits / placements with Central Banks
maturing afterthree months (27) -
Less:amounts due frombanks maturing after three months (70,942) (64,215)
Add: amounts due to banks maturing afterthree months 30,496 8,028
54,094 19,505
(c) Adjustmentfornon-cashitems
Netimpairmentloss/(reversal)oncashand deposits with centralbanks - 9
Netimpairmentlossonloansandreceivables (404) 4,466
Netimpairmentloss/(reversal)oninvestment securities 44 42
Netimpairmentloss onunfunded exposures 1,069 922
Netimpairmentloss/(reversal)ondue frombanks 70 86
Amortisation of fairvalue n7 108
Premium/(discount)onInvestment securities (3,343) (2,433)
Unrealised foreignexchangeloss/(gain) (2) 50
Depreciation/impairment of property and equipment/investment property 1,279 933
Unrealised(gain)/lossoninvestments 14 38
Dividendincome on equity investments (12) (7)
Unrealised gainorlossonFVhedgeditem (790) 132
Loss/(gain) onsale of properties (investment properties/inventories) 6 (389)
Amortisation of intangibles - 28
Amortisation of discount /(premium) on Sukuks 4 -
Hyperinflation adjustment onnet monetary position 3,136 4,229
1,188 8,214
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42 CAPITALMANAGEMENTAND ALLOCATION

The CBUAE supervisesthe Group onaconsolidated basis, and therefore receivesinformation on the capitaladequacy of, and
sets capitalrequirements for, the Group asawhole. Effective from 2017, the capitalis computed at a Group level using the Basel
Il framework of the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision (Basel Committee), afterapplying the amendments advised by
the CBUAE, within national discretion. The Basel lll framework, like Baselll, is structured around three pillars: minimum capital
requirements, supervisory review process and market discipline.

Minimum Capital Requirements
The CBUAE issued Basellll capitalregulations, which cameinto effect from1February 2017, introducing minimum capital
requirements at threelevels, namely Common Equity Tier 1(CET1), Additional Tier 1(AT1) and Total Capital.

Additional capital buffers (Capital Conservation Buffer (CCB)and Countercyclical Capital Buffer (CCyB) - maximumup to 2.5% for
eachbuffer)wereintroduced overand above the minimum CET1requirement of 7%.

Overand above additional capital buffers, the Group as aDomestic Systematically Important Bank (D-SIB)isrequired to keep an
additional D-SIB buffer of 1.5% of the Capital base.

Regulatory Capital

The Group’s capital baseis dividedinto three main categories, namely CET1,ATTand Tier 2(T72), depending on their characteristics.

o CETlcapitalisthe highest quality form of capital, comprising share capital, share premium, legal, statutory and otherreserves,
fairvaluereserve, retained earnings, non-controllinginterest afterdeductions forgoodwilland intangibles and otherregulatory
adjustmentsrelatingtoitemsthatareincludedin equity but are treated differently for capitaladequacy purposes under CBUAE
guidelines.

o ATlcapitalcompriseseligible non-common equity capitalinstruments.

o T2capitalcomprises qualifying subordinated debt, and generalloanloss provisions subject to a maximumlimit of 1.25% of CRWA.

Theregulatory capitalratios exclude theimpact of Hyperinflation accounting on Group’s consolidated financial statements.

The capital overview as perBasellll frameworkis givenbelow:

2024 2023
AED million AED million
Available capital
Commonequity tier1capital 101,273 87,150
Tier1capital 110,402 96,279
Total eligible capital 117,934 102,653
Risk-weighted assets
Creditrisk 602,535 509,947
Market risk 16,550 14,477
Operationalrisk 71,290 59,356
Totalrisk-weighted assets 690,375 583,780
Capital Ratio forconsolidated Group 2024 2023
a.Total capitalratio 17.08% 17.58%
b.Tierlratio 15.99% 16.49%
c.CETlratio 14.67% 14.93%
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42 CAPITALMANAGEMENTAND ALLOCATION continued
Regulatory Capital continued
The capitaladequacyratios as perBasellll capital regulation are given below:

2024 2023

AED million AED million
Common Equity Tier 1 Capital
Share Capital 6,317 6,317
Share premiumaccount 17,954 17,954
Eligiblereserves (13,572) (11,052)
Transitionalarrangement: Partialaddback of IFRS9 ECLimpactto CETI 921 2,777
Retained earnings 103,287 85,399
Dividend expected/proposed! (6,317) (7,580)
Eligible amount of non-controllinginterest = -
CET1capital before the regulatory adjustments and threshold deduction 108,590 93,815
Less:Regulatory deductions (7,317) (6,665)
Total CET1capital after the regulatory adjustments and threshold deduction (A) 101,273 87,150
Additional Tier 1 Capital
Eligible AT1capital 9,129 9,129
OtherAT1Capital(e.g. Share premium, non-controllinginterest) - -
Total AT1capital (B) 9,129 9,129
Tier 2 Capital
Tier2Instruments e.g. subordinatedloan - -
OtherTier2 capital(including General Provisions, etc.) 7,532 6,374
Total Tier 2 Capital (C) 7,532 6,374
Total Regulatory Capital (A+B+C) 117,934 102,653

'Proposeddividendfortheyearended 31December2024issubjecttoshareholders’ approval at Annual General Meeting.

43 FUND MANAGEMENT

The Group manages anumberof fundswhich are not consolidatedinthe financial statements. The fundshave norecourse to the
general assets of the Group and further the Group has norecourse to the assets of the funds. Third party funds managed by the
Groupwere AED 76,283 millionat 31December2024(2023: AED 39,756 million).

44 ASSETSHELDINFIDUCIARY CAPACITY
The Group holds assetsina fiduciary capacity and provides custodian services forsome of its customers. The underlying assets held
inacustodial or fiduciary capacity are excluded fromthe Group consolidated financial statements.

45 RISKMANAGEMENT

The primaryrisks to the Group arise from extending credit to corporate andinstitutional banking and retail banking customers.
The Groupis also exposedtoarange of otherrisk types such as market, operational, liquidity, compliance, reputational, country,
conduct,legaland environmental and social risks that drive the direction of its risk management, product range andrisk
diversificationstrategies.

Risk Management Framework:
Theriskmanagement framework enables the Group to manage group-wide risks with the objective of maximisingreturns while
adheringto ourrisk appetite.

The Group usesthreelines of defence modelto supportits approachtoriskmanagement by clarifyingresponsibility, encouraging

collaboration, and enabling efficient coordination of risk and control activities. The three lines of defence are summarised below:

« Businessunits:required to ensure the effective management of risks within the scope of theirdirect organisational
responsibilities. Allemployees within the businessunits are sufficiently trained and have access to appropriate tools to ensure
risk-takingis controlled. Eachbusinessunit primarily owns the risk that it underwrites andis equally responsible for designing and
implementing necessary controls to mitigate risks emanating fromits activities.

« Riskcontrolunits: responsible forimplementing policies and procedures, monitoring risks taken to ensure all risks are within the
Group’sriskappetite. Appropriate controls are designed andimplemented withadequate reportingin place to anticipate future
risks andimprove the level of preparedness across the Management chain.

« GrouplInternal Audit: providesindependent assurance andreportsits findings to allrelevant Management and governance
bodies, accountable line managers, relevant oversight function and committee(s) of the Board.
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A. Riskgovernance
The Group’srisk governance structure ensures central oversight and controlwith clearaccountability forand ownership of risk.

The Board of Directors (the Board) has the ultimate responsibility for setting the Group’s risk appetite and for the establishment
and oversight of the Group’s risk management framework. Thisis managed through anumber of committees; namely Board Risk
Committee (BRC), Board Credit & Investment Committee (BCIC) and Board Audit Committee (BAC).

The Managementlevel committees also actively managerisk. Key onesinclude Group Risk Committee (GRC), Model Oversight
Committee (MOC), Management Credit Committee (MCC), Management Investment Committee (MIC) and Group Asset Liability
Management Committee (Group ALCO).

BRC supportsthe Board withitsrisk oversightresponsibilities withregards torisk governance, risk appetite and the risk
management framework. The BRC approvesrisk policies and reviewsreports and updates onrisk managementincludingrisk profile,
portfoliotrends, stress testing, liquidity and capitaladequacy andis authorised toinvestigate or seek any informationrelating to any
activity withinits terms of reference.

BCIC supportsthe Boardto manage the creditandinvestment portfolio andisresponsible forapproval of creditandinvestment
decisions above the MCC and MIC’s authority, which do not meet the Board’s materiality threshold. It oversees the execution of
Group’s creditriskmanagement approachandreviews the credit profile of material portfolios to ensure alignment withbusiness
strategy andrisk appetite.

The primaryrole of BACis to have oversightandreview of financial, auditandinternal controlissues aswell as oversee the
independence and performance of the Group’s externalandinternal auditors.

MCCisamanagementlevel committee with delegated authority to carry out credit lending decisions including but not limited
toapprovalandrenewal of credit facilities, review, and monitoring of portfolio performanceinline with the creditrisk strategy,
decisions ondebtsettlement, provisioning write off and amendments to pricing, grades, and waivers.

Therole of the MICisto support the Boardinthe management of the Group’sinvestment portfolios aswellas the monitoringand
reporting of theirperformance to ensure they conform to the Group’s strategic vision.

The Group ALCOisresponsible forbalance sheet management, the funding plan, the management of capital and the establishment
of,and compliance with, policiesrelating to balance sheet management, including management of liquidity, capitaladequacy,
structural foreign exchange andinterestrate risk. The committee alsoreviews the contingency funding planaswell as the funds
transferpricing framework, and other key matters.

The GRCis aseniormanagement committeeresponsible forthe management of allrisks through out the Group otherthanthose
delegatedtoMCC,MIC and Group ALCO and ensures the effective management of riskin support of the Group’s business
strategy and Group’srisk appetite. The committee supports Board Risk Committeesinthe review of policiesto ensure effective
management of risks the Group faces, including credit, market, operational, reputational, compliance, legal, conduct and
environmental and social risks.

The MOC asub-committee of GRC, isresponsible for the oversight of modelrisk management withinthe Group. The MOC oversees
all stages of the modellife cycle foreffective identification, measurement, monitoring, controlling, mitigationandreporting of
modelriskinaconsistentmannerandincompliance withapplicable internaland regulatory standards.

B. TheRisk Function

The Risk Functionisindependent of the business (origination, trading and sales functions) to ensure that the necessary balance
inrisk/return decisionsis not compromised by pressures forbetterresultsinterms of revenues and to ensure transparency of
decisionsinaccordance with Group standards and policies.

The Risk Functionassistsin controlling and actively managing the Group’s overallrisk profile. The role of the functioniis:

« Toensuretheriskmanagement frameworkis effectively communicated andimplemented across the Group andis appropriate to
the Group’s activities.

« Toexercisedirectownership forvariousrisktypesincludingbut notlimited to credit, market, country, operational, reputational
risks.

« Toensurethatthe Group’s business strategies, risk policies, procedures and methodologies are consistent with the Group’s risk
appetite.

« Toensuretheintegrity of the Group’srisk/return decisions guaranteeing theirtransparency.

« Toensurethatappropriateriskmanagementarchitecture and systems are developed andimplemented.
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45 RISKMANAGEMENT continued

C. Riskappetite

Therisk appetite statementis anarticulation of therisk that the Groupis willingto accept, underwrite and/orbe exposedtointhe
normal course of itsbusiness conduct.

Therisk appetite statementisa critical component and extension of the risk management framework. Itisused by the Group to
proactively establishand subsequently monitorthe Group’srisk profile using a set of pre-defined key risk metrics andrespective
thresholds.

D. Creditrisk

Creditriskistherisk of financialloss, should any of the Group’s customers, clients or market counterparties fail to fulfil their
contractual obligationto the Group. Creditrisk arises mainly frominterbank, corporate, andinstitutional banking, business banking,
private banking andretailbankingloansand advances, andloan commitments arising from suchlending activities, but canalso
arise from creditenhancements provided, such as credit derivatives (credit default swaps), financial guarantees, letter of credit,
endorsement, and acceptances.

The Groupis also exposedto othercreditrisks arising frominvestmentsin debt securities and other exposures arising fromits trading
activities (‘trading exposures’)including non-equity trading portfolio assets and derivatives as well as settlement of balances with
market counterpartiesandreverserepurchase agreements.

Creditrisk management

Group’sapproachto creditriskmanagementisbased onthe foundation of independence andintegrity of riskmanagement as well
asapplicableregulatory standards. Thisis ensured through a well-defined androbust organisation structure duly supported by
variousrisk committees, forums, systems, policies, procedures and processes providing a strongriskinfrastructure and management
framework.

The Group’s credit policy focuses onthe core credit principles, lending guidelines and parameters, controland monitoring
requirements, problemloanidentification, management of high-risk counterparties provisioning and write-offs. Standard procedures
specifictobusinessesareinplace tomanage various types of risks across different business segments, products and portfolios.

Portfolio performanceisregularly measured against therisk appetite parametersandbreaches, if any, are actioned by the Group’s
seniorManagement.

Corporate and Institutional Banking, Business Banking and Private Banking credit risk management:

Creditfacilities are granted based on the detailed creditrisk assessment of the counterparty. The assessmentisundertakenin
accordance with Bank’s policiesand procedures and considers therisk profile & characteristics of the obligoralong with drivers
of theircredit performance. Further, the assessment considersamongst otherthings, the purpose of the facility, sources of re-
payment, prevailing and potentialmacro-economic factors, industry trends, customers’ credit worthiness and standing within the
industry.

The credit facility administration processis undertaken by anindependent functionto ensure proper execution of all credit
approvals, maintenance of documentation and proactive controls over maturities, expiry of limits and collaterals.

Operations are managed by independent unitsresponsible forprocessing transactionsinline with creditapprovals and standard
operating guidelines.

Management of Early Alert (EA), Watch List (WL) and Impaired Non-Performing Loans (NPL)

The Group has awell-defined process foridentification of EA, WLand NPLaccounts and dealing with them effectively. There are

policies which govern credit grading of these accounts and theirimpairment, inline withIFRS andregulatory guidelines. Once an
accounthasbeclassifiedas NPL, itis assessed forrecoverability by anindependent Group Financial Restructuringand Remedial
(FRR)unitreporting directly to Group Chief Risk Officer (‘(GCRO’) to ascertain commensurate levels of provisions.
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Retail banking creditrisk management:

The Group has a structured management framework forretail banking risk management. The framework enables the Groupin
identificationand evaluation of the significance of all credit risks that the Group faces, which may have an adverse materialimpact on
its financial position.

Intheretailbanking portfolio, losses stem from outright default due to inability orunwillingness of a customerto meet commitments
inrelationtolendingtransactions.

The Group’s provisioning policy, whichisinline with the IFRS and the regulatory guidelines, allows the Group to prudently recognise
impairment onitsretail portfolios.

Creditapproving authorities

The BOD has delegated creditapproving authorities to the BCIC,MCC, MIC and members of seniorManagement to facilitate and
effectivelymanage the business. However,inline withregulatory standards, BOD hasretained the ultimate authority to approve
credits beyond BCIC authority.

Creditrisk measurement

The estimation of creditrisk forrisk management purposeis complex andrequires use of models, as the risk exposure varies with
changesinmarket condition, expected cash flows and the passage of time. The assessment of creditrisk entails further estimations
astothelikelihood of defaults occurringand of the associated lossratios. The Group quantifies credit risk using Probability of
Default, Exposures at Defaultand Loss Given Default. The same parameters are used to calculate ECLunder|IFRS 9.

Creditrisk grading

The Group usesinternal creditrisk grading that reflectsits assessment of the probability of default of individual counterparties. The
Group usesinternalrating models tailored to various categories of counterparty to capture borrower andloan specific information
collected at the time of facility application (such as disposableincome, level of collateral forretail exposure, turnoverandindustry
type considerations.

The credit grades are calibrated to historical default data, such that therisk of defaultincreases exponentially at each higherrisk
grade. Forexample, the differenceinthe PDbetweenalAand2Arating gradeislowerthanthe differenceinthe PDbetweena 3Aand
4Arating grade.

The following are additional considerations foreach type of portfolio held by the Group:

Retail:

Afterthe date of initialrecognition, for retail business, the payment behaviour of the borroweris monitored on a periodic basis
to develop abehavioural score. Any otherknowninformation about the borrowerwhichimpacts their credit worthiness such as:
unemployment and previous delinquency historyis alsoincorporatedinto the behaviourscore. ThisscoreismappedtoaPD.

Corporate and|nstitutional Banking, Business Banking and Private Banking:

Ratings are determined at the borrowerlevel for these segments. Arelationship/portfolio managerincorporates any updated or
newinformation/creditassessmentinto the credit systemonanongoingbasis. Inaddition, therelationship manageralsoupdates
information about the creditworthiness of the borrower every year fromsources such as, but not limited to, published financial
statements. This willdetermine the updatedinternal creditratingand PD.

Treasury:

Fordebtsecuritiesinthe Treasury portfolio, externalrating agency credit grades are used. These published grades are continuously
monitored and updated. The PDs associated with each grade are determined based onrealised default rates over the prior12
months, as published by theratingagency.

The Group’srating method comprises of 25 rating levels forinstruments notin default (1to 25)and 3 default classes (26 t0 28). The
Group'sinternalrating scaleis mapped with externalratings. The master scale assigns eachrating category a specified range of
probabilities of default, whichis stable overtime. Therating models are reviewed forrecalibration so that they reflect the latest
projectionsinthelight of allactually observed defaults.
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D. Creditrisk continued

Creditrisk measurement continued

ECLmeasurement

IFRS 9 outlines a ‘three-stage’ model forimpairment based on changesin credit-quality since initial recognition as summarised

below:

« Afinancialinstrument thatisnot credit-impaired oninitial recognitionis classified as Stage Tand hasits credit risk continuously
monitored by the Group.

« Ifasignificantincreaseincreditrisk ('SICR’)sinceinitialrecognitionisidentified, the financialinstrumentis movedto Stage 2butis
notyetdeemedto be creditimpaired.

« Ifthefinancialinstrumentis credit-impaired, the financialinstrumentis then movedto Stage 3.

« Financialinstrumentsin Stage 1have theirECL measured atanamount equalto the portion of lifetime ECL that results from default
events possible withinthe next12 months. Instrumentsin Stages 2 or 3have theirECL measured based on alifetime basis.

o ECLismeasuredafterfactoring forward-lookinginformation.

« ECLonPurchaseororiginated credit-impaired financial assetsis measured on alifetime basis.

Significantincreasein creditrisk
The Group considers afinancialinstrument to have experienced a significantincreasein credit risk when one or more of the following
quantitative, qualitative orbackstop criteria have beenmet:

Quantitative criteria

Corporate andInstitutional Banking, Business Banking and Private Banking:
Significantincreasein creditriskis measured by comparing the risk of default estimated at origination with the risk of default at
reportingdateinadditionto assessing qualitative and quantitative factors.

Retail:
Thresholds have beenset foreach portfolio based on historical defaultrates. Facilities exceeding the threshold are considered for
significantincreasein creditrisk.

Qualitative criteria:

The Group also considersinits assessment of significantincrease in creditrisk, various qualitative factorslike significant adverse
changesinbusiness, deteriorationinfinancial performance, otheravailable publicinformation from external parties such asrating
agencies/creditbureau, extension of term granted, actualand expected forbearance orrestructuring, early sign of cash flows and
liquidity problems.

Backstop:
Abackstopisapplied, andthe financialinstrument considered to have experienced asignificantincreasein creditriskif the
borroweris more than 30 days past due onits contractual payments.

The IFRS9 Governance Forumisthe committee responsible forthe oversight of provisions. The committee hasreviewed the
calculation process, methodology, and theresults of provisions as presented by the GCRO. Further, the Board approved the
provisioning process and associated provisions as presented by the GCRO, as perArticle 9.16 (Standards) of the Credit Risk
Management Regulationand accompanying Standards, CircularNo. 3/2024 dated 25/7/2024.

Definition of default and credit-impaired assets
The Group defines afinancialinstrumentasindefault, whichis fully aligned with definition of credit-impaired, whenit meetsone or
more of the following criteria:

Quantitative:
The borrowerismore than 90 days past due onits contractual payments.

Qualitative:

The borrower meetsunlikeliness to pay criteria, whichindicates the borrowerisinsignificant financial difficulty. Indicators of
unlikeliness to pay may include, but are notlimited to, sector crisis, repeatedrestructurings, significant deteriorationin operating
assets, and highlikelihood of bankruptcy.
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Curing

The Group continues to monitorsuch financialinstruments foraprobationary period of up to 24 months, depending onthe
repayment frequency, to confirmif therisk of default has decreased sufficiently before upgrading such exposure from Lifetime ECL
(Stage 2)to12months ECL (Stage ).

The Groupis observingaprobationary period of aminimum of 3instalments (forrepayments which are on a quarterly basis or shorter)
and12months(incaseswhereinstalmentsare onalongerfrequency than quarterly) afterthe restructuring, before upgrading such
exposure from Stage 3to 2.

Forward-lookinginformationincorporatedinthe ECLmodel

The forward-lookinginformationisincorporated through macro adjusted PD and LGD parameters which thereby affect the stage
and ECL.The Group has performed historical analysis andidentified key economic variablesimpacting creditriskand ECL foreach
portfolio.

These economic variables and theirassociatedimpactonPD, EAD and LGD vary by financialinstrument. Expertjudgement has also
beenappliedinthis process. Forecast of these economic variables (the ‘base, upside and downside economic scenario along with
scenarioweighting’) are obtained externally on a quarterly basis.

Theimpact of these economic variablesonthe PD, EAD and LGD has been determined by performing statistical analysis to
understandtheimpact changesinthesevariableshave had historically on defaultratesand onthe components of LGD and EAD.

As withany economic forecasts, the projections and likelihoods of the occurrence are subject to ahigh degree of inherent
uncertainty and therefore the actual outcomes may be significantly different to those projected.

Creditrisk monitoring

Corporate and Institutional Banking, Business Banking and Private Banking: The Group’s exposures are continuously monitored
through a system of triggers and early warning signals. These are supplemented by monitoring of account conduct, assessment of
collateraland marketintelligence and early alerts.

Early Alertaccounts areidentified based on oversight, vigilance andrisk triggers. Account strategy and actionplans on these
accounts areregularly monitored and discussedinthe Early Alert Committee meetings.

Additionally, forIFRS 9 ECL computation, credit exposures are monitored andreported as perIFRS 9 andregulatory requirements.
Stage migrations, any exceptionsto SICR criteria, and other creditandimpairment related matters are reviewed and approved by
IFRS 9 Governance Forum.

Retailbanking: risks of the Group’sloan portfolio are continuously assessed and monitored on the basis of exceptions, management
informationreports andreturns generated by the business and credit units. Creditriskis also monitored onan ongoing basis with
formalmonthly and quarterly reporting to ensure that seniorManagementis aware of shiftsinthe credit quality of the portfolio along
with changing externalfactors.

Group creditrisk mitigation strategy
The Group operates within prudential exposure ceilings set by the Boardinline with UAE Central Bank guidelines. There are well laid

out processesforexceptionmanagement and escalation.

The Group has adopted measures to diversify the exposures to various sectors. Diversificationis achieved by limiting concentration
through setting customer, industry and geographical limits.

Therisk transferinthe form of syndicated loans, risk participation agreements with otherbanks, credit default swaps and sale of
loans are globally accepted practices followed by the Group, where appropriate, to limitits exposure.
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D. Creditrisk continued

Creditriskmeasurement continued

Collateralmanagement

Collateralsand guarantees are effectively used as mitigating tools by the Group. The quality of collateralis monitored and assessed
periodically,and the Group seeks to ensure enforceability of the collateral. Major categories of collateralsinclude cash/ fixed
deposits,inventories, shares, guarantees(corporate, bank and personal guarantees), immovable properties, receivables, gold and
vehicles.

Collaterals arerevaluedregularly as perthe Group’s credit policy and applicable regulations. Inaddition,ad hoc valuations are also
carriedoutdependingonthe nature of collateraland generaleconomic condition. This enables the Group to assess the fairmarket
value of the collateraland ensure thatrisks are appropriately managed. Security structures and legal covenants are also subject to
regularreview.

When eligible collaterals are usedin calculating provisions for stage 3 accounts, the Group employs haircuts which are conservative
vis-a-visregulatoryrequirements.

PleaserefertoPillarlll disclosures foradditionalinformation on collaterals.

Write offs

Loansanddebtsecuritiesincorporate andinstitutional banking are written off (either partially orin full) when thereisnoreasonable
prospectofrecovery, typicallymore than 5 years days past due, broadly aligned withregulatory requirements. Financial assets
thatare written off could stillbe subject to enforcement activitiesin orderto comply with the Group’s procedures forrecovery of
amounts due.

Non-performing consumerloans and credit cards, except formortgage facilities and overdrafts, are written off at 181days past due.
Allreceivablesremain active ontheloan management system forrecovery and any legal strategy the Group may deemfit touse.

E. Analysis by economic activity forassets
The Group monitors concentrations of credit risk by economic activity sector. The analysis by economic activity is as follows:

2024 2023
Loans and Loansand

Receivables Others* Receivables Others*

AED million AED million AED million AED million

Manufacturing 29,137 2,128 28,305 1,614
Construction 10,629 325 11,5635 338
Trade 35,025 2 32,397 142
Transportand communication 40,632 1,545 32,798 1,501
Utilitiesand services 26,824 2,056 27,71 2,041
Sovereign 66,505 173,355 81,432 150,115
Personal 161,195 - 132,727 -
Realestate 46,360 239 45,605 -
Hotelsandrestaurants 12,336 - 9,476 -
Management of companies and enterprises 36,233 - 37,694 -
Financialinstitutions andinvestment companies 31,521 152,179 23,220 108,865
Agriculture 16,328 - 4,359 -
Others 21,829 534 16,819 1,197
Total Assets 534,554 332,363 484,078 265,813
Less: DeferredIncome (5,375) - (3,193) -
Less: Expectedcreditloss (27,552) (374) (35,780) (265)
501,627 331,989 445,105 265,548

*Othersinclude due frombanks andinvestment securities.
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Asof 31December2024 Trading
securities Designated FVOCI-debt FVOCI-equity Amortised
atFVTPL atFVTPL instruments instruments cost Total
Ratings AED million AED million AED million AED million AED million AED million
AAA 36 2 75 - 2,283 2,396
AA-to AA+ 3,158 - 6,247 - 116,136 125,541
A-to A+ 923 - 6,882 - 18,109 25,914
LowerthanA- 4,663 3 14,900 1 15,342 34,909
Unrated 1,446 78 2,555 209 6,329 10,617
Less: Expectedcreditlosses - - (51) - (103) (154)
10,226 83 30,608 210 158,096 199,223
Ofwhichissuedby:
Trading
securities Designated FVOCI-debt FVOCI-equity Amortised
atFVTPL atFVTPL instruments instruments cost Total
AED million AED million AED million AED million AED million AED million
Governments 6,480 - 18,129 - 148,746 173,355
Public sectorenterprises 2,551 - 10,530 - 9,355 22,436
Private sectorand others 1,195 83 2,000 210 98 3,586
Less: Expectedcreditlosses - - (51) - (103) (154)
10,226 83 30,608 210 158,096 199,223
Asof 31December2023 ‘
Trading
securities Designated FVOCI-debt FVOCI-equity Amortised
atFVTPL atFVTPL instruments instruments cost Total
Ratings AED million AED million AED million AED million AED million AED million
AAA - 2 40 - 2,713 2,755
AA-to AA+ 3,773 - 2,845 - 95,304 101,922
A-to A+ 1,071 - 4,362 - 19,648 25,081
LowerthanA- 4,257 3 15,802 1 13,886 33,949
Unrated 828 79 485 697 7,561 9,650
Less: Expectedcreditlosses - - (40) - (71) (1)
9,929 84 23,494 698 139,041 173,246
Ofwhichissuedby:
Trading
securities Designated FVOCI-debt FVOCI-equity Amortised
atFVTPL atFVTPL instruments instruments cost Total
AED million AED million AED million AED million AED million AED million
Governments 7,067 - 15,542 - 127,506 150,115
Public sectorenterprises 2,053 - 6,954 1 10,989 19,997
Private sectorandothers 809 84 1,038 697 617 3,245
Less: Expectedcreditlosses - - (40) - (71) (1)
9,929 84 23,494 698 139,041 173,246
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G. Risk gross maximum exposure

The table below shows the gross maximum exposure to creditrisk forthe components of the Group consolidated statement of
financial position,including derivatives. The maximum exposure is shown gross, before the effect of use of masternettingand

collateralagreements.

2024 2023

AED million AED million

Depositswith Central Banks 98,263 90,081
Due frombanks 132,766 92,302
Investment securities 197,776 171,861
Loansandreceivables 501,627 445,105
Positive fairvalue of derivatives 12,468 15,284
Customeracceptances 9,478 8,468
Total (A) 952,378 823,101
Contingent liabilities 97,562 81,987
Irrevocableloancommitments 95,414 66,018
Total (B) 192,976 148,005
Total creditrisk exposure (A +B) 1,145,354 971,106

H. Credit quality analysis

The following table sets outinformationabout the credit quality of financial assets measured at amortised cost. Unless specifically

indicated, forfinancial assets, the amountsinthe tablerepresent gross carryingamounts.

Lifetime ECL Lifetime

notcredit- ECL credit-
12-month ECL impaired impaired Total
31December2024 AED million AED million AED million AED million
Balance at1January 433,219 25,644 22,022 480,885
Transfers fromstagell (14,749) 14,749 - -
Transfersfromstage 2 4,194 (10,627) 6,433 -
Transfersfromstage 3 - 626 (626) -
New financial assets, net of repayments 65,104 (4,387) (3,172) 57,545
Amounts written off during the year - - (6,451) (6,451)
Exchange and otheradjustments (1,356) (877) (567) (2,800)
Total grossloans andreceivables 486,412 25,128 17,639 529,179
Expectedcreditlosses (5,767) (6,223) (15,562) (27,552)
Carrying amount 480,645 18,905 2,077 501,627

By business units

Corporate Banking 306,757 15,097 13,221 335,075
RetailBanking 179,655 10,031 4,418 194,104
Total grossloans andreceivables 486,412 25,128 17,639 529,179
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Lifetime ECL Lifetime

notcredit- ECLcredit-
12-monthECL impaired impaired Total
31December2023 AED million AED million AED million AED million
Balance at1January 399,698 29,057 27,254 456,009
Transfersfromstagel (10,05¢) 8,040 2,016 -
Transfersfromstage 2 3,994 (10,230) 6,236 -
Transfersfromstage 3 33 81 (M4) -
New financial assets, net of repayments 43,933 (1,923) (6,810) 35,200
Amounts written off during the year - - (8,059) (8,059)
Exchange and otheradjustments (4,383) 619 1,499 (2,265)
Total grossloans andreceivables 433,219 25,644 22,022 480,885
Expectedcreditlosses (6,266) (7,596) (21,918) (35,780)
Carryingamount 426,953 18,048 104 445,105

By business units

Corporate Banking 295,918 18,144 18,336 332,398
Retail Banking 137,301 7,500 3,686 148,487
Total grossloans andreceivables 433,219 25,644 22,022 480,885

The stagelandstage 2 are performingloanshaving grades la - 4f while stage 3are non performingloans having grades 5a - 5d.

Corporate and Institutional Banking - Performingincludes AED 1,956 million (2023: AED 2,200 million) for exposure against watchlist

customers.

I. Amountsarising fromECL

Lifetime ECL Lifetime

not credit- ECL credit-
12-monthECL impaired impaired Total
31December2024 AED million AED million AED million AED million
Balance at1January 6,266 7,596 21,918 35,780
Transfersfromstagel (5622) 522 - -
Transfersfromstage 2 525 (1,187) 662 -
Transfersfromstage 3 - 296 (296) -
Allowances forimpairment made during the year (273) (962) 3,939 2,704
Write back /recoveries made during the year - - (3,108) (3,108)
Amountswritten off duringthe year - - (6,451) (6,451)
Exchange and otheradjustments (229) (42) (1,102) (1,373)
ClosingBalance 5,767 6,223 15,562 27,552

Lifetime ECL Lifetime

notcredit- ECLcredit-
12-month ECL impaired impaired Total
31December2023 AED million AED million AED million AED million
Balanceat1January 4,819 7,786 26,800 39,405
Transfersfromstagel (452) 361 91 -
Transfersfromstage 2 390 (2,360) 1,970 -
Transfersfromstage 3 16 71 (87) -
Allowances forimpairment made during the year 1,549 881 7,337 9,767
Write back /recoveries made during the year - - (5,301) (5,301)
Amountswritten off during the year - - (8,059) (8,059)
Exchange and otheradjustments (56) 857 (833) (32)
ClosingBalance 6,266 7,596 21,918 35,780

The contractualamount outstanding onloans andreceivables which were written off during the yearand are still subject to
enforcementactivity amounted to AED 6,451 million (2023: AED 8,059 million).
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J. Marketrisk

Marketriskis therisk that the value of financialinstrumentsin the Group’sbooks - with the inclusion of some otherfinancial assets
and liabilities could produce aloss because of changesin future market conditions.

The Group takes on Market Risksinthe pursuit of its strategic and business objectives.

The Group predominantly pursues opportunitiesinthe market that exposesitself to the following categories of market risk - which

are actively managed and monitored:

1. Interest Rate Risk:lossesinvalue due to changesinthelevel, slope and curvature of yield curves, the volatility of interest rates and
changesincreditspreads;

2. FXRisk:lossesinvalue duetoexposurestochangesinspotprices, forward prices and volatilities of currency rates;

3. Credit SpreadRisk: Lossesinthevalue due tochangeincredit spreadsdrivenby associated creditrisk of the securityissuer/
underlying;

4. Commodity Price Risk:lossesinvalue due to exposuresto changesinspot prices, forward prices and volatilities of commodities
suchas petrochemicals, base and precious metals, and food stocks.

Respective portfoliomanagers are accountable formanaging market risk within the approved limits. These managers have
extensive knowledge of markets and products, theirrisk exposures and of the financialinstruments available to hedge their
exposures.

The Group’srisk exposures to marketrisk are segregatedinto Trading and Banking Books. The Trading Book include those financial
instruments held withtradingintent arising from market-making, position-taking and other so designated financialinstruments
accounted forat fairvalue daily. The Banking Book includes financialinstruments not held with tradingintent that arise from the
management of Interest Rateriskand FXrisk from the Group’sretailand corporate andinstitutional banking assets and liabilities, and
otherfinancialinvestments designated as either FVOClor Amortised Cost.

Marketrisk oversightand management process

As part of the Group’s enterprise-wide risk management framework, an extensive governance processesis applied to the market

risk taking activities. This governance frameworkincludes, inter alia:

« ApprovalbytheBoardRisk Committee and Group Asset-Liability Committee of a set of risk limits with appropriate monitoring,
reporting andlimits excesses’ escalation procedures;

« Independentvaluation of financialinstrumentsinthe Trading Book and measurement of marketrisk;

« Acomprehensive set of policies, procedures andlimits; and

« Monitoringawiderange of risk metrics appropriate for the respective trading activities - such asrisk sensitivities, Gross and Net
openpositions, Value-at-Risk (VaR) and stop-losslimits.

The Group uses appropriate andindependently validated market standard models for the revaluation andrisk measurement of its
linearand non-linearfinancial products andreceivesregularmarketinformation fromindependent market data providersinorderto
measure and monitor marketrisk.

Details of allocation of assets and liabilities subject to marketrisk between tradingand non-trading portfolios are as follows:

Marketrisk measure
Trading NonTrading

Total Portfolio Portfolio
31December2024 AED million AED million AED million
Assets subject to market risk
Cashanddeposits with Central Banks 104,665 - 104,665
Due frombanks 132,766 - 132,766
Loansandreceivables 501,627 - 501,627
Investment securities 199,223 10,226 188,997
Positive fairvalue of derivatives 12,468 11,809 659
Liabilities subject to market risk
Duetobanks 55,487 - 55,487
Customerdeposits 666,777 - 666,777
Debtissued andotherborrowed funds 72,476 - 72,476
Sukuk payable 7,427 - 7,427
Negative fairvalue of derivatives 15,897 10,792 5,105
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Marketrisk measure

Trading NonTrading
Total Portfolio Portfolio
31December2023 AED million AED million AED million
Assets subject to marketrisk
Cashanddeposits with Central Banks 96,031 - 96,031
Duefrombanks 92,302 - 92,302
Loansandreceivables 445,105 - 445105
Investment securities 173,246 9,929 163,317
Positive fairvalue of derivatives 15,284 14,594 690
Liabilities subject to market risk
Duetobanks 40,321 - 40,321
Customerdeposits 584,561 - 584,561
Debtissuedandotherborrowed funds 66,116 - 66,116
Sukuk payable 4,673 - 4,673
Negative fairvalue of derivatives 17,389 12,790 4,599

Theimpact of sensitivity analysis on foreign exchange risk and equity price risk on the Group consolidated statement of income and
Group consolidated statement of comprehensive income isimmaterial.

The Group uses following metrics to measure marketrisk onanongoing basis:

1. Nonstatisticalmetrics: Interestrate sensitivity, (DVO1/PVOT1), FX sensitivity (FXO1), Net open/Net Gross outstanding positions,
Maximum notionalandtenormeasures, Derivatives’ Greek sensitivities (Delta, Gamma, Vega), and Stop Loss limits;

2. Statisticalmetrics: Value-at-Risk (VaR), by Desk as well as total forthe whole Trading Book. Stressed VaR (sVaR) for Trading Book
and Banking Book Investments.

The Groupis not significantly exposed to structural FXRisk - whichis acomponent of market risk - since the majority of the assetsand
liabilities of the Group are denominated predominately in either AED orin USD-pegged currencies from other GCC countries.

Value-at-Risk

To bettercapture the multi-dimensional aspects of marketrisk, the Group’s primary marketrisk metricis a statistical one, Value-at-
Risk, whichisusedforshort-termrisk holding periods. VaR metrics are calculated daily for the specific Trading Desk, such as Interest
Rate Desk VaR, Foreign Exchange Desk VaR and overall Trading Book VaR.

The Group’syear-endVaRnumbersreported below have been calculated using the following parameters:
« Statisticallevel of confidence: 99%

« Holding period: Tbusiness day

« Methodology: FullRevaluation, Historical Simulationusing over 2 years of historical market data

2024 2023
AED million AED million

Average Maximum Minimum Actual* Average Maximum Minimum Actual*
By Tradingdesk
Interestraterisk 25 44 1 13 14 28 5 14
Foreignexchangerisk 4 12 1 7 2 12 - 1
Credit tradingrisk 7 16 3 5 5 8 2 4
Total 23 41 1 15 14 26 7 14

* NotethatthesumofassetclassVaRmetricsdoesnotadduptothereported Total VaR metric due to diversificationand cross correlation effects.
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J. Marketrisk continued

Value-at-risk

Major currency-wise openpositions of the Group are as follows:

2024 2023

Long/(Short) Long/(Short)

AED million AED million

U.S.Dollar(USD) 6,778 11,482
OmaniRiyal (OMR) 12 21
Euro (EUR) (990) (496)
SaudiRiyal (SAR) (106) (1,095)
Turkish Lira (TRY) 704 (8)
EgyptianPound (EGP) (15) (218)
Bahraini Dinar (BHD) (3) (44)
Indian Rupee (INR) (86) m

K. Operationalrisk

Operational Riskis therisk of lossresultingfrominadequate orfailedinternal processes, people, systems, or from external events.
This definitionincludeslegalrisks (described as exposure to fines, penalties and punitive damages resulting from supervisory
actions, as wellas private settlements), regulatoryrisks, and therisk arising from change initiatives.

Operational Risk Governance Framework

The Group applies athreeline of defence modelforoperationalriskmanagement. The business and supportunits formthefirstline
of defence. They have the primaryresponsibility and accountability foridentifying operationalriskin theirareas and to promptly
mitigate anyissues.

Operational Risk function as the secondline of defence, provide consistent and standardised methods and tools to business
and support functions formanaging operationalrisk. The function monitors the risk management process and compliance to
the operationalrisk policies and procedures. It conductsindependent analysis of the operational risk exposure and the Group’s
mitigating strategies.

The Group’sInternal Audit department as the third line of defence, providesindependent assurance to the Board of Directors.

Operational Risk Management Process

The Group has setup the operational risk function within the risk management unit to establish the framework and governance
structure setoutinthe operationalrisk policy. Therisk management process comprises mainly of the below elements,

« Riskldentificationand Assessment

« RiskMonitoringand Review

e RiskTreatment

« RiskReporting

Thisfunctiondevelops andimplements the methods fortheidentification, assessment, measurement and monitoring of operational
risk throughout the Group and providesregularand comprehensive reporting on operationalrisks to seniorManagement. The
function supports business and othersupportunits to monitorand manage theirindividual operationalrisks.

Insurance Management

The Group obtains tailoredinsurance coverto protect the Group against unexpectedlosses. Insurance coveris obtained from high
ratedinsurance companiesintheinternationalreinsurance market. Therequirements forinsurance arereviewed annually and the
insurance coveris alignedto changes of the Group’srisk exposure.
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Fraud Management
The Boardand Management are determined to build and maintain a credible defence to the threat posed by fraud.

Inline with the evolving banking technologies and digitallandscape, Management hasrecognized the need for greater focus on anti-
fraud capabilities of the Group. As suchthe Group investsinadvanced systems and controls for the prevention of frauds perpetrated
against the Group andits customers. The Group hasincreased monitoring and enhanced detective controlsto manage fraudrisks,
which arise fromnew technologies and new methods of banking.

The Group has aspecializedteamwhich focuses oninvestigation of fraud attempts against the Group, spreading fraud awareness to
stakeholders, identificationand mitigation of fraudrisks.

The Group haspolicies and proceduresinplace to ensure compliance with prevailing legislation and to mitigaterisk, including the
risk of fraud.

Whistleblowing

The Groupis committed to the highest standards of openness, integrity and accountability in the delivery of its services. Whilst
the Group hasinstituted awiderange of rules, regulations, procedures and codes of practice to deliver onits commitments, fraud,
malpractice, abuse and/orwrongdoing may unfortunately occur.

Assuch, the Group ‘Whistleblowers Policy’, provides the platformto employees forreporting of malpractices. The policyis designed
toencourage employeestoreportsuspectedinternal fraud and otherbreaches, through specified channels, while safeguarding the
employee fromretribution.

Cyber Security Management
The Group considersinformationandrelated processes, systems, and networks asanimportantandvaluable asset. These assets
arerequiredto be protectedto ensure theirconfidentiality, availability andintegrity at all times.

The Group has established acomprehensive cybersecurity framework based onthreelines of defence model.
The framework ensures the Group isresilientto cybersecurity threatsinan evolving andincreasingly complex digital environment.

Business Continuity Management

Business Continuity Management (BCM)is defined asamanagement process thatidentifies potential threats to an organisationand
theimpactsto business operations that those threats, if realised, might cause. BCM provides a framework for building organisational
resilience with the capability foran effective response that safeguards the interests of its key stakeholders, reputation, brand and
value-creating activities.

The business continuity process across the Groupisbased ontheinternational standard1SO22301:2012 (E). The BRCisresponsible
forproviding oversight and strategy for Business Continuity Management. Business and support units are responsible to ensure
appropriate Business Continuity Plans areinplace and tested fortheirrespective areas. The effectiveness of the Business Continuity
Plansis monitoredindependently byrelevantrisk teams.

L. Liquidityrisk

Liquidity Riskrefers to theinability of the Group to fund anincreasein assetsand meet obligations as they become due (Structural
Funding Risk), ortheinability to convert assetsinto cash atreasonable prices (Market Liquidity Risk). Therisk arises frommismatches
inthe amountandtimings of cash flows.

Objectives and Governance structure

The objective of the Group’s liquidity and funding management frameworkis to ensure that all foreseeable funding commitments
(underbothnormaland stressed conditions) canbe metwhendue, and thataccess to the wholesale marketsis coordinated and cost
effective. To thisend, the Group maintains a diversified funding base comprising core retailand corporate customer deposits and
institutional balances. Thisisaugmented withwholesale funding and portfolios of highly liquid assets diversified by currency and
maturity which are held to enable the Group torespond quickly and smoothly to unforeseen liquidity requirements.
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45 RISKMANAGEMENT continued N. Analysis of financial liabilities by remaining contractual maturities

L. Liquidity risk continued The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities at 31December 2024 based on contractual

Policiesand Procedures undiscountedrepayment obligations.

Specifically, liquidity and fundingmanagement processincludes:

« projecting cashflowsundervarious stress scenarios and considering the level of liquid assets necessaryinrelation thereto; Repayments whichare subjecttonotice are treated asif notice was givenimmediately. However, the Group expects that many

« mis-matchanalysisbetweenassets and liabilities fordifferent periods with afocus onshortertime frames. These gap reportsare customerswillnotrequestrepaymentonthe earliest date, the Group could berequired to pay and the table does notreflect the
basedoncontractual cash flow, retentionand decay assumptions fornon-maturing assets and liabilities and potential liquidity expected cashflowsindicated by the Group’s depositretention history.
demand through undrawn commitments; Gross Over

« monitoringbalance sheetliquidity and advancesto depositsratios againstinternalandregulatory requirements; Carrying nominal Within 3 3months Overlyear Over3years

+ maintaininga diverse range of funding sources withback-up facilties A ACbun  ACmn  AESinon ASomiies ALSminon  SEpwinin

« managingthe concentrationand profile of debt maturities;

« maintaining debt financing plans; Financial liabilities

Lo . I . . P . Dueto banks 55,487 (58,608) (25,833) (18,946) (6,013) (5,698) (2,118)
. t t d t trat dert dund I | dividuald t d
:;?ir;:c::tr;grj C(;Jje?;]znjﬁqos%ir;igcen rationin orderto avoidunduereliance onlarge individual depositorsandensure a Customer deposits 666,777 (678.252) (556.905) (106 336) (8,298) (6.001) 712)
o y. L g ! . . ) . . o ) Debtissuedandotherborrowed funds 72,476 (85,345) (6,324) (17,787) (25,351) (16,225) (19,658)
« maintainingliquidity and funding contingency plans. These plansidentify early indicators of distress conditions and describe
. 1 e - , - i L Sukuk payable 7,427 (8,427) (34) (2,112) (3,302) (2,979) -
actionstobetakeninthe event of difficulties arising from systemic or other crisis, while minimising adverse long-term
implications for the business. 802,167 (830,632) (589,096)  (145,181) (42,964) (30,903)  (22,488)
Letters of creditand guarantees 97,146 (97,146) (37,199) (37,027) (15,378) (4,396) (3,146)
M. Maturity analysis of assets and liabilities Irrevocable loan commitments 95,414 (95,414) (39,551) (43,697) (11,989) (6) 171)
The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group’s assets andliabilities based on theircarrying value:
Gross Over
Within3 Over3months Overlyear Over3years Undated and Carrying nominal Within 3months Overlyear  Over3years
months tolyear to3years to5years Over5years Total amount outflows 3months tolyear to3years to5years  Over5years
31December2024 AED million AED million AED million AED million AED million AED million Asat31December2023 AED million AED million AED million AED million AED million AED million AED million
ASSETS Financial liabilities
Cashanddeposits with Centralbanks 102,814 1,851 - - - 104,665 Duetobanks 40,321 (42,262) (18,994) (19,353) (1,630) (175) (2,110)
Due frombanks 78,565 37,879 16,322 - = 132,766 Customerdeposits 584,561 (693,997)  (462,500) (104,651) (18,327) (3,484) (5,035)
Investment securities 36,183 60,056 34,438 26,460 42,086 199,223 Debtissued and otherborrowed funds 66,116 (78,151) (9,210) (12,936) (22,970) (14,681) (18,354)
Loansandreceivables 132,916 77,710 134,622 70,325 86,054 501,627 Sukuk payable 4,673 (4,950) (31 (93) (4,826) - -
Positive fairvalue of derivatives 1,570 1,365 3,900 2,040 3,593 12,468
Customer acceptances 9.478 - _ _ " 9,478 695,671 (719,360)  (490,735) (137,033) (47,753) (18,340) (25,499)
Property and equipment = = = = 7,941 7,941 Letters of creditand guarantees 81,608 (81,608) (29,285) (28,919) (11,037) (3,502) (8,865)
Goodwillandintangibles - - - - 5,626 5,626 Irrevocableloancommitments 66,018 (66,018) (23,712) (30,401) (11,888) - 17)
Otherassets 15,300 - - - 7,488 22,788
TOTAL ASSETS 376,826 178,861 189,282 98,825 152,788 996,582 O. Interestrateriskin the bankingbook
InterestRate Riskinthe Banking Book (IRRBB) is defined as the exposure of the non-trading products of the Group tointerest
LIABILITIES rates. Non-trading portfoliosinclude allbanking book positions that arise fromthe interestrate on the Group’sretailand corporate
Duetobanks 25,422 17,710 5,069 5,180 2,106 55,487 andinstitutionalbanking assets andliabilities, and financialinvestments designated as FVOCland amortised cost. IRRBB arises
Customer deposits 551,794 102,132 6,733 5,466 652 666,777 principally frommismatches betweenthe futureyields onassets and their funding costs, asaresult of interestrate changes.
Debtissuedandotherborrowedfunds 5,986 15,857 21,513 13,563 15,557 72,476
Sukuk payable - 1,836 2,837 2,754 - 7,427 Inorderto manage thisrisk optimally, IRRBBin non-trading portfoliosis transferred to Group Treasury under the supervision of the
Negative fairvalue of derivatives 1,507 1,576 3,700 2,275 6,839 15,897 Group ALCO, through Funds Transfer Pricing (FTP) Systems. Group ALCQO is required to regularly monitor all suchinterest rate risk
Customeracceptances 9,478 = = = = 9,478 positions to ensure they comply withinterest rate risk limits.
Otherliabilities 13,703 13,081 - - 16,042 42,826
Totalequity - - - - 126,214 126,214 Formeasuring overallinterest sensitivity in the banking book, the Group conducts stress tests by simulating parallel shifts to the yield
TOTALLIABILITIES AND EQUITY 607,890 152,192 39,852 29,238 167,410 996,582 curve(s)ranging from 50 basis points to 200 basis points, and assessing the corresponding impact onits Net InterestIncome.
OFF BALANCE SHEET Asat31 Asat31
Letters of creditand guarantees 37,199 37,027 15,378 4,396 3,146 97,146 December2024 December2023
Impact Impact
31December 2023 AED million AED million
ASSETS 339,929 149,682 133,226 82,444 157,492 862,773 RatesUp 200 bps 1,631 2,441
Rates Down 200 bps (3,594) (4N3)
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 504,445 142,119 47166 17,789 151,254 862,773
OFF BALANCE SHEETITEMS 29,285 28,919 1,037 3,502 8,865 81,608

Theinterestrate sensitivities setoutinthe table above are based onasetscenarioi.e. the projections above assume thatinterest
rates of allmaturities move by the same amount and, therefore, do notreflect the potential effect on netinterestincome of some
rates changingwhile othersremainunchanged. The projections are based on constant balance scenario, considerbehavioural
assumptions onnon-maturity products and also make the assumption that all positions run to maturity. This effect does not
incorporate actions that would be taken by Group Treasury orinthe business units to mitigate the impact of thisinterestraterisk. In
practice, Group Treasury seeks proactively to change the interest rate risk profile to minimise losses and optimise netrevenues.
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P. Interestraterepricing analysis

Over Over
Lessthan1 OverIlmonth 3months 6 months Non-interest
month to3months to 6 months tolyear Overlyear bearing Total

Asat 31December2024 AED million AED million AED million AED million AED million AED million AED million
ASSETS
Cashanddeposits with Central Banks 5,318 3,718 1,521 329 - 93,779 104,665
Due frombanks 72,666 29,354 11,491 10,031 1,362 7,862 132,766
Investment securities 16,916 26,081 40,515 22,653 91,611 1,447 199,223
Loansandreceivables 200,204 156,438 44,931 26,073 73,981 - 501,627
Positive fairvalue of derivatives - - - - - 12,468 12,468
Customeracceptances - - - - - 9,478 9,478
Propertyand equipment - - - - - 7,941 7,941
GoodwillandIntangibles - - - - - 5,626 5,626
Otherassets - - - - - 22,788 22,788
TOTAL ASSETS 295,104 215,591 98,458 59,086 166,954 161,389 996,582
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Duetobanks 23,302 7,538 5,445 9,294 3,084 6,824 55,487
Customerdeposits 249,874 66,403 51,747 46,710 7,508 244,535 666,777
Debtissuedandotherborrowed funds 17,019 13,108 5,903 4,109 32,337 - 72,476
Sukuk payable - - - 1,836 5,591 - 7,427
Negative fairvalue of derivatives - - - - - 15,897 15,897
Customeracceptances - - - - - 9,478 9,478
Otherliabilities - - - - - 42,826 42,826
Totalequity - - - - - 126,214 126,214
TOTALLIABILITIES AND EQUITY 290,195 87,049 63,095 61,949 48,520 445,774 996,582
ONBALANCE SHEET GAP 4,909 128,542 35,363 (2,863) 118,434 (284,385) -
OFF BALANCE SHEET GAP (29,954) (11,315) 33 7,663 32,226 - (1,347)
INTEREST RATE

SENSITIVITY GAP - 2024 (25,045) Nn7,227 35,396 4,800 150,660 (284,385) (1,347)
CUMULATIVEINTEREST RATE

SENSITIVITY GAP - 2024 (25,045) 92,182 127,578 132,378 283,038 (1,347) (1,347)

CUMULATIVEINTERESTRATE
SENSITIVITY GAP - 2023 1,804 88,268 132,025 128,759 248,685 - -

Representswhentheinterestrate willberepriced foreach class of assets andliabilities.

Q. Reputationalrisk

Reputationalriskis therisk of damage to a Group’sreputation as aresult of any event, arising from negative publicity aboutits
business practices, conduct, or financial condition. Such negative publicity may affect public or stakeholder confidenceinthe
Groupleadingtoadeclineincustomerbase, businessrevenue, liquidity, or capital position. Reputational Risk may also arise as a
result of negative stakeholder opinion. This could be aresult of any event, behaviour, action, orinaction, eitherby the Group’sitself,
ouremployees orthose withwhomwe are associated.

Reputationalrisk damage canoften arise from a secondary effect oroutcome of otherinterconnectedrisks, as defined within
the Group Risk Management Framework. As such, these additional risk categories when assessing reputational risks and their
measurement.

The Groups Reputational Risk policy is defined to ensure all organisational unitsidentify, measure, manage and monitorthe
reputationalrisks that arise fromthe ongoing operations of the Group duringits transactions with clients, settingup of new products
business practices, counterparties, customercomplaints and claims, sponsorship, and mediarelations. The governance of the
Group’sreputationalriskmanagementisintegratedinto the Group’s broaderrisk management framework.
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R. ICAAP and Stress Testing
ICAAP and stresstestingisanintegral part of the Group’s risk management process. Itincludes scenario analysis and is conducted
regularly. Every stresstestisdocumented, and theresults are discussed at the EXCO level and approved by the GRC and the BRC.

S. Modelrisk

Modelriskis therisk of potentialadverse consequences arising from decision made based onincorrect ormisused model outputs
andreports. Asthe Group has arobust modelgovernance and Management approach, potentiallosses arising from the outputs of
theinternalmodels due to errorsinthe development,implementation, oruse of such models are wellunderstood and managed.

Aspecialised modelmanagementunit withinthe Group oversees the validation and use of models forregulatory and/or financial
reporting purposes, guided by the Group Model Governance and Management Framework. This ensures that the models followa
robustapproach of validation priorto use. The governance process forthe modelsis performedacross the modellife cycle. All Tier
landTier2 models are managed throughacentralised Model Inventory Systemto trackand manage theiruse. The Group Model
Validation Standards outline the minimum requirements that models should meet prior to use.

T. Regulatory/compliancerisk
Regulatory/Complianceriskistherisk of reputationaland/or financiallosses due to the failure to comply with applicable laws,
regulations orsanctions.

The Group hasanindependent Compliance function, with the necessary mandate and authority to enforce and monitor compliance
ona Group wide basis. Thisincludes compliance with the applicable laws and regulations across the variousjurisdictions where the
Group operates aswellas those of the USD/EU clearing centres.

Compliance policies covering key areas such as Sanctions, AntiMoney Laundering (AML), Counter Terrorist Financing (CTF), Foreign
Account Tax Compliance Act (FATCA)and Common Reporting Standards (CRS) are applicable Group wide and are supplemented
where necessary toaddressany uniquelocalrequirements. These policies are supported by automated screening and monitoring
systemsand associatedinvestigationteams to help comply with the Sanctions, AML, CTF, FATCAand CRSrequirements.
Independent Compliance Monitoringisundertakento provide assurance over the effectiveness of controls. Mandatory Compliance
Trainingis providedto allrelevant staff both at onboarding and periodically thereafter to help ensure that key requirements are
compliedwith.

U. Environmental, socialand governance (ESG) risk

Therapidly changing globallandscape, marked by challenges such as climate change, the evolving expectations of our
stakeholders, aswellas acontinuous evolution of international standards, particularly in the areas of sustainability accounting, audit
and ethics necessitates aproactive approachto ESG. The Group continues to developitsapproachto ESGinline with progressing
standards, bothregionally and globally.

Climate relatedrisk

Climaterisksrelate to the financialand non-financialimpacts that may arise as aresult of climate change. There are two categories
of climaterisks: physicalrisks, asaresult of climate change and environmental factors that are event driven (acute) orlonger-term
shifts(chronic)and may varyinseverity and frequency across various scenarios, and transitionrisks, which arises from the shift to
alow carboneconomy. Managing climateriskis criticalinthe pursuit of sustainable growth and transitioning towards alow carbon
economy. Both, physicalandtransitionrisks can affect households, businesses and the widermacro economy and manifest within
the Group’s principalrisks in several ways.

The Group considers climaterisk as part of the broaderenvironmentaland social risks. Our strategy on climate riskhas been
incorporatedinto the Group RiskManagement Framework andis guided by the three-lines of defence approach.

The Group’s Board of Directors bears the final responsibility forallaspects concerning climate relatedrisks. The Board actively
participatesinshaping our ESG strategy andisregularly briefed onthe progress of this strategy by the Executive Committee.

Impact of climaterisk onaccounting judgments and estimates

The Groupis currently assessing the financialimpacts associated with climate-related creditrisk. Using the results of ongoing
analysis, the Group intends to highlight and addressrisks and opportunities which presentimmediate and anticipated effects
onfinancial position, performance and planning as well as cashflows and to disclose the actions taken to manage theserisks and
opportunities.

As at 31December2024, the Group raised debts and sukuks payable amountingto USD 4.6 billion (2023: USD 3.0 billion) via
sustainable and greenfinancingsin debt capital markets.
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V. Group Internal Audit’srole in overallrisk management

Group Internal Auditisanindependent appraisal function established by the Board of Directors to examine and evaluate the
activities of the Groupincluding all aspects of the Group Risk Management. The departmentis organisationally independent of all
otherfunctionsinthe bank. The unitisheaded by the Group Chief Audit Officer, whois accountable to the Board of Directors through
the Board Audit Committee.

The primary objectives of Group Internal Auditis to provide assurance onrisks towhich the Group’s businesses are exposed,
evaluate the adequacy and effectiveness of financial/operating controls and the Corporate Governance environment, assess the
extenttowhich assetsare accounted forand safeguarded fromlosses and conduct follow-up activitiesto assessandreportonthe
degreetowhichManagement has addressedrisks and compliance with action plans previously agreed.

The unit’'smissionis achieved through ariskbased annualaudit plan approvedby the Board Audit Committee. Aformalreportis
prepared at the end of each quarterwhichincludes asummary of audit activity completed during the period and anupdate onthe
status of previously reported matters forBoard Audit Committee attention.

The Board Audit Committee reviews and approves Group Internal Audit’s plans andresources and evaluates the effectiveness of
theInternal Audit function. Externaladvisers also periodically conduct an assessment of the function.

W Risk management framework and processes at Group entities
Inestablishingriskmanagementpolicies & processes at the Group entitieslevel, due considerationis givento the entities’ specific
regulatory environment.

X. RiskManagement at DenizBank
DenizBankhas astructuredrisk governance processinplace toidentify, measure, manage, controlandreport (risk) to assistin risk-
baseddecision-makingand oversight across all operations of DenizBank.

The Board of Directors have the ultimate responsibility for the establishment of the risk management system of DenizBankin
accordance withregulationsand best practices. Mainresponsibilities of the Board of Directorsrelated to risk managementinclude:
« Reviewingandapprovingthe policies forthe management of risks and supervising theirimplementation,

« Approvingtheriskappetite thatisappropriate foritsbusiness strategy and that matches withits financial strength,

« Followingup the effectiveness of theriskmanagement system of DenizBank,

« Ensuringtheestablishmentandtheimplementation of theinternal capitaladequacy assessment process.

The Board of Directors carries outits oversight of the Bank-wide risk management processes through Board Level committees.
Theserolesare furthertrickled downto Management Level Committees andrespective business andrisk control units.

ENBD Group oversees the processes of establishing DenizBank’s Risk Management Framework andrisk policies, monitoring of the
limits, realized figures and breaches of therisks subject to the Risk Appetite Statement. All of which govern followingrisk areas.

CreditRisk

The Group has added an additional layer of supervision overand above the creditrisk policiesinforce at DenizBank. This supervisory
layeris conditionalto exceptionalapprovals for substantial exposures. From areporting standpoint all exposures (irrespective of
materiality) are periodically reported to the Group by DenizBank forinternal alignment within the Group.

DenizBank complies withBRSA’'sand Baselll/lll standardsin determiningregulatory credit risk charge. Within the bank’sinternal
capitaladequacyassessmentplan, creditriskis subjected to stress tests and scenario analysis at least annually.

The quantitative risk management disclosures comply with TFRS (Turkish Financial Reporting Standards) that are aligned to the IFRS

(International Financial Reporting Standards) standards including IFRS 9 followed by the Group.

« Bothonandoffbalance sheetinstruments that are materialto TFRS/IFRS 9 expected creditloss calculation are consideredinthe
Group consolidated financial statements

« ModelsexistforPD,EADand LGD thathavelongterm calibrations and forward-looking scenarios to adjust foreconomic
assumptions

« Neworre-structured processes of TFRS/IFRS 9 are advanced and complexinnature in order to ensure high quality
implementation

« Estimations, assumptionsandscenariosusedinexpected creditlosses are fairly comprehensive

« Comprehensive and detailed disclosures are publishedinline with TFRS/IFRS 9 requirements
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Enterprise Risk Management

DenizBank specifiesits limit setting, monitoring andreporting processinitsrisk appetite statement. It alsoincludes the process
of phased actionplansand prescribestheremediationactionsincases where the exposure exceeds thelimitineach phase. The
documents encompassing these policies arereviewed every year, and are approved by the Board of Directors.

MarketRisk

Alltrading activitiesrelatedtomoney and capital markets areinaccordance with the internally recognised measure of Value at Risk
(VaR)method, whichisalsoused by the Group to gauge changing market conditions. These VaR analysis are adequately supported
by scenario analysis and stress tests. Trading bookis held forthe purpose of supporting client driven activities. Market riskis
managed inaccordance with Board of Directors approved limits.

Structural Interest Rate Risk and Foreign Exchange Risk

Interestrate and foreign exchange (FX) risks are monitored closely with the use of the metrics defined within the risk limit framework
and managedas pertherules defined by Board of Directors. DenizBank makes use of hedging transactions forrisk mitigation where
necessary.

Liquidity Risk

Liquidity adequacyis actively monitored as pertherules defined by Board of Directors. The liquidity adequacy and thereserve
opportunities are tested periodically against worst case scenarios and other scenarios, all of these assumptions are documented
fortraceability.

Operational Risk

Events that triggeroperationalrisks arerecorded along with the causes andimpacts on specific functions and mitigation measures
are takento preventtherecurrence of such eventsinthe future. Eventsthat are either frequent or significant are discussed within the
relevantcommittees thatinclude Internal Audit and theimpacted departments.

Therelevantriskteamswork to ensure comprehensive alignmentin differentrisk areas takinginto account the localand European
regulatoryrequirements. As part of this process policies and procedures are reviewed to ensure necessary alignment with Group.

46 LEGALPROCEEDINGS

Litigationisacommon occurrenceinthe bankingindustry due to the nature of the business undertaken. The Group s party tolegal
proceedings andregulatory matters arising out of itsnormal business operations. The Group has proper controls and policies for
managing legal claims. The recognition of provisionsis determinedinaccordance with the accounting policies set outin Note 6.
While the outcomes of legal proceedings and regulatory matters are inherently uncertain, Management believes that, based onthe
information available toit, appropriate provisions have been madeinrespect of these matters as at 31December2024. Any provision
recognised does not constitute anadmission of wrongdoing or legalliability. Based on the information available, no material adverse
impactonthefinancial position of the Groupis expectedto arise fromlegal claims as at 31December 2024 otherthan to the extent
already provided.

47 SOCIAL CONTRIBUTIONS
The social contributions (including donations and charity) made during the yearamount to AED 44 million (2023: AED 58 million).

48 COMPARATIVE AMOUNTS
Certainprioryearcomparatives have beenreclassified wherevernecessary to conformto the presentation adoptedinthe current
year.
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